
AGENDA 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission Regular Meeting 

Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport Board Room  
Monday, June 24, 2019 

9:00 a.m. 

*NOTE TO ALL PUBLIC ATTENDEES:

The public may speak on any item on the agenda. There are request cards located outside 
the public seating area.  These cards must be completed and presented to the Recording 
Secretary prior to the item being heard. Your comments will be addressed prior to the 
Airport Commission’s discussion and you will have 5 minutes to address the Airport 
Commission. Thank you for your attention. 

I. CALL TO ORDER: 

II. CONSENT AGENDA:

A. Approval of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission May 28, 2019 
Regular Meeting Minutes (document) 

III. PRESENTATIONS:

A. Annual Strategic Business Plan Update  (document) 
B. Proposed History Alcove in the Grand Hall (document) 

IV. OLD BUSINESS:  None

V. NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Appointment of a Member to the Airport Environs Planning Commission 
(document) 

B. Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport 
District Rules and Regulations (document) 

C. Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg 
Airport District Minimum Standards (document) 

D. Approval of Roadway and Utilities Project (document) 



GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION 
AGENDA Monday, June 24, 2019 
Page 2 

VI. PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT:

A. 2019 Air Cargo Europe Exhibition Update  
B. 2019 ACI-NA Concessions Program Awards 
C. 2019 American Society of Landscape Architects Recognition Award – General 

Design – Airside Garden 

VII. INFORMATION SECTION:
(Staff presentations will not be made on these items. Staff will be available to
address any questions the Commission may have.)

A. April 2019 – Traffic Report (document)
B. April 2019 – Financial Report (document)
C. May 2019 – Development/Project Status Report (document)
D. May 2019 – Communications Status Report (document)
E. May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report (document)
F. May 2019 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report (document)
G. Industry Presentation(s)/Article(s) of Interest (document)
H. Potential Items for the Next Regular Scheduled Commission Meeting:

• Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg
Airport District Administrative Policies and Procedures

• Approval of Revisions to the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Human
Resources Policies and Procedures

• Recognition of Airport Environs Planning Commission Member

• Appointment of a Member to the Airport Environs Planning Commission
• Final Rankings Air Service Development RFP
• Final Rankings Shoe Shine Service RFP
• Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission Meeting Dates/Times for

Calendar Year 2020

VIII. COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS:

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION:

The Airport Commission will hold an Executive Session for the purpose of 
receiving legal advice on personnel matters. 

X. ADDITIONAL BUSINESS: 

Proposed Approval of Employment Terms and Conditions for President/CEO 



 
GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION 
AGENDA Monday, June 24, 2019 
Page 3 

 

 
 

XI. ADJOURNMENT  
 
 
 

This agenda of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission is provided as a matter 
of convenience to the public. It is not the official agenda. Although every effort is made 
to provide complete and accurate information to this agenda, The Airport Commission 
does not warrant or guarantee its accuracy or completeness for any purpose. The 
agenda is subject to change before or at the Airport Commission meeting. 



GREENVILLE-SPARTANBURG AIRPORT COMMISSION 

MINUTES 

May 28, 2019 

The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission met on May 28, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. in the 
Greenville-Spartanburg District Office Board Room located at 500 Aviation Parkway Greer, South 
Carolina 29651. The public and media were given proper notice of this meeting, under 
applicable law. This was a regular, non-emergency meeting. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Minor Shaw, Hank Ramella, Bill Barnet, Leland Burch, Valerie Miller, and 
Doug Smith 

MEMBERS NOT PRESENT: None 

STAFF AND LEGAL COUNSEL PRESENT: David Edwards, President/CEO; Kevin Howell, 
Senior Vice President/COO; Basil Dosunmu, Senior Vice President-Administration and 
Finance/CFO; Scott Carr, Vice President Commercial Business and Communications (Environs 
Area Administrator); Kristie Weatherly, Director of Finance; Bobby Welborn, Police Chief; Tony 
Lohrman, Fire Chief; Dudley Brown, Public Relations Manager; Betty O. Temple, WBD; Stefanie 
Hyder, Executive Assistant/Recording Secretary 

GUESTS PRESENT: John Mafera, McFarland Johnson; Alex Chambers, Student 

CALL TO ORDER:  Chair Minor Shaw called the meeting to order at 9:08 a.m. 

CONSENT AGENDA: A motion was made, seconded, and unanimous vote received to approve 
the Consent Agenda as follows: 

A. The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission March 25, 2019 Regular Meeting 
Minutes. 

B. The Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission Audit Committee April 29, 2019 Meeting 
Minutes 

C. Approval of Final Rankings for External Financial Audit Services 

PRESENTATIONS: 

A. Recognition of Mr. Basil Dosunmu - Leadership Greenville Class 45 Graduate - May 16, 
2019 

Mr. Edwards recognized Mr. Basil Dosunmu, Senior Vice President Administration and 
Finance/CFO, for his recent completion of the Leadership Greenville Class of 45 program 
approximately two weeks ago. The Commission extended their appreciation for Mr. 
Dosunmu’s participation in that program. 

Mr. Edwards noted the positive feedback from Greenville Chamber Staff and Mr. 
Dosunmu’ s involvement in both Leadership Greenville and the Chamber’s Finance 
Committee. 



B. Air Service Development – Passenger Leakage Statistics Update 

As a follow-up to the request of the Commission, Mr. Scott Carr, Vice President, 

Commercial Business and Communications, presented a passenger leakage statistics 

update. The GSP primary catchment area has a population of 2.3 million. GSP is able to 

pull a significant amount of traffic throughout the GSP primary catchment area. 

On the domestic side, in markets without GSP non-stop service, passengers utilize GSP 

40% of the time. In markets with GSP non-stop service, passengers utilize GSP 50% of 

the time. GSP’s domestic leakage is 46% to Charlotte followed by 31% to Atlanta. GSP’s 

international leakage is 44% to Charlotte followed by 43% to Atlanta.  

Mr. Carr reviewed the top 15 GSP domestic markets and compared the passengers daily 

each way (PDEW) from 2017 to 2018. Mr. Carr also reviewed the domestic markets by 

carrier. Mr. Carr then reviewed the top 15 unserved domestic markets including Boston, 

LA Basin, and the Bay Area. 

The Commission inquired about the timing of the study to which Mr. Carr responded 

that the study captured second half of Calendar Year 2018. Mr. Edwards also noted the 

data lag in the information that comes from DOT.   

Mr. Carr provided an overview of the top 15 GSP international markets noting a 

decrease in leakage in nine of those markets.  Mr. Carr reviewed the international 

markets by carrier. 

The Commission inquired about data regarding international markets as well as sources 

of data to which Mr. Carr responded.  

Mr. Edwards commented on the leakage map. In the future, Staff would like to provide 

another update with more of a condensed primary catchment area versus an expanded 

catchment area. The leakage study conducted in 2009 and 2012 provided more of a 

condensed catchment area than what was reviewed today. The Commission asked about 

Asheville capture of the market to which Mr. Edwards responded.  

OLD BUSINESS: None 

NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Approval of Fiscal Year 2019-2020 Airport District Budget 

Mr. Basil Dosunmu, Senior Vice President Administration and Finance/CFO, presented to 

the Commission the FY 2019-2020 Airport District Budget.   



Mr. Dosunmu presented financial history and general statistics. Between 1963 and 2018, 

GSP has experienced an average annual growth rate of 4.9%. Enplanements in FY 2018 

were 1.1 million. In FY 2019, enplanements are trending at 1,228,500. In FY 2020, the 

forecast for enplanements is 1,253,000.  

Mr. Dosunmu discussed the proposed FY 2019/2020 O&M Budget. The operating 

revenue budget is expected to increase to $48,892,500, a $8.1M or a 19.9% increase 
over FYE 6-30-2019. Factors contributing to the increase include space and ground 

rentals, auto parking, concessions, other income, and fuel sales.  

The operating expenses budget is expected to increase to $30,703,600, a $3.3M or a 

12.1% increase over FYE 6-30-2019. Factors contributing to the increase include 

personnel and benefit costs to include a performance pay program, professional services, 

administrative expenses, and contractual services. 

The projected net operating income for FY 2019/2020 is $18.2M compared to FY 

2018/2019 budget of $13.4M. 

Mr. Dosunmu provided the rates and charges overview. For FY 2019/2020, the cost per 

enplaned passenger (CPE) is projected at $6.54. The terminal building rental rate per 

square foot for FY 2020 is $40.86 and the landing fee per 1,000 pounds is $1.49. The 

Commission inquired about CPE costs and expenses related to Southwest and United 

Airlines to which Mr. Dosunmu and Mr. Edwards responded. The driving force for the 

increase in revenue is the increase in the numbers of turns rather than the cost per turn. 

Mr. Dosunmu highlighted the O&M budget assumptions in the proposed FY 2019/2020 

budget. Assumptions include passenger enplanements of 1,253,000, an increase in 

terminal maintenance costs, an increase in FBO operations, an expansion of Senator and 

associated long haul cargo operations, recruitment of personnel, an increase in space to 

support air cargo operations, implementation of a performance pay program, and an 

increase in the Economy Parking rate from $6/day to $7/day. Mr. Dosunmu noted that 

there has been no change in investment policy but continues see an uptake in yield with 

an average this year of 1.9%. The last assumption is the implementation of $4.50 

passenger facility charge program.  

Mr. Dosunmu reviewed sources of revenue as well as operating expenses by category and 

then presented the proposed FY 2019/2020 Capital Budget. Capital projects approved in 

prior fiscal years and carried forward into FYE 6-30-2020 total $44,671,834. The new 

proposed capital budget, including capital improvements, equipment and small capital 

outlays, renewal and replacement and professional service projects, is $27,034,150. The 

Commission inquired about the list of capital budget items to which Mr. Edwards 

responded.  



 

 

Mr. Dosunmu stated that the Other O&M Reserve Funds provisional budget includes 

$750,000 for emergency repair/replacement/operations funds and $1,000,000 for 

business development/agreement obligations and incentives. 

Mr. Dosunmu reviewed the Land Development and Cerulean Profit and Loss (P&L) 

statements. 

Mr. Dosunmu concluded the budget presentation with discussion related to the FY 

2019/2020 budget/investment plan, the historical and projected investment plan, the Line 

of Credit, and the 5-year fund balance financial forecast.  

The Commission inquired about income and expenses associated with the third parking 

garage to which both Mr. Dosunmu and Mr. Edwards responded. The Commission further 

inquired about the landscape plan, Valet Parking, performance bonus program metrics, 

and the passenger facility charge program to which Mr. Edwards, Mr. Howell, and Mr. 

Dosunmu responded.  

There was a motion to resolve to adopt the Fiscal Year 2019/2020 Budget. The motion 

was seconded and unanimously approved.  

B. Approval to Implement a Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Program 

Mr. Basil Dosunmu, Senior Vice President Administration and Finance/CFO, presented to 

the Commission the approval to implement a Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) program.  

At the Commission meeting held on November 19, 2018, the Commission adopted the 

final Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) Master Plan presented by 

McFarland Johnson. The Airport Master Plan includes projects and associated costs for 

Phase I (0-5 years - $153.6 million). The Airport Master Plan assumed PFC funding for 

airport infrastructure improvement projects. In five years, $20.4 million in non-operating 

revenues will be generated from the PFC program if it is implemented at a $4.50 level. 

Airports use these fees to fund FAA-approved projects that enhance safety, security, and 

capacity at the airport.  

Staff has identified projects totaling $52,254,994 over the next five years of which 

$20,378,025 would be PFC eligible.  

Mr. Dosunmu indicated that the Airport District would be responsible to notify air carriers 

that operate at GSP the Intent to Impose and Use PFC, issue a public notice of GSP Intent 

to Impose and Use PFC, and consult with the air carriers the Intent to Impose and Use 

PFC revenue and review the listing of projects.  

There was a motion to (1) approve the implementation of a Passenger Facility Charge 

(PFC) Program at a $4.50 level; and (2) authorize the President/CEO to execute all 

necessary documents. The motion was seconded and unanimously approved. 



 

 

In response to the Commission’s request to keep them informed of the process, Mr. 

Edwards anticipates implementation of the program by January 2020.  

C. Approval of a Budget Amendment for the Cargo Apron Project  

Mr. Kevin Howell, Senior Vice President/COO, presented the budget amendment for the 

cargo apron project.  

The Cargo Apron Project designed by WK Dickson and currently under construction with 

McCarthy Improvement (MCI) includes the construction of a new cargo apron and 

associated connector taxiway to serve the new Air Cargo facility currently under 

construction by Haskell.  

The original construction phase budget for the project of $16,636,704.48 was approved 

on March 19, 2018. A budget amendment was later approved on September 10, 2018 

increasing the construction phase budget by $1,610,145.32.  

The current approved project budget is $18,246,849.80 and is partially funded with a 

combination of AIP entitlement and discretionary funds under two AIP grant agreements 

totaling $17,531,885. The current District share is $714,964.80. The Commission 

inquired about the additional project costs to which Mr. Howell responded. 

Based on the mediation settlement, extended CA/RPR services and projections of 

various quantity overruns and remaining additional project costs including rock 

excavation, etc., the project team estimates $1,194,620 of costs over the currently 

approved construction phase budget. A 5% contingency brings the necessary budget 

amendment to an increase of $1,250,000.00. 

The cost overruns and extended CA/RPR services are considered AIP eligible and the 

District will be applying for a grant amendment to cover 90% of these costs upon close 

out of the cargo apron project. If the additional costs are covered at 90% with AIP 

funds, the District’s share would be approximately $125,000.    

There was a motion to (1) approve a project budget increase of $1,250,000 for the 

Cargo Apron Project; and (2) authorize the President/CEO to execute all necessary 

documents. The motion was seconded and unanimously approved. 

PRESIDENT/CEO REPORT:  

Aviation Industry Update:  
The Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) continues to remain a topic of discussion. 
 
Airlines continue to be profitable. Discussions related to the grounding of the 737 Max’s 
and their impacts are ongoing. GSP has not experienced any direct impacts.   
 
 

 



State Legislative Issues Update: 
The Guide Dog/Emotional Support Animal (ESA) Bill passed through the Legislature this 
year and was signed by the Governor. This provides the District the ability to set 
regulations as it relates to guide dogs as well as Emotional Support Animals in the 
airport terminal. The District had support from both Senator Talley and Senator 
Campbell on the Bill. The Bill does impose civil penalties related to violations of the Bill’s 
provisions.  

Additionally, Mr. Edwards drafted a Bill seeking changes to the alcohol laws to address 
the sale of alcohol in the terminal facilities. While the Bill was not introduced this past 
legislative session, Senator Campbell has indicated that he will prefile the Bill in the fall 
for next session.   

New Air Traffic Control Tower Update: 
Mr. Edwards, Mr. Howell, and Mr. Kossover were in New Jersey last week attending a 
three-day session with the FAA regarding site locations for a new air traffic control 
tower. Three preferred sites were determined. GSP Air Traffic Control Tower Staff were 
also at the meeting. A cost-benefit analysis on those three sites will be conducted. The 
FAA has scheduled AFTIL 2 for the first week in November.  

TSA Certificate of Appreciation: 
Mr. Edwards noted that the Airport District received a Certificate of Appreciation from 
TSA for the District’s efforts during the government closure.  

Concessions Awards: 
At the last Commission meeting, Mr. Scott Carr briefed the Commission on the District’s 
recent concessions awards. Mr. Edwards noted that he will be traveling to an ACI 
Conference in Scottsdale in a couple of weeks to accept another award on behalf of GSP 
Airport District.  

COMMISSIONER’S REPORT: 

In response to Mr. Barnet, Mr. Edwards stated that he addressed the Victor Hill Road 
closure email and responded on behalf of the Chair. Mr. Carr indicated that Staff is 
waiting on a traffic study and for the City of Greer to schedule the hearings.  

Four GSP Commissioners attended the ACI-NA/AAAE Airport Board and Commissioner’s 
Conference in San Francisco May 6-8, 2019. Mr. Burch commented on PFC legislation 
and FAA land management. Mrs. Miller commented on the PFC as well. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

There being no further business, a motion was made, seconded, and carried to go into 
Executive Session at 10:47 a.m. for the purpose of discussing a contractual matter.  

ADJOURNMENT: 



At approximately 12:22 p.m., public session resumed with no action being taken in 
Executive Session. 

The meeting was adjourned at approximately 12:23. The next meeting is scheduled for 
June 24, 2019 at 9:00 a.m. 

SIGNATURE OF PREPARER: 

________________________________________ 
Stefanie Hyder 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: David Edwards, President/CEO 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Presentation Item A 
 
Annual Strategic Business Plan Update 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In November 2014, the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission (Commission) 
adopted a 6-year Strategic Business Plan for the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 
(District).  As a part of the 6-year Strategic Business Plan, annual performance metrics 
were adopted to ensure that the Commission and Staff were able to measure the 
performance of the District on an ongoing basis. 
 
Dr. Steve Van Beek from SDG will provide a presentation to the Commission recapping 
the performance results for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 and updating the performance 
measures for Fiscal Year 2019-2020.  Dr. Van Beek will also provide a general update 
on the current status of the aviation industry. 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM:  Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Communications 
 
DATE:  June 24, 2019 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – PRESENTATION ITEM B 
 
Proposed History Alcove in the Grand Hall  
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Through the completion of the Wingspan terminal building renovation project, the 
Grand Hall has two approximately 400 square foot alcoves located at the north and 
south ends of this public space.   
 
As a part of the design process for Wingspan, the Airport Commission had identified the 
northern alcove for an exhibit area outlining the rich history of the Airport.  This is 
located adjacent to the MAG Escape Lounge. 
 
Airport District Staff has contracted with Jack Porter of Greenville to develop schematic 
design of this history exhibit.  Staff will present various design concepts that have been 
developed for the alcove. 
 
The intent of this presentation is to gain feedback and ultimately direction from the 
Airport Commission so that Staff can work with Jack Porter to finalize a single design 
concept. 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & 

Communications 
 
DATE:  June 24, 2019 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – New Business Item A 
 
Appointment of a Member to the Airport Environs Planning Commission 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Airport Environs Planning Commission is made up of nine Board Members, two 
from Spartanburg County, two from Greenville County, two from the City of Greer, two 
appointed from the Airport Commission, and one from the Town of Duncan.  Members 
are appointed for two-year terms. 
 
ISSUES 
 
The Airport Commission is responsible for appointing two Board Members to the Airport 
Environs Planning Commission.  Of these two appointments, one member is required to 
be from Greenville County and the other member from Spartanburg County.   
 
Historically, one of these two members has been a member of the Airport Commission.  
At the Airport Commission meeting on May 8, 2017, Mr. Hank Ramella, who resides in 
Spartanburg County, was reappointed for another two-year term. 
 
His term, however, is set to expire on June 30, 2019.  Therefore, the Airport 
Commission needs to reappoint Mr. Ramella to the Airport Environs Planning 
Commission. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Airport Commission could decide to appoint another individual from Spartanburg 
County to the Airport Environs Planning Commission. 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Greenville: 864.877.7426 ● Spartanburg:  864.439.4476 ● Fax:  864.848.6225 

www.gspaiport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item A 
Appointment of a Member to the Airport Environs Planning Commission 
Page 2 

  

FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION  
 
It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to reappoint Mr. Hank 
Ramella to the Airport Environs Planning Commission. 

 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin Howell, Senior VP/COO 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
____________________________________________________________ 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item B 
 
Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 
Rules and Regulations  
 
BACKGROUND   
 
South Carolina Code of Laws, Title 55 – Aeronautics, Chapter 11, Article 3 created the 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (District) and empowers the District to create 
and enforce certain rules and regulations. The purpose of the Greenville-Spartanburg 
International Airport (GSP) Rules and Regulations document (Rules and Regs) is to 
establish guidelines for the safe and efficient operation of the Airport and associated 
property owned by the District.    
 
ISSUES  
 
From time to time, Staff reviews and recommends changes to the Rules and Regs to 
address new issues, update facility changes, maintain compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations and to clarify policy.  
 
The current Rules and Regs have been reviewed by District Executives and appropriate 
Directors/Managers to secure input for the proposed revisions.  
 
Attached are the following documents: 

• A summary matrix of the proposed substantive changes by Section #.  
• A redlined copy of each Section with substantive changes. 
• A clean copy of each Section with substantive changes. 

 
In addition, minor grammatical revisions have been made to various Sections, which are 
not included, as they do not represent a substantive change in the intent of the Rules 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item B 
Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 
Rules and Regulations  
Page 2 
 

and Regulations. 
 
ALTERNATIVES  
 
No alternatives are recommended at this time.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT  
 
There is no direct financial impact from the recommended changes.   
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION  
 
It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to readopt the 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District Rules and Regulations with the proposed 
substantive revisions as outlined in the attached documents.  
 
 
Attachments 
 



 Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 

Rules and Regulations  

Change Summary Matrix 

June 24, 2019 

 

Section Subject Comments 

1 
 

Definitions • Additional definitions related to Service Animals and 
Emotional Support Animals 

 

2 General Information • Clarified violations of the Rules and Regulations may 
result in citations triable in Magistrate Court 

 

3 
 

Commercial Activity • Clarifications of intent for certificated part 121 air 
carriers to provide prior notification and required 
documents 

• Added stormwater and oil pollution prevention 
requirements 

• Added fire prevention and inspection requirements 

4 Designated & 
Restricted Areas 

• Changes related to new cargo apron and new 
designations 

• Updated weight limit restrictions and pavement 
classification numbers 

5 Aircraft Operations • Updates related to unmanned aircraft systems (UAS) 
based on current FAA regulations and guidance 

• Clarified engine run up coordination with airport 
operations 

• Changes related to taxiing and tugging aircraft based 
on FAA regulations 

• Modified “reasonable” to “applicable” fees for FBO 
based on changes related to District owned/operated 
FBO 

6 Movement & Non-
Movement Area 
Operations 

• Updates to authorized driver and authorized vehicle 
requirement 

• Added right of way for fueling trucks 
 

7 Motor Vehicle & 
Traffic Rules 

• Added rules related to the Cell Phone Parking Lot  

9 Conduct of the Public • Additions and clarifications related to firearms 
• Added ability to confiscate firearms as allowed by state 

laws 
• Clarifications on sale of alcoholic beverages 
• Addition of rules related to smoking and the use of 

smokeless tobacco 
• Addition of rules related to service animals and animals 

not recognized by ADA 

 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 1 – Definitions 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 2 
 

Electronic Cigarette – A device containing a nicotine-based or other liquid that is 
vaporized and inhaled, simulating the experience of smoking tobacco. 
 
Emotional Support Animal – Animals that provide comfort or emotional support 
but are not trained to work or perform tasks.  
 
Employee Parking Lot – The designated area where employees of the District; 
tenants; the Federal Aviation Administration; and all those permitted by the 
President/CEO, or his designee, may leave their vehicles while at the Airport for 
the purposes of employment on the Airport. 
 
Federal Aviation Regulations (FAR’s) – Rules prescribed by the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) governing all aviation activities in the United States. 
 

Foreign Object Debris (FOD) –  Any object, live or not, located in an 
inappropriate location in the airport environment that has the capacity to injure 
airport or airline personnel and damage aircraft. 
 
Fuel Storage Area – Any area designated by the District, where aviation fuel, 
automobile fuel, jet fuel, or any other type of fuel may be stored. 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (District) – Areas within the counties of 
Greenville and Spartanburg constituted as an airport district and political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina. 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) - Areas of land or water that 
are used or intended to be used for the landing and takeoff of aircraft, and 
includes its buildings, facilities, and land holdings. 
 
Loading Zone – Any area reserved for the exclusive use of vehicles while actually 
engaged in loading or unloading freight, mail, baggage and supplies. 
 
Movement Area – The runways, taxiways and other areas of the Airport that are 
used for taxiing, takeoff and landing of aircraft, exclusive of loading ramps and 
aircraft parking areas controlled by the ATCT. 
 
Non-Movement Area – Taxiways and apron (ramp) areas not under control of the 
Air Traffic Control Tower. 
 
Non-Tenant Business – A business granted permission via a Non-Tenant 
Agreement to operate at the Airport but does not have a concession contract or 
lease granting the privilege of having offices or other facilities at the Airport from 
which to conduct business, unless specified in the individual non-tenant 
agreement. 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 1 – Definitions 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 3 
 

 
Passenger Loading Zone – Areas reserved for the exclusive use of vehicles while 
actually engaged in loading or unloading passengers and baggage. 
 
Permission – The right or ability granted by the President/CEO, or their designee. 
Permission, whenever required by these rules and regulations, shall always mean 
written permission, unless the obtaining of written permission would not be 
practical. 
 
Person – Any individual, firm, partnership, co-partnership, corporation, trust, 
association or company (including any assignee, receiver, trustee, or similar 
representatives thereof) or the United States of America, any State or political 
subdivision thereof, any foreign government, or the United Nations. 
 
Public Vehicular Parking Area – Any portion of the Airport designated and made 
available, temporarily or permanently, by the District for the public parking of 
vehicles. 
 
Security Identification Display Area (SIDA) – The portion of an airport, specified 
in the Airport Security Program, in which security measures specified in Title 49 
of the Code of Federal Regulations are carried out. This area includes the 
secured area and may include other areas of the Airport. 
 
Service Animal - An animal as defined by ADA, that is individually trained to do 
work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability, including a 
physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. Other 
species of animals, whether wild or domestic, trained or untrained, are not 
considered service animals. The prime deterrent effects of an animal’s presence 
and the provision of emotional support, well-being, comfort, or companionship 
are not considered work or tasks under the definition of a service animal. 
 
Shuttle – A motor vehicle that travels regularly between two places. 
 
Skycap – Any person under contract with airlines serving the Airport to accept 
baggage curbside from departing passengers and assist those arriving, accepting 
gratuities for their services. 
 
Taxicab – A vehicle operated for compensation, including any kind of donation, 
which receives passengers to be driven to another destination. This includes any 
for hire service summoned on any mobile or online application service or 
company. 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 2 – General Information 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 6 
 

 
and in the Office of the Secretary of State in accordance with Chapter 23, 
Title 1.  
 
The Commission is authorized to employ police officers commissioned by the 
Governor to enforce all laws and the rules and regulations authorized in this 
section, and these officers shall be authorized to issue summonses for 
violations in the manner authorized for state highway patrolmen. Violations 
of a law, a rule, or regulation of the Commission within the jurisdiction of the 
Circuit Court of Spartanburg shall be tried in that court. Violations not within 
the jurisdiction of that court shall be tried by any magistrate or other court 
of competent jurisdiction. A person who willfully or intentionally violates the 
rules and regulations of the Commission is guilty of a misdemeanor, and 
upon conviction, must be fined not more than two hundred dollars, or as 
otherwise provided by law, or be imprisoned for not more than thirty days. 
 

2.4 Liability 

The District, its agents or employees assumes no responsibility or liability for 
loss, injury or damage to persons or property on the Airport or using Airport 
facilities, by reason of fire, theft, vandalism, wind, flood, earthquake or 
collision damage, nor does it assume any liability by reason of injury to 
persons or property while using the facilities of the District.  
 

2.5 Penalties 
 

Violations of the Rules and Regulations may result in a citation triable in 
Magistrate Court. 

 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 9 
 

 
3.10 Use or Occupancy of Airport Operations Area (AOA) 
 

No person shall use or occupy an Airport operations area unless the activity is in 
conjunction with: servicing of tenants, concessionaires, airlines, activities 
associated with airlines, governmental agencies, or a purpose connected with the 
maintenance and operation of the Airport. 
 

3.11 Authority to Deny Use 
 
 The President/CEO or their designee may deny the use of the Airport to any 

aircraft, or pilot or personnel violating District or FAA regulations, whether the 
violation occurred at this Airport or another. 

 
3.12 Use of Airport as Base 
 
 The basing and operation of personnel and company owned aircraft at the 

Airport will be by written agreement with the District or Fixed Base Operator. If 
such aircraft are used for hire or other commercial purposes all applicable 
permits and fees must be paid to the District. 

 
3.13 Supplemental Certificated Part 121 Air Carrier 
 

a. Any supplemental certificated part 121 air carrier wishing to enplane or deplane 
passengers or cargo must notify the President/CEO, or their designee no less 
than 24 hours prior to arrival. Information required includes: 

 
(1) Company operating the flight 
(2) Type and registration number of aircraft 
(3) Estimated time of arrival and departure to and from GSP 
(4) Destination from GSP 
(5) Number of passengers and their organization 

(6) Insurance certificate 

Unless a contract or lease with the District is in place, the current schedule of 
fees shall apply. 
 

3.14 Ground Transportation 
 

a. No individual or entity, other than authorized concessionaires, may operate any 
taxicab, shuttle, courtesy vehicle, bus, personal vehicle, or rental car for the 
purpose of carrying passengers for hire from the Airport unless such operation is 
with the approval of the President/CEO, or their designee and under such terms 
and conditions as prescribed by the District. 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 10 
 

 
b. All individuals, partnerships, LLC or corporations operating for hire and courtesy 

vehicle services must have a Non-Tenant Business Permit or be under contract 
with the District.  

 
i. Operators of for hire and courtesy vehicles without a Non-Tenant Business 

Permit or contract from the District may unload passengers who made prior 
arrangements. Operators of these vehicles may not solicit business or load 
passengers even if prior arrangements were made. 

 
ii. Operators with a Non-Tenant Business Permit may not cruise or solicit 

business from Airport property but may load passengers, if prior arrangements 
were made. 

 
c. All for hire vehicles must hold a Class C – Certificate of Public Conveyance and 

Necessity issued by the South Carolina Public Service Commission. 
 
d. All permittees shall abide by all federal and state laws as well as all Airport Rules 

and Regulations. 
 
e. Operators must be clearly identifiable to the public as employees of the non-

tenant operator. 
 
f. Vehicles will park or stand in designated areas to wait for arriving passengers. 

Non-tenant vehicles may pull to the front curb to actively load/unload only. 
 

3.15 Penalties 
 

Violations of Section 3.14 may result in a citation triable in Magistrate Court and/or 
paying permit and pickup fees. 

 
 
3.16 Stormwater and Oil Pollution Prevention 
 
 Any airport tenants, including air passenger or cargo companies, Fixed Based 

Operators (FBOs), and other parties who routinely perform industrial activities, to 
include servicing aircraft lavatories, on airport property must comply with the 
Airport District Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). 

 
 Any user and/or operator at the airport of facilities that could possibly discharge oil 

in harmful quantities must comply with the Airport District Spill Prevention Control 
and Countermeasure Plan (SPCC). All spills must be reported to the Airport 
Operations Center and cleaned-up by the agency responsible for creating the spill. 

 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 11 
 

 
3.167 Fire Prevention and Inspections 
 

a. The most recent edition of the International Building Codes adopted by the 
South Carolina Buildings Code Council, with revisions, is hereby adopted by the 
District for the purpose of: 

i. Facilitating proper inspection activities relating to the construction and 
maintenance of buildings within the District and relating to public safety, 
health, and general welfare. 

ii. Regulating and governing the safeguarding of life and property from fire 
and explosion hazards arising from storage, handling, and use of 
hazardous substances, material and devices, and from conditions 
hazardous to life or property. 

b. c. The most recent edition of the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA), 
with revisions, is hereby adopted by the District for the purpose of proper fire 
safety procedures relating to the protection of persons, aircraft, and property. 

 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 4 – Designated & Restricted Areas 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 12 
 

 
Section 4 – Designated & Restricted Areas 

 
4.1 Itinerant Ramp 
 

The Itinerant Ramp is for the parking and storing of aircraft; servicing aircraft 
with fuel, lubricants, and other supplies; and making minor or emergency repairs 
to aircraft. Use of the Itinerant Ramp shall be prior coordinated with Airport 
Operations. A ramp use fee may be charged by the District. 
 

4.2 Fixed Base Operator Ramp 

The FBO Ramp is for the loading and unloading of passengers, cargo, and 
supplies to or from aircraft; servicing aircraft with fuel, lubricants, and supplies; 
and for the parking of equipment actively used in connection with such 
operations. Use of the FBO Ramp shall be prior coordinated with the FBO.  

 
4.3 Passenger Ramp 
 

The Passenger Ramp is for the loading and unloading of passengers, cargo, mail, 
and supplies to and from aircraft; servicing aircraft with fuel, lubricants, and 
supplies; and for the parking of equipment actively used in connection with such 
operations. The Passenger Ramp shall be prior coordinated with Airport 
Operations. 
 

4.4 South South Cargo Ramp (L2) 
 

The South Cargo Ramp is for the loading and unloading of passengers when a 
gate is not available, the unloading of commercial international passengers into 
the U.S. Customs – Federal Inspection Services facility unloading and loading 
cargo, servicing aircraft with fuel, lubricants, and supplies, and the temporary 
parking of diverted aircraft. The South Cargo Ramp shall be prior coordinated 
with Airport Operations. 
 

4.5 Center Cargo Ramp (L8) 
 

The Center Cargo Ramp is for the loading and unloading of cargo, domestic and 
international, and occasional processing of passengers; servicing aircraft with 
fuel, lubricants, and supplies and the temporary parking of diverted aircraft. The 
Center Cargo Ramp shall be prior coordinated with Cerulean Commercial 
Aviation. 
 

 
4.65 North  North Cargo Ramp (L9) 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"



Rules and Regulations 
Section 4 – Designated & Restricted Areas 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 13 
 

 
The North The North Cargo Ramp is for the loading and unloading of passengers 
and cargo, the inspection of private international aircraft and passengers 
entering into the U.S. Customs – Federal Inspection Services facility, servicing 
aircraft with fuel, lubricants, and supplies, and the temporary parking of diverted 
aircraft. The North Cargo Ramp shall be prior coordinated with Airport 
Operations. 

 
4.6 7 Restricted Areas 
 

a. All areas of the Airport are restricted except those areas open to the public. 
No person shall enter upon a runway, taxiway, ramp, airline office, 
concourse, aircraft hangar, cargo facility, Air Traffic Control Tower, or 
through an aircraft boarding door except: 

  
(1) Authorized, badged employees of the Airport 
(2) Authorized employees of the FAA, NTSB, or DHS 
(3) Passengers enplaning or deplaning an aircraft, under appropriate 

supervision 

(4) Escorted individuals with a need to be in a restricted area 

(5) Emergency personnel responding to an emergency 

(6) As a means of escape during an emergency 

 
4.7 8 Airport Issued ID Media 
 
 Individuals possessing Airport issued ID media will remain in areas they are 

authorized as indicated by the card color issued to them. If an individual requires 
access to an area not allowed by their ID, they must be escorted by someone 
authorized to be in that area and possess an “E” on their ID. Individuals not in 
possession of their Airport issued ID media CANNOT be escorted for any reason. 

 
4.8 9 Weight Limits 
 
 The following are the ramp strengths weight bearing capabilities at the Airport:; 
waivers may be approved by the President/CEO or their designee: 
 
  Runway 04/22 Pavement Classification Number (PCN) 65 R/B/W/T 
 
 Itinerant Ramp  60,000 pounds dual wheel load 
 FBO Ramp  60,000 pounds dual wheel load 
 Passenger Ramp   210,000 pounds dual wheel load 
 South South Cargo Ramp  753,000 pounds double dual tandem wheel 

load 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 4 – Designated & Restricted Areas 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 14 
 

 Center Cargo Ramp 1,092,000 pounds double dual tandem 
 North North Cargo Ramp  753,000 pounds double dual tandem wheel 

load   
 
4.9 10 Employee Parking 
 

a. The employee parking lot is for authorized, badged employees of the District 
and tenants. Use by others must be approved by the President/CEO, or their 
designee. Transient employees are not authorized to use the employee 
parking lot.    

 
b. Entrance to the employee parking lot is by use of the employee’s Airport 

issued ID media. Entry into the employee parking lot by any other means than 
the designated entrance is not allowed. The Airport may charge a fee for the 
use of the employee parking lot. 

 
c. Vehicles parked in the employee parking lot must display the approved parking 

pass issued by the District. Vehicles not displaying the proper parking pass 
may be ticketed and/or towed at the owner’s expense. 

 
 
d. Vehicles must be parked in designated parking spaces only. Vehicles may only 

occupy one parking space. 
 

(1) Oversize vehicles and vehicles with trailers may use the employee lot 

provided there is sufficient space for other employees at as determined by 

the District. 

 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 5 – Aircraft Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 15 
 

 
Section 5 – Aircraft Operations 

 
5.1 Closing the Airport 
 

If the conditions of the Airport become unsafe for landings or takeoffs, the 
President/CEO, or their designee will issue a NOTAM indicating the Airport is 
closed. The closure NOTAM will be cancelled when conditions allow. 
 

5.2 Refusal of Clearance 
 
 The President/CEO, or their designee may delay or restrict the arrival or 

departure of any flight or other operation at the Airport believed to be a safety or 
security risk. Instruction to the aircraft will be through the Air Traffic Control 
Tower when it is open. 

 
5.3 Conformance with FAA Regulations 

All aircraft operations conducted at the Airport will conform to the rules and 
regulations of the FAA.  

 
5.4 Negligent Operation of Aircraft 
 

No person shall operate an aircraft from or on a public landing area, public ramp 
or apron area, public passenger ramp or apron area, public cargo ramp or apron 
area, or a public aircraft parking or storage area in a careless or negligent 
manner. Aircraft that are constructed, equipped or loaded that endanger or are 
likely to endanger persons or property shall not be operated. 
 

5.5 Motorless, Ultra-Light, & Unmanned Aircraft Systems  
 

a. Landings and takeoffs by motorless or ultra-light aircraft must have the 
approval from the Air Traffic Control Tower. 
 

b. Unmanned aircraft systems (UAS), to include model aircraft, are prohibited 
from operating within 5 miles of and around the Airport, as specified by 
Federal Aviation Administration Regulations, without prior approval from FAA 
Headquarters, the Air Traffic Control Tower and or the President/CEO, or their 
designee. 

 
 
 
 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 5 – Aircraft Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 16 
 

 
5.6 Designated Unsafe Areas 
 

Aircraft will not use any part of the Movement or Non-Movement areas deemed 
unsafe. These areas will be conspicuously marked and appropriate NOTAM’s will 
be issued. 

 
 
5.7 Aircraft Demonstrations 
 

Experimental flights or ground demonstrations will not be conducted without the 
written consent of the President/CEO, or their designee. 

 
5.8 Starting Aircraft Engines 
 
 Aircraft engines will only be started when competent authority is at the controls 

of the aircraft. Chocks will be placed in front of the wheels before starting the 
engine(s) unless the aircraft has sufficient parking brakes and they are applied. 
The immediate area around the aircraft will be checked by the aircraft operator 
for Foreign Object Debris (FOD) prior to engine start. 

 
5.9 Aircraft Engine Run-Up 
 
 Aircraft engines may be run-up on at the North Cargo Ramp, FBO Ramp or other 

various airport locations as approved by the President/CEO, or their designee. 
Personnel performing engine run-ups must ensure exhaust velocities are not 
directed in a manner that could cause personal injury or damage to equipment or 
facilities. Engines will not be run-up in hangars or when hangars, shops, office 
spaces, aircraft taxiing, taking off, or landing are in the path of the propeller or 
jet blast. 

 
5.10 Taxiing and Tugging Aircraft 
 

Aircraft will not be taxied on a movement or non-movement area unless a 
certified, qualified pilot or A&P mechanic authorized to operate the aircraft being 
taxied is at the controls.  A&P mechanics must be qualified to drive at GSP or 
escorted by GSP Operations. Aircraft shall not taxi when the jet blast, prop-wash 
or rotor-wash may cause injury to persons or cause damage to property. Aircraft 
that cannot safely move under its own power without potentially causing injury 
or damage should be towed to a location where the operation of the aircraft will 
not cause injury or damage. 
 
In the case of helicopters, only a certified, qualified helicopter pilot may be at the 
controls. Aircraft will be taxied only after ascertaining there is no danger of 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 5 – Aircraft Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 17 
 

collision with any person or object. This shall be accomplished by a visual 
inspection of the area and/or the use of wing walkers. 

 
5.11 Taxiing Speed 
 
 Aircraft taxiing will be at safe and reasonable speeds with due regard for other 

aircraft, persons, and property. 
 
 
 
5.12 Taxiing on Turf Areas 
 
 Aircraft will not taxi upon the turf areas of the Airport unless authorized by the 

Air Traffic Control Tower or the President/CEO, or their designee. 
 
5.13 Parking Aircraft 
 
 Aircraft will only be parked in designated areas. Parking or standing on a runway 

or taxiway is prohibited unless directed to do so by the Air Traffic Control Tower. 
Airline operated aircraft will not park outside of agreed gates or areas without 
approval from the President/CEO, or their designee. Aircraft will not be 
permanently parked or stored on the Airport unless agreed upon with the Fixed 
Base Operator. The FBO may charge applicable reasonable fees for the parking 
and storage of aircraft.  

 
5.14 Accident Reports 
 
 The operator of any civil aircraft, or any public aircraft shall immediately, and by 

the most expeditious means available, notify the District of any damage caused 
to an aircraft while on any portion of the Airport in accordance with Section 6 of 
the FAA Aviation Safety Reporting Program.  

 
5.15 Disposal of Damaged Aircraft 
 
 The pilot or operator is responsible for the prompt removal of damaged or 

disabled aircraft. In the event the pilot or operator does not comply or is unable 
to remove such aircraft in a timely manner, the President/CEO, or their designee 
may have the aircraft removed at the pilot’s/operator’s expense without liability 
for damage that resulted from the removal.  

 
5.16 Foreign Object Debris (FOD) 

 

Airport tenants are responsible for developing a FOD self-inspection program for 
non-movement areas of the AOA that are leased for their operation. Leased 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 6 – Movement & Non-Movement Area Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 19 
 

 
Section 6 – Movement & Non-Movement Area Operations 

 
6.1 Smoking and Open flames 
 

Smoking is prohibited on or near any part of the movement and non-movement 
areas. Open flames are prohibited on or near any movement or non-movement 
area and any fuel storage area unless authorized by a hot work permit. Grills 
must be inspected by the Airport Fire Department annually and must be a 
minimum of 50ft from any structure. 
 

6.2 Authorized Drivers – Movement Area 
 

Operators of vehicles in the movement area must possess a valid U.S. Driver’s 
License, complete and pass the non-movement area training and the movement 
area training prescribed by the Airport District. This includes aircraft not intended 
for flight, being operated by anyone (except pilots) taxiing or towing.  An “AM” 

designator on airport issued ID media indicates the individual is authorized to 
operate a vehicle or aircraft not intended for flight in the both the movement and 
non-movement areas. 
 

6.3 Authorized Drivers - Non-Movement Area 
 

Operators of vehicles in the non-movement area must possess a valid U.S. 
Driver’s License and complete and pass the non-movement area training 
prescribed by the Airport District. This includes aircraft not intended for flight, 
being operated by anyone (except pilots) taxiing or towing.  An “R” designator 
on airport issued ID media indicates the individual is authorized to operate a 
vehicle in the non-movement area. 
 

6.4 Authorized Vehicles – Movement Area  

Only authorized vehicles are permitted in the movement area or runway safety 
area. This includes: Airport Operations, ARFF, Airport Police, Airport Facilities, 
FAA Facilities and National Weather Service. Drivers must have an “MA” drivers 
permit and be in contact with and have permission from the Air Traffic Control 
Tower before entering the movement area or runway safety area. Vehicles 
entering the Movement Area must be in sound mechanical order, have 2 working 
headlights, at least one working tail light and have amber, red or blue flashing 
lights visible from 360 degrees. Vehicles and/or pedestrians entering the 
movement area must also be equipped with a two-way radio and be in 
continuous contact with the Air Traffic Control Tower when open or announcing 
presence on the Common Traffic Advisory Frequency (CTAF) when the Tower is 
closed. Vehicles in the movement area must have their company logo, in a 

Formatted: Font: (Default) Tahoma, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: (Default) Tahoma, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Font: (Default) Tahoma, Font color: Auto



Rules and Regulations 
Section 6 – Movement & Non-Movement Area Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 20 
 

minimum of 4” lettering, affixed to both sides of the vehicle either by permanent 
lettering or magnetic placard. 

 
 
6.5 Authorized Vehicles – Non-Movement Area 
 

Only authorized vehicles and equipment are permitted in the non-movement 
area. Vehicles must be in sound mechanical order and have 2 working headlights 
and at least 1 working tail light. Vehicles leaving the non-movement area and 
returning must have a current AOA inspection decal affixed to the lower left 
corner of the windshield. Vehicles in the non-movement area must have their 
company logo, in a minimum of 4” lettering, affixed to both sides of the vehicle 
either by permanent lettering or magnetic placard.  Vehicles with State or 
Federal Government license plates are exempt from the placard rule. 
  

 
6.6 Escorts – Movement Area 
 
 Vehicles and/or operators not authorized in the movement area must be 

escorted at all times. Those providing the escort must have an “E” on their 
airport issued ID media and if escorting a vehicle must have an “A” driver’s 
permit. Permission to enter the movement area must also be granted by the Air 
Traffic Control Tower. 

 
6.7 Escorts – Non-Movement Area 
 
 Vehicles and/or operators not authorized in the non-movement area must be 

escorted at all times. Those providing the escort must have an “E” on their 
airport issued ID media and if escorting a vehicle must have either an “R” or “A” 
driver’s permit. 

 
6.8 Speed Limit  
 

Vehicles in the non-movement area will not be operated in excess of 30 miles per 
hour. Vehicles operating within 50 ft. of an aircraft will not exceed 10 miles per 
hour. Vehicle operators shall reduce their speed when the pavement is wet, icy 
or during periods of low visibility. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
6.9 Right of Way 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 6 – Movement & Non-Movement Area Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 21 
 

 
Vehicles will always give way to aircraft pushing back, preparing to taxi or 
taxiing. Ground vehicles must give way to emergency vehicles responding to an 
emergency and to fuel trucks at all times. 
 

6.10 Emergency Vehicles 
 

a. Operators of emergency vehicles in the non-movement area must give way to 
aircraft taxiing and must ensure crews pushing an aircraft see the emergency 
vehicle and stop before proceeding.  

 
b. Operators of emergency vehicles entering the Movement Area must have 

clearance from the Air Traffic Control Tower or ensure the Movement Area is 
closed to aircraft before proceeding. 

 
6.11 Ground Equipment  
 

Ground vehicles may pull no more than 4 pieces of equipment. During periods of 
snow and/or ice vehicles may pull no more than 2 pieces of equipment. 
 

6.12 Operation of Vehicles and Ground Equipment 
 
 Vehicles and ground equipment shall not be operated in a movement or non-

movement area in a careless or negligent manner; or while the driver is under 
the influence of an intoxicating liquor, any narcotic, habit-forming drug, or 
medication with a warning indicating the operation of machinery should not be 
attempted, or if such vehicle is so constructed, equipped or loaded as to 
endanger persons or property.  

 
6.13 Violation Penalties – Movement Area 
 

Violations in the movement area can range from driver re-training, fines, 
suspension of driver privileges to revocation of airport issued ID media 
depending on the severity of the violation. Severity is determined by the 
President/CEO or their designee. Violations within the movement area become a 
permanent part of an individual’s airport issued ID media record.  
 

6.14 Violation Penalties – Non-Movement Area 
 

Violations in the non-movement area can range from driver re-training, fines, 
suspension of driver privileges to revocation of airport issued ID media 
depending on the severity of the violation. Severity is determined by the 
President/CEO or their designee. Violations within the non-movement area 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 7 – Motor Vehicle & Traffic Rules 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 23 
 

 
Section 7 – Motor Vehicle & Traffic Rules 

 
7.1 Authorized to Operate Vehicles 
 

Motor vehicles shall not be operated in or upon a public vehicular parking area or 
public airport roadway unless (1) the driver possess a valid driver’s license to 
operate such vehicle on the highways of this State and (2) such vehicle is 
registered in accordance with the provisions of the laws of this State.  
 

7.2 Compliance with Lawful Order, Signal or Direction 
 

All traffic in or upon a public airport roadway, a public vehicular parking area, 
fuel storage area, movement or non-movement area of the Airport must, at all 
times, comply with any lawful order of law enforcement or signal or direction 
from any authorized representative of the  District. 
   

7.3 Operation of Motor Vehicles/ATV’s 
 

a. Vehicles shall not be operated in or upon a public airport roadway, a public 
vehicular parking area, fuel storage area, or movement or non-movement area 
of the Airport in a careless or negligent  manner or at a speed or in a manner 
which endangers or is likely to endanger persons or property.  

 
b. Dirt bikes and Allall-terrain vehicles such as three-wheelers and four-wheelers 

are not permitted to be used on any part of the District’s property unless 
authorized by the President/CEO, or their designee. 

 
7.4 Parking  

a. Operators of motor vehicles shall not stop or park a vehicle: 
 

(1) On any roadway or crosswalk causing a hindrance to the flow of traffic. 
(2) Within a bus stop, safety zone or taxi/shuttle zone, unless authorized to do 

so. 
(3) Within 15 feet of a fire hydrant. 
(4) In a fire lane. 
(5) In any parking lot or other designated parking area except upon payment 

of a parking fee or contract with the Airport District. 
(6) In a designated handicapped parking space unless a valid handicapped 

placard or license plate is properly displayed. 
(7) In any parking space designated reserved unless prior authorization is 

given. 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 7 – Motor Vehicle & Traffic Rules 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 24 
 

b. Passenger pick-up and drop-off: 
 

(1) Passenger pick-up and drop-off areas in front of the terminal are for active 
loading and unloading of passengers only.  

(2) Vehicles left unattended in front of the terminal may be ticketed and/or 
towed at the owner’s expense. 

 
c. Parking lots and garages: 
 

(1) The speed limit within any parking lot or garage is 10 M.P.H. 
(2) Vehicles must be parked in designated parking spaces only. 
(3) Oversize vehicles and vehicles with trailers requiring more than one space 

may be charged for the use of additional spaces. 
(4) If a specific parking lot is full, other lots may be used at the posted rate for 

that particular lot (Example: If the economy lot is full, the daily parking lot 
may be used at the daily lot rate). 

 
d. Cell phone parking lot: 
 

(1) The cell phone parking lot is for individuals waiting on arriving passengers.  
(2) Parking is limited to a maximum of 30 minutes. 
(3) Drivers must remain with their vehicles. 
(4) Vehicles left unattended are subject to ticketing and towing at the owner’s 

expense. 
(5) Transportation network companies are prohibited from waiting for ride 

share requests in this area.  
 

 
de. Unauthorized vehicles parked in restricted or reserved areas may be ticketed 

and/or towed at the owner’s expense. These areas include, but are not limited 
to: 

 
 (1) Airport District office parking. 
 (2) Rental car parking areas. 

(3) Prearranged reserved public parking. 
 (4) Taxicab/shuttle waiting areas. 
 (5) Employee parking areas. 
 (6) Fixed Base Operator parking areas. 
 (7) North cargo parking. 
 (8) South cargo parking. 
 (9) Cell Phone lot 
 (910) Access gates. 

 
7.5 Authority to Hold Vehicles 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 7 – Motor Vehicle & Traffic Rules 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 25 
 

 
The President/CEO, or their designee has the authority to hold vehicles parked in 
vehicular parking areas operated by or for the District for non-payment of 
parking fees.  

 
7.6 Authority to Remove Vehicles 
 
 The President/CEO, or their designee may remove or cause to be removed any 

vehicle which is disabled, abandoned, parked in violation of state law, federal 
law, federal regulation, or which presents a hindrance to the operation of the 
Airport or any tenant of the Airport at the owner’s expense and without liability 
for any damage that may result. Vehicles left unattended in a passenger 
loading/unloading zone will be ticketed and/or towed in accordance with federal 
regulations.   

 
7.7 Abandoned Vehicles 
 
 Vehicles left in any parking lot for more than 90 days will may be considered 

abandoned and may be sold at public auction unless the owner notifies the 
District or parking authority.  

 
7.8 Emergency Vehicles 
 

Operators of emergency vehicles have the same authority and must comply with 
South Carolina Code of Laws Section 56-5-760.  

 
7.9 Yielding to Emergency Vehicles 
 
 Vehicles and pedestrians must yield to emergency vehicles when displaying red 

and white, blue, red and blue, or amber flashing lights and giving an audible 
signal/siren. This applies to the public areas as well as the movement and non-
movement areas. 

 
7.10 State Law  
 

The Laws of the State of South Carolina are applicable to vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic on the highways, streets, roads, crosswalks, sidewalks, parking 
facilities, terminal areas and all other areas of the District. Violations involving 
traffic and criminal statutes will be enforced by the Airport Police while parking 
violations may be enforced by the Airport Police or other personnel authorized by 
the President/CEO, or their designee. 
 

 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 9 – Conduct of the Public  

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District   Page 29 

 

 
Section 9 – Conduct of the Public 

 
9.1 Firearms 
 

a. No person, except for sworn law enforcement, authorized armed security or 
members of the United States Armed Forces on official duty, or operations 
personnel utilizing Airport District owned firearms for wildlife management shall 
carry a firearm within District facilities:concealed or otherwise: 

 
a. (1) in any building owned or operated by the District or  
b. (2) in checked baggage or through a passenger screening checkpoint, unless: 
 

(1) a. the firearm is properly packaged, unloaded and declared, according to 
49 CFR 1544.203, for transportation in checked baggage or 

(2)b.  the individual is authorized by 49 CFR 1544.219, to carry in the aircraft 
cabin. 

 
b. In addition to the penalties provided by state law, the firearm involved in the     

violation of this section may be confiscated. The firearm must be delivered to 
the Chief of Police of the District. The confiscated firearm may be used within 
the agency, transferred to another law enforcement agency for the lawful use 
of that agency, traded with a retail dealer licensed to sell firearms in this state 
for a firearm or any other equipment approved by the agency, or destroyed. 
Firearms will not be disposed of in any manner until the results of any legal 
proceeding in which it may be involved are final. Records must be kept of all 
confiscated firearms received. 

 
 
 
 
9.2 Explosives & Hazardous Materials 
 

a. It is unlawful for a person to manufacture, cause to be manufactured, or 
possess any object or article which is designed to cause damage by fire or any 
other means to person or property either by ignition, detonation, or other 
means. (SC Code of Laws 16-23-480). 

 
b. Fireworks shall not be: 
    (1) discharged on any property owned by the District 
 (2) carried in any check bag or through a passenger screening checkpoint 

(3) carried aboard any aircraft unless approved by the airline and the US 
Department of Transportation. 

 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0"



Rules and Regulations 
Section 9 – Conduct of the Public  

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District   Page 30 

 

c. Hazardous materials: 
(1) must be properly labeled and stored in areas designated for such materials 
(2) may not be transported aboard an aircraft unless the provisions of Title 49 

part 175 are met. 
 
9.3 Alcoholic Beverages 
 

a. The sale of alcoholic beverages is limited to approved tenants of the District. 
Approved tenants must also possess the required state licenses. 

 
b. Alcoholic beveragesAlcoholic Beverages  may only be sold between the hours 

as ascribed by SC State Lawby the District, which may not be in conflict with 
SC State Law.of 10:00 am and 2:00 am Monday through Saturday and 12:00 
pm and 2:00 am on Sunday.  These times will be published to all approved 
tenants by the GSP Police Department. 

 
c. Alcoholic beverages may only be consumed in the area of purchase.  
 

9.4 Malicious Damage 
 

No person shall destroy, deface, injure or disturb any building, equipment, sign, 
marker, landscape, publicly or privately owned.  

 
9.5 Loitering 
 

No person shall remain on any part of the Airport or in any building on the 
Airport property without reason to be there or remain in any area or building on 
Airport property after being asked to leave. 
   

9.6 Littering 
 

Trash, papers, cigarettes, gum, refuse or other unwanted materials will be 
disposed of in receptacles provided for that purpose.  
 

9.7 Drug Paraphernalia 
 

It shall be unlawful for a person to possess Drug Paraphernalia. Drug 
Paraphernalia means all equipment, products, and materials of any kind which 
are used, intended for use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, 
cultivating, growing, harvesting, manufacturing, compounding, converting, 
producing, processing, preparing, testing, analyzing, packaging, repackaging, 
storing, containing, concealing, injecting, ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise 
introducing into the human body a controlled substance. This includes, but is not 
limited to: 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 9 – Conduct of the Public  

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District   Page 32 

 

 
b. into any fuel storage area; 
 
c. within 50 ft. of a fuel truck; 
 
d. within the AOA; or 
 
e. anywhere smoking is prohibited by signage. 

 
9.9 Lost and Found 
 

The Airport Customer Service Counter will serve as the official location custodian 
for anyof Airport Lost & Found property. All items turned in to customer service 
will be logged and stored in a secure location. 
 
a. Items will be held for 30 days before being disposed of 
 
b. Disposal of items will be in accordance with District Executive Directive # 4 
 

9.10 Animals 
 

a. Animals entering the terminal, passenger boarding areas, cargo facilities or 
aircraft ramp must be confined to airline approved pet carries except: 

 
i. a(1).  animals recognized by the American’s with Disabilities Act as 

Service Animals; 
b. animals meeting the requirements under the Air Carrier Access Act to travel in 

the cabin as Service Animals; 
 

ii. c(2).  animals being trained by certified trainers to become Service 
Animals; 

 
iii. d(3). animals used by law enforcement for the detection of 

contraband, explosives or apprehension of individuals. 
 

b. Animals not recognized by the ADA but meeting the requirements under the 
Air Carrier Access Act to travel in the cabin of aircraft as Service Animals must 
remain in airline approved pet carriers or carried until boarding the aircraft or 
immediately after deplaning. Large animals that cannot be carried must be on 
a non-retractable leash and under control of the owner at all times. Owners 
are responsible for cleaning-up all messes created by their animal. 

 
9.11 Baggage Carts 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 1 – Definitions 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 2 
 

Electronic Cigarette – A device containing a nicotine-based or other liquid that is 
vaporized and inhaled, simulating the experience of smoking tobacco. 
 
Emotional Support Animal – Animals that provide comfort or emotional support 
but are not trained to work or perform tasks.  
 
Employee Parking Lot – The designated area where employees of the District; 
tenants; the Federal Aviation Administration; and all those permitted by the 
President/CEO, or his designee, may leave their vehicles while at the Airport for 
the purposes of employment on the Airport. 
 
Federal Aviation Regulations (FAR’s) – Rules prescribed by the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA) governing all aviation activities in the United States. 
 

Foreign Object Debris (FOD) –  Any object, live or not, located in an 
inappropriate location in the airport environment that has the capacity to injure 
airport or airline personnel and damage aircraft. 
 
Fuel Storage Area – Any area designated by the District, where aviation fuel, 
automobile fuel, jet fuel, or any other type of fuel may be stored. 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (District) – Areas within the counties of 
Greenville and Spartanburg constituted as an airport district and political 
subdivision of the State of South Carolina. 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport (GSP) - Areas of land or water that 
are used or intended to be used for the landing and takeoff of aircraft, and 
includes its buildings, facilities, and land holdings. 
 
Loading Zone – Any area reserved for the exclusive use of vehicles while actually 
engaged in loading or unloading freight, mail, baggage and supplies. 
 
Movement Area – The runways, taxiways and other areas of the Airport that are 
used for taxiing, takeoff and landing of aircraft, exclusive of loading ramps and 
aircraft parking areas controlled by the ATCT. 
 
Non-Movement Area – Taxiways and apron (ramp) areas not under control of the 
Air Traffic Control Tower. 
 
Non-Tenant Business – A business granted permission via a Non-Tenant 
Agreement to operate at the Airport but does not have a concession contract or 
lease granting the privilege of having offices or other facilities at the Airport from 
which to conduct business, unless specified in the individual non-tenant 
agreement. 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 1 – Definitions 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 3 
 

 
Passenger Loading Zone – Areas reserved for the exclusive use of vehicles while 
actually engaged in loading or unloading passengers and baggage. 
 
Permission – The right or ability granted by the President/CEO, or their designee. 
Permission, whenever required by these rules and regulations, shall always mean 
written permission, unless the obtaining of written permission would not be 
practical. 
 
Person – Any individual, firm, partnership, co-partnership, corporation, trust, 
association or company (including any assignee, receiver, trustee, or similar 
representatives thereof) or the United States of America, any State or political 
subdivision thereof, any foreign government, or the United Nations. 
 
Public Vehicular Parking Area – Any portion of the Airport designated and made 
available, temporarily or permanently, by the District for the public parking of 
vehicles. 
 
Security Identification Display Area (SIDA) – The portion of an airport, specified 
in the Airport Security Program, in which security measures specified in Title 49 
of the Code of Federal Regulations are carried out. This area includes the 
secured area and may include other areas of the Airport. 
 
Service Animal - An animal as defined by ADA, that is individually trained to do 
work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability, including a 
physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. Other 
species of animals, whether wild or domestic, trained or untrained, are not 
considered service animals. The prime deterrent effects of an animal’s presence 
and the provision of emotional support, well-being, comfort, or companionship 
are not considered work or tasks under the definition of a service animal. 
 
Shuttle – A motor vehicle that travels regularly between two places. 
 
Skycap – Any person under contract with airlines serving the Airport to accept 
baggage curbside from departing passengers and assist those arriving, accepting 
gratuities for their services. 
 
Taxicab – A vehicle operated for compensation, including any kind of donation, 
which receives passengers to be driven to another destination. This includes any 
for hire service summoned on any mobile or online application service or 
company. 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 2 – General Information 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 6 
 

 
and in the Office of the Secretary of State in accordance with Chapter 23, 
Title 1.  
 
The Commission is authorized to employ police officers commissioned by the 
Governor to enforce all laws and the rules and regulations authorized in this 
section, and these officers shall be authorized to issue summonses for 
violations in the manner authorized for state highway patrolmen. Violations 
of a law, a rule, or regulation of the Commission within the jurisdiction of the 
Circuit Court of Spartanburg shall be tried in that court. Violations not within 
the jurisdiction of that court shall be tried by any magistrate or other court 
of competent jurisdiction. A person who willfully or intentionally violates the 
rules and regulations of the Commission is guilty of a misdemeanor, and 
upon conviction, must be fined not more than two hundred dollars, or as 
otherwise provided by law, or be imprisoned for not more than thirty days. 
 

2.4 Liability 

The District, its agents or employees assumes no responsibility or liability for 
loss, injury or damage to persons or property on the Airport or using Airport 
facilities, by reason of fire, theft, vandalism, wind, flood, earthquake or 
collision damage, nor does it assume any liability by reason of injury to 
persons or property while using the facilities of the District.  
 

2.5 Penalties 
 

Violations of the Rules and Regulations may result in a citation triable in 
Magistrate Court. 

 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 9 
 

 
3.10 Use or Occupancy of Airport Operations Area (AOA) 
 

No person shall use or occupy an Airport operations area unless the activity is in 
conjunction with: servicing of tenants, concessionaires, airlines, activities 
associated with airlines, governmental agencies, or a purpose connected with the 
maintenance and operation of the Airport. 
 

3.11 Authority to Deny Use 
 
 The President/CEO or their designee may deny the use of the Airport to any 

aircraft, pilot or personnel violating District or FAA regulations, whether the 
violation occurred at this Airport or another. 

 
3.12 Use of Airport as Base 
 
 The basing and operation of personnel and company owned aircraft at the 

Airport will be by written agreement with the District or Fixed Base Operator. If 
such aircraft are used for hire or other commercial purposes all applicable 
permits and fees must be paid to the District. 

 
3.13 Certificated Part 121 Air Carrier 
 

a. Any certificated part 121 air carrier wishing to enplane or deplane passengers or 
cargo must notify the President/CEO, or their designee no less than 24 hours 
prior to arrival. Information required includes: 

 
(1) Company operating the flight 
(2) Type and registration number of aircraft 
(3) Estimated time of arrival and departure to and from GSP 
(4) Destination from GSP 
(5) Number of passengers and their organization 

(6) Insurance certificate 

Unless a contract or lease with the District is in place, the current schedule of 
fees shall apply. 
 

3.14 Ground Transportation 
 

a. No individual or entity, other than authorized concessionaires, may operate any 
taxicab, shuttle, courtesy vehicle, bus, personal vehicle, or rental car for the 
purpose of carrying passengers for hire from the Airport unless such operation is 
with the approval of the President/CEO, or their designee and under such terms 
and conditions as prescribed by the District. 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 10 
 

 
b. All individuals, partnerships, LLC or corporations operating for hire and courtesy 

vehicle services must have a Non-Tenant Business Permit or be under contract 
with the District.  

 
i. Operators of for hire and courtesy vehicles without a Non-Tenant Business 

Permit or contract from the District may unload passengers who made prior 
arrangements. Operators of these vehicles may not solicit business or load 
passengers even if prior arrangements were made. 

 
ii. Operators with a Non-Tenant Business Permit may not cruise or solicit 

business from Airport property but may load passengers, if prior arrangements 
were made. 

 
c. All for hire vehicles must hold a Class C – Certificate of Public Conveyance and 

Necessity issued by the South Carolina Public Service Commission. 
 
d. All permittees shall abide by all federal and state laws as well as all Airport Rules 

and Regulations. 
 
e. Operators must be clearly identifiable to the public as employees of the non-

tenant operator. 
 
f. Vehicles will park or stand in designated areas to wait for arriving passengers. 

Non-tenant vehicles may pull to the front curb to actively load/unload only. 
 

3.15 Penalties 
 

Violations of Section 3.14 may result in a citation triable in Magistrate Court and/or 
paying permit and pickup fees. 

 
3.16 Stormwater and Oil Pollution Prevention 
 
 Any airport tenants, including air passenger or cargo companies, Fixed Based 

Operators (FBOs), and other parties who routinely perform industrial activities, to 
include servicing aircraft lavatories, on airport property must comply with the 
Airport District Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP). 

 
 Any user and/or operator at the airport of facilities that could possibly discharge oil 

in harmful quantities must comply with the Airport District Spill Prevention Control 
and Countermeasure Plan (SPCC). All spills must be reported to the Airport 
Operations Center and cleaned-up by the agency responsible for creating the spill. 

 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 3 – Commercial Activity 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 11 
 

3.17 Fire Prevention and Inspections 
 

a. The most recent edition of the International Building Codes adopted by the 
South Carolina Buildings Code Council, with revisions, is hereby adopted by the 
District for the purpose of: 

i. Facilitating proper inspection activities relating to the construction and 
maintenance of buildings within the District and relating to public safety, 
health, and general welfare. 

ii. Regulating and governing the safeguarding of life and property from fire 
and explosion hazards arising from storage, handling, and use of 
hazardous substances, material and devices, and from conditions 
hazardous to life or property. 

b. The most recent edition of the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA), with 
revisions, is hereby adopted by the District for the purpose of proper fire safety 
procedures relating to the protection of persons, aircraft, and property. 

 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 4 – Designated & Restricted Areas 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 12 
 

 
Section 4 – Designated & Restricted Areas 

 
4.1 Itinerant Ramp 
 

The Itinerant Ramp is for the parking and storing of aircraft; servicing aircraft 
with fuel, lubricants, and other supplies; and making minor or emergency repairs 
to aircraft. Use of the Itinerant Ramp shall be prior coordinated with Airport 
Operations. A ramp use fee may be charged by the District. 
 

4.2 Fixed Base Operator Ramp 

The FBO Ramp is for the loading and unloading of passengers, cargo, and 
supplies to or from aircraft; servicing aircraft with fuel, lubricants, and supplies; 
and for the parking of equipment actively used in connection with such 
operations. Use of the FBO Ramp shall be prior coordinated with the FBO.  

 
4.3 Passenger Ramp 
 

The Passenger Ramp is for the loading and unloading of passengers, cargo, and 
supplies to and from aircraft; servicing aircraft with fuel, lubricants, and supplies; 
and for the parking of equipment actively used in connection with such 
operations. The Passenger Ramp shall be prior coordinated with Airport 
Operations. 
 

4.4 South Cargo Ramp (L2) 
 

The South Cargo Ramp is for the loading and unloading of passengers when a 
gate is not available, the unloading of commercial international passengers into 
the U.S. Customs – Federal Inspection Services facility unloading and loading 
cargo, servicing aircraft with fuel, lubricants, and supplies, and the temporary 
parking of diverted aircraft. The South Cargo Ramp shall be prior coordinated 
with Airport Operations. 
 

4.5 Center Cargo Ramp (L8) 
 

The Center Cargo Ramp is for the loading and unloading of cargo, domestic and 
international, and occasional processing of passengers; servicing aircraft with 
fuel, lubricants, and supplies and the temporary parking of diverted aircraft. The 
Center Cargo Ramp shall be prior coordinated with Cerulean Commercial 
Aviation. 
 

4.6 North Cargo Ramp (L9) 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 4 – Designated & Restricted Areas 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 13 
 

The North Cargo Ramp is for the loading and unloading of passengers and cargo, 
the inspection of private international aircraft and passengers entering into the 
U.S. Customs – Federal Inspection Services facility, servicing aircraft with fuel, 
lubricants, and supplies, and the temporary parking of diverted aircraft. The 
North Cargo Ramp shall be prior coordinated with Airport Operations. 

 
4.7 Restricted Areas 
 

a. All areas of the Airport are restricted except those areas open to the public. 
No person shall enter upon a runway, taxiway, ramp, airline office, 
concourse, aircraft hangar, cargo facility, Air Traffic Control Tower, or 
through an aircraft boarding door except: 

  
(1) Authorized, badged employees of the Airport 
(2) Authorized employees of the FAA, NTSB, or DHS 
(3) Passengers enplaning or deplaning an aircraft, under appropriate 

supervision 

(4) Escorted individuals with a need to be in a restricted area 

(5) Emergency personnel responding to an emergency 

(6) As a means of escape during an emergency 

 
4.8 Airport Issued ID Media 
 
 Individuals possessing Airport issued ID media will remain in areas they are 

authorized as indicated by the card color issued to them. If an individual requires 
access to an area not allowed by their ID, they must be escorted by someone 
authorized to be in that area and possess an “E” on their ID. Individuals not in 
possession of their Airport issued ID media CANNOT be escorted for any reason. 

 
4.9 Weight Limits 
 

The following are weight bearing capabilities at the Airport; waivers may be 
approved by the President/CEO or their designee: 

 
  Runway 04/22 Pavement Classification Number (PCN) 65 R/B/W/T 
 
 Itinerant Ramp  60,000 pounds dual wheel load 
 FBO Ramp  60,000 pounds dual wheel load 
 Passenger Ramp   210,000 pounds dual wheel load 
 South Cargo Ramp  753,000 pounds double dual tandem wheel load 
 Center Cargo Ramp 1,092,000 pounds double dual tandem 
 North Cargo Ramp  753,000 pounds double dual tandem wheel load   
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 4 – Designated & Restricted Areas 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 14 
 

4.10 Employee Parking 
 

a. The employee parking lot is for authorized, badged employees of the District 
and tenants. Use by others must be approved by the President/CEO, or their 
designee. Transient employees are not authorized to use the employee 
parking lot.    

 
b. Entrance to the employee parking lot is by use of the employee’s Airport 

issued ID media. Entry into the employee parking lot by any other means than 
the designated entrance is not allowed. The Airport may charge a fee for the 
use of the employee parking lot. 

 
c. Vehicles parked in the employee parking lot must display the approved parking 

pass issued by the District. Vehicles not displaying the proper parking pass 
may be ticketed and/or towed at the owner’s expense. 

 
 
d. Vehicles must be parked in designated parking spaces only. Vehicles may only 

occupy one parking space. 
 

(1) Oversize vehicles and vehicles with trailers may use the employee lot 

provided there is sufficient space for other employees as determined by 

the District. 

 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 5 – Aircraft Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 15 
 

 
Section 5 – Aircraft Operations 

 
5.1 Closing the Airport 
 

If the conditions of the Airport become unsafe for landings or takeoffs, the 
President/CEO, or their designee will issue a NOTAM indicating the Airport is 
closed. The closure NOTAM will be cancelled when conditions allow. 
 

5.2 Refusal of Clearance 
 
 The President/CEO, or their designee may delay or restrict the arrival or 

departure of any flight or other operation at the Airport believed to be a safety or 
security risk. Instruction to the aircraft will be through the Air Traffic Control 
Tower when it is open. 

 
5.3 Conformance with FAA Regulations 

All aircraft operations conducted at the Airport will conform to the rules and 
regulations of the FAA.  

 
5.4 Negligent Operation of Aircraft 
 

No person shall operate an aircraft from or on a public landing area, public ramp 
or apron area, public passenger ramp or apron area, public cargo ramp or apron 
area, or a public aircraft parking or storage area in a careless or negligent 
manner. Aircraft that are constructed, equipped or loaded that endanger or are 
likely to endanger persons or property shall not be operated. 
 

5.5 Motorless, Ultra-Light, & Unmanned Aircraft Systems  
 

a. Landings and takeoffs by motorless or ultra-light aircraft must have the 
approval from the Air Traffic Control Tower. 
 

b. Unmanned aircraft systems (UAS), to include model aircraft, are prohibited 
from operating within 5 miles of the Airport, as specified by Federal Aviation 
Administration Regulations, without prior approval from FAA Headquarters, the 
Air Traffic Control Tower or the President/CEO, or their designee. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 5 – Aircraft Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 16 
 

5.6 Designated Unsafe Areas 
 

Aircraft will not use any part of the Movement or Non-Movement areas deemed 
unsafe. These areas will be conspicuously marked and appropriate NOTAM’s will 
be issued. 

 
5.7 Aircraft Demonstrations 
 

Experimental flights or ground demonstrations will not be conducted without the 
written consent of the President/CEO, or their designee. 

 
5.8 Starting Aircraft Engines 
 
 Aircraft engines will only be started when competent authority is at the controls 

of the aircraft. Chocks will be placed in front of the wheels before starting the 
engine(s) unless the aircraft has sufficient parking brakes and they are applied. 
The immediate area around the aircraft will be checked by the aircraft operator 
for Foreign Object Debris (FOD) prior to engine start. 

 
5.9 Aircraft Engine Run-Up 
 
 Aircraft engines may be run-up at various airport locations as approved by the 

President/CEO, or their designee. Personnel performing engine run-ups must 
ensure exhaust velocities are not directed in a manner that could cause personal 
injury or damage to equipment or facilities. Engines will not be run-up in hangars 
or when hangars, shops, office spaces, aircraft taxiing, taking off, or landing are 
in the path of the propeller or jet blast. 

 
5.10 Taxiing and Tugging Aircraft 
 

Aircraft will not be taxied on a movement or non-movement area unless a 
certified, qualified pilot or A&P mechanic authorized to operate the aircraft being 
taxied is at the controls.  A&P mechanics must be qualified to drive at GSP or 
escorted by GSP Operations. Aircraft shall not taxi when the jet blast, prop-wash 
or rotor-wash may cause injury to persons or cause damage to property. Aircraft 
that cannot safely move under its own power without potentially causing injury 
or damage should be towed to a location where the operation of the aircraft will 
not cause injury or damage. 
 
In the case of helicopters, only a certified, qualified helicopter pilot may be at the 
controls. Aircraft will be taxied only after ascertaining there is no danger of 
collision with any person or object. This shall be accomplished by a visual 
inspection of the area and/or the use of wing walkers. 

 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 5 – Aircraft Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 17 
 

5.11 Taxiing Speed 
 
 Aircraft taxiing will be at safe and reasonable speeds with due regard for other 

aircraft, persons, and property. 
 
5.12 Taxiing on Turf Areas 
 
 Aircraft will not taxi upon the turf areas of the Airport unless authorized by the 

Air Traffic Control Tower or the President/CEO, or their designee. 
 
5.13 Parking Aircraft 
 
 Aircraft will only be parked in designated areas. Parking or standing on a runway 

or taxiway is prohibited unless directed to do so by the Air Traffic Control Tower. 
Airline operated aircraft will not park outside of agreed gates or areas without 
approval from the President/CEO, or their designee. Aircraft will not be 
permanently parked or stored on the Airport unless agreed upon with the Fixed 
Base Operator. The FBO may charge applicable fees for the parking and storage 
of aircraft.  

 
5.14 Accident Reports 
 
 The operator of any civil aircraft, or any public aircraft shall immediately, and by 

the most expeditious means available, notify the District of any damage caused 
to an aircraft while on any portion of the Airport in accordance with Section 6 of 
the FAA Aviation Safety Reporting Program.  

 
5.15 Disposal of Damaged Aircraft 
 
 The pilot or operator is responsible for the prompt removal of damaged or 

disabled aircraft. In the event the pilot or operator does not comply or is unable 
to remove such aircraft in a timely manner, the President/CEO, or their designee 
may have the aircraft removed at the pilot’s/operator’s expense without liability 
for damage that resulted from the removal.  

 
5.16 Foreign Object Debris (FOD) 

 

Airport tenants are responsible for developing a FOD self-inspection program for 
non-movement areas of the AOA that are leased for their operation. Leased 
areas must be regularly inspected to detect and promptly remove hazards 
associated with FOD.  
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 6 – Movement & Non-Movement Area Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 19 
 

 
Section 6 – Movement & Non-Movement Area Operations 

 
6.1 Smoking and Open flames 
 

Smoking is prohibited on or near any part of the movement and non-movement 
areas. Open flames are prohibited on or near any movement or non-movement 
area and any fuel storage area unless authorized by a hot work permit. Grills 
must be inspected by the Airport Fire Department annually and must be a 
minimum of 50ft from any structure. 
 

6.2 Authorized Drivers – Movement Area 
 

Operators of vehicles in the movement area must possess a valid U.S. Driver’s 
License, complete and pass the non-movement area training and the movement 
area training prescribed by the Airport District. This includes aircraft not intended 
for flight, being operated by anyone (except pilots) taxiing or towing.  An “M” 

designator on airport issued ID media indicates the individual is authorized to 
operate a vehicle or aircraft not intended for flight in both the movement and 
non-movement areas. 
 

6.3 Authorized Drivers - Non-Movement Area 
 

Operators of vehicles in the non-movement area must possess a valid U.S. 
Driver’s License and complete and pass the non-movement area training 
prescribed by the Airport District. This includes aircraft not intended for flight, 
being operated by anyone (except pilots) taxiing or towing.  An “R” designator 
on airport issued ID media indicates the individual is authorized to operate a 
vehicle in the non-movement area. 
 

6.4 Authorized Vehicles – Movement Area  

Only authorized vehicles are permitted in the movement area or runway safety 
area. This includes: Airport Operations, ARFF, Airport Police, Airport Facilities, 
FAA Facilities and National Weather Service. Drivers must have an “M” drivers 
permit and be in contact with and have permission from the Air Traffic Control 
Tower before entering the movement area or runway safety area. Vehicles 
entering must be in sound mechanical order, have 2 working headlights, at least 
one working tail light and have amber, red or blue flashing lights visible from 360 
degrees. Vehicles and/or pedestrians must also be equipped with a two-way 
radio and be in continuous contact with the Air Traffic Control Tower when open 
or announcing presence on the Common Traffic Advisory Frequency (CTAF) 
when the Tower is closed.  

 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 6 – Movement & Non-Movement Area Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 20 
 

6.5 Authorized Vehicles – Non-Movement Area 
 

Only authorized vehicles and equipment are permitted in the non-movement 
area. Vehicles must be in sound mechanical order and have 2 working headlights 
and at least 1 working tail light. Vehicles leaving the non-movement area and 
returning must have a current AOA inspection decal affixed to the lower left 
corner of the windshield. Vehicles in the non-movement area must have their 
company logo, in a minimum of 4” lettering, affixed to both sides of the vehicle 
either by permanent lettering or magnetic placard.  Vehicles with State or 
Federal Government license plates are exempt from the placard rule. 
  

6.6 Escorts – Movement Area 
 
 Vehicles and/or operators not authorized in the movement area must be 

escorted at all times. Those providing the escort must have an “E” on their 
airport issued ID media and if escorting a vehicle must have an “A” driver’s 
permit. Permission to enter the movement area must also be granted by the Air 
Traffic Control Tower. 

 
6.7 Escorts – Non-Movement Area 
 
 Vehicles and/or operators not authorized in the non-movement area must be 

escorted at all times. Those providing the escort must have an “E” on their 
airport issued ID media and if escorting a vehicle must have either an “R” or “A” 
driver’s permit. 

 
6.8 Speed Limit  
 

Vehicles in the non-movement area will not be operated in excess of 30 miles per 
hour. Vehicles operating within 50 ft. of an aircraft will not exceed 10 miles per 
hour. Vehicle operators shall reduce their speed when the pavement is wet, icy 
or during periods of low visibility. 
 

6.9 Right of Way 
 

Vehicles will always give way to aircraft pushing back, preparing to taxi or 
taxiing. Ground vehicles must give way to emergency vehicles responding to an 
emergency and to fuel trucks at all times. 
 

6.10 Emergency Vehicles 
 

a. Operators of emergency vehicles in the non-movement area must give way to 
aircraft taxiing and must ensure crews pushing an aircraft see the emergency 
vehicle and stop before proceeding.  



Rules and Regulations 
Section 6 – Movement & Non-Movement Area Operations 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 21 
 

 
b. Operators of emergency vehicles entering the Movement Area must have 

clearance from the Air Traffic Control Tower or ensure the Movement Area is 
closed to aircraft before proceeding. 

 
6.11 Ground Equipment  
 

Ground vehicles may pull no more than 4 pieces of equipment. During periods of 
snow and/or ice vehicles may pull no more than 2 pieces of equipment. 
 

6.12 Operation of Vehicles and Ground Equipment 
 
 Vehicles and ground equipment shall not be operated in a movement or non-

movement area in a careless or negligent manner; or while the driver is under 
the influence of an intoxicating liquor, any narcotic, habit-forming drug, or 
medication with a warning indicating the operation of machinery should not be 
attempted, or if such vehicle is so constructed, equipped or loaded as to 
endanger persons or property.  

 
6.13 Violation Penalties – Movement Area 
 

Violations in the movement area can range from driver re-training, fines, 
suspension of driver privileges to revocation of airport issued ID media 
depending on the severity of the violation. Severity is determined by the 
President/CEO or their designee. Violations within the movement area become a 
permanent part of an individual’s airport issued ID media record.  
 

6.14 Violation Penalties – Non-Movement Area 
 

Violations in the non-movement area can range from driver re-training, fines, 
suspension of driver privileges to revocation of airport issued ID media 
depending on the severity of the violation. Severity is determined by the 
President/CEO or their designee. Violations within the non-movement area 
remain on an individual’s airport issued ID media record for 365 days from the 
incident date. 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 7 – Motor Vehicle & Traffic Rules 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 23 
 

 
Section 7 – Motor Vehicle & Traffic Rules 

 
7.1 Authorized to Operate Vehicles 
 

Motor vehicles shall not be operated in or upon a public vehicular parking area or 
public airport roadway unless (1) the driver possess a valid driver’s license to 
operate such vehicle on the highways of this State and (2) such vehicle is 
registered in accordance with the provisions of the laws of this State.  
 

7.2 Compliance with Lawful Order, Signal or Direction 
 

All traffic in or upon a public airport roadway, a public vehicular parking area, 
fuel storage area, movement or non-movement area of the Airport must, at all 
times, comply with any lawful order of law enforcement or signal or direction 
from any authorized representative of the District. 
   

7.3 Operation of Motor Vehicles/ATV’s 
 

a. Vehicles shall not be operated in or upon a public airport roadway, a public 
vehicular parking area, fuel storage area, or movement or non-movement area 
of the Airport in a careless or negligent manner or at a speed or in a manner 
which endangers or is likely to endanger persons or property.  

 
b. Dirt bikes and all-terrain vehicles such as three-wheelers and four-wheelers 

are not permitted to be used on any part of the District’s property unless 
authorized by the President/CEO, or their designee. 

 
7.4 Parking  

a. Operators of motor vehicles shall not stop or park a vehicle: 
 

(1) On any roadway or crosswalk causing a hindrance to the flow of traffic. 
(2) Within a bus stop, safety zone or taxi/shuttle zone, unless authorized to do 

so. 
(3) Within 15 feet of a fire hydrant. 
(4) In a fire lane. 
(5) In any parking lot or other designated parking area except upon payment 

of a parking fee or contract with the Airport District. 
(6) In a designated handicapped parking space unless a valid handicapped 

placard or license plate is properly displayed. 
(7) In any parking space designated reserved unless prior authorization is 

given. 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 7 – Motor Vehicle & Traffic Rules 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 24 
 

b. Passenger pick-up and drop-off: 
 

(1) Passenger pick-up and drop-off areas in front of the terminal are for active 
loading and unloading of passengers only.  

(2) Vehicles left unattended in front of the terminal may be ticketed and/or 
towed at the owner’s expense. 

 
c. Parking lots and garages: 
 

(1) The speed limit within any parking lot or garage is 10 M.P.H. 
(2) Vehicles must be parked in designated parking spaces only. 
(3) Oversize vehicles and vehicles with trailers requiring more than one space 

may be charged for the use of additional spaces. 
(4) If a specific parking lot is full, other lots may be used at the posted rate for 

that particular lot (Example: If the economy lot is full, the daily parking lot 
may be used at the daily lot rate). 

 
d. Cell phone parking lot: 
 

(1) The cell phone parking lot is for individuals waiting 
on arriving passengers.  

(2) Parking is limited to a maximum of 30 minutes. 
(3) Drivers must remain with their vehicles. 
(4) Vehicles left unattended are subject to ticketing and 

towing at the owner’s expense. 
(5) Transportation network companies are prohibited 

from waiting for ride share requests in this area.  
 

e. Unauthorized vehicles parked in restricted or reserved areas may be ticketed 
and/or towed at the owner’s expense. These areas include, but are not limited 
to: 

 
 (1) Airport District office parking. 
 (2) Rental car parking areas. 

(3) Prearranged reserved public parking. 
 (4) Taxicab/shuttle waiting areas. 
 (5) Employee parking areas. 
 (6) Fixed Base Operator parking areas. 
 (7) North cargo parking. 
 (8) South cargo parking. 
 (9) Cell Phone lot 
 (10) Access gates. 

 
7.5 Authority to Hold Vehicles 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 7 – Motor Vehicle & Traffic Rules 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District  Page 25 
 

 
The President/CEO, or their designee has the authority to hold vehicles parked in 
vehicular parking areas operated by or for the District for non-payment of 
parking fees.  

 
7.6 Authority to Remove Vehicles 
 
 The President/CEO, or their designee may remove or cause to be removed any 

vehicle which is disabled, abandoned, parked in violation of state law, federal 
law, federal regulation, or which presents a hindrance to the operation of the 
Airport or any tenant of the Airport at the owner’s expense and without liability 
for any damage that may result. Vehicles left unattended in a passenger 
loading/unloading zone will be ticketed and/or towed in accordance with federal 
regulations.   

 
7.7 Abandoned Vehicles 
 
 Vehicles left in any parking lot for more than 90 days may be considered 

abandoned and may be sold at public auction unless the owner notifies the 
District or parking authority.  

 
7.8 Emergency Vehicles 
 

Operators of emergency vehicles have the same authority and must comply with 
South Carolina Code of Laws Section 56-5-760.  

 
7.9 Yielding to Emergency Vehicles 
 
 Vehicles and pedestrians must yield to emergency vehicles when displaying red 

and white, blue, red and blue, or amber flashing lights and giving an audible 
signal/siren. This applies to the public areas as well as the movement and non-
movement areas. 

 
7.10 State Law  
 

The Laws of the State of South Carolina are applicable to vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic on the highways, streets, roads, crosswalks, sidewalks, parking 
facilities, terminal areas and all other areas of the District. Violations involving 
traffic and criminal statutes will be enforced by the Airport Police while parking 
violations may be enforced by the Airport Police or other personnel authorized by 
the President/CEO, or their designee. 
 

 
 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 9 – Conduct of the Public  

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District   Page 29 

 

 
Section 9 – Conduct of the Public 

 
9.1 Firearms 
 

a. No person, except for sworn law enforcement, authorized armed security 
members of the United States Armed Forces on official duty, or operations 
personnel utilizing Airport District owned firearms for wildlife management shall 
carry a firearm within District facilities: 

 
(1) in any building owned or operated by the District or  
(2) in checked baggage or through a passenger screening checkpoint, unless: 
 

a. the firearm is properly packaged, unloaded and declared, according to 49 
CFR 1544.203, for transportation in checked baggage or 

b. the individual is authorized by 49 CFR 1544.219, to carry in the aircraft 
cabin. 

 
b. In addition to the penalties provided by state law, the firearm involved in the     

violation of this section may be confiscated. The firearm must be delivered to 
the Chief of Police of the District. The confiscated firearm may be used within 
the agency, transferred to another law enforcement agency for the lawful use 
of that agency, traded with a retail dealer licensed to sell firearms in this state 
for a firearm or any other equipment approved by the agency, or destroyed. 
Firearms will not be disposed of in any manner until the results of any legal 
proceeding in which it may be involved are final. Records must be kept of all 
confiscated firearms received. 

 
9.2 Explosives & Hazardous Materials 
 

a. It is unlawful for a person to manufacture, cause to be manufactured, or 
possess any object or article which is designed to cause damage by fire or any 
other means to person or property either by ignition, detonation, or other 
means. (SC Code of Laws 16-23-480). 

 
b. Fireworks shall not be: 
    (1) discharged on any property owned by the District 
 (2) carried in any check bag or through a passenger screening checkpoint 

(3) carried aboard any aircraft unless approved by the airline and the US 
Department of Transportation. 

 
c. Hazardous materials: 

(1) must be properly labeled and stored in areas designated for such materials 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 9 – Conduct of the Public  

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District   Page 30 

 

(2) may not be transported aboard an aircraft unless the provisions of Title 49 
part 175 are met. 

 
9.3 Alcoholic Beverages 
 

a. The sale of alcoholic beverages is limited to approved tenants of the District. 
Approved tenants must also possess the required state licenses. 

 
b. Alcoholic Beverages may only be sold between the hours as ascribed by the 

District, which may not be in conflict with SC State Law.  These times will be 
published to all approved tenants. 

 
c. Alcoholic beverages may only be consumed in the area of purchase.  
 

9.4 Malicious Damage 
 

No person shall destroy, deface, injure or disturb any building, equipment, sign, 
marker, landscape, publicly or privately owned.  

 
9.5 Loitering 
 

No person shall remain on any part of the Airport or in any building on the 
Airport property without reason to be there or remain in any area or building on 
Airport property after being asked to leave. 
   

9.6 Littering 
 

Trash, papers, cigarettes, gum, refuse or other unwanted materials will be 
disposed of in receptacles provided for that purpose.  
 

9.7 Drug Paraphernalia 
 

It shall be unlawful for a person to possess Drug Paraphernalia. Drug 
Paraphernalia means all equipment, products, and materials of any kind which 
are used, intended for use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, 
cultivating, growing, harvesting, manufacturing, compounding, converting, 
producing, processing, preparing, testing, analyzing, packaging, repackaging, 
storing, containing, concealing, injecting, ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise 
introducing into the human body a controlled substance. This includes, but is not 
limited to: 
 
a. Kits used, intended for use, or designed for use in planting, propagating, 

cultivating, growing, or harvesting of any species of plant which is a controlled 
substance or from which a controlled substance can be derived. 



Rules and Regulations 
Section 9 – Conduct of the Public  

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District   Page 32 

 

 
d. within the AOA; or 
 
e. anywhere smoking is prohibited by signage. 

 
9.9 Lost and Found 
 

The Airport Customer Service Counter will serve as the official custodian for any 
Airport Lost & Found property. All items turned in to customer service will be 
logged and stored in a secure location. 
 
a. Items will be held for 30 days before being disposed of 
 
b. Disposal of items will be in accordance with District Executive Directive # 4 
 

9.10 Animals 
 

a. Animals entering the terminal, passenger boarding areas, cargo facilities or 
aircraft ramp must be confined to airline approved pet carries except: 

 
i. animals recognized by the American’s with Disabilities Act as Service 

Animals; 
 

ii. animals being trained by certified trainers to become Service Animals; 
 

iii. animals used by law enforcement for the detection of contraband, 
explosives or apprehension of individuals. 

 
b. Animals not recognized by the ADA but meeting the requirements under the 

Air Carrier Access Act to travel in the cabin of aircraft as Service Animals must 
remain in airline approved pet carriers or carried until boarding the aircraft or 
immediately after deplaning. Large animals that cannot be carried must be on 
a non-retractable leash and under control of the owner at all times. Owners 
are responsible for cleaning-up all messes created by their animal. 

 
9.11 Baggage Carts 
 

With the exception of skycaps working for a tenant operator, baggage carts, 
whether rented or privately owned, are not to be used for hire.  All baggage 
carts used inside the Airport Fixed Based Operator facility or terminal building are 
required to have pneumatic wheels. 
 

9.12 Model Aircraft 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Communications 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
____________________________________________________________ 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item C 
 
Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 
Minimum Standards 
 
BACKGROUND   
 
The purpose of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District (“District”) Minimum 
Standards is to establish the minimum threshold entry requirements for those wishing 
to provide commercial aeronautical services to the public and to ensure that those who 
have undertaken to provide commodities and services are not exposed to unfair or 
irresponsible competition.  The Airport Commission last adopted changes to the 
District’s Minimum Standards on September 8, 2016.   
 
ISSUES  
 
From time to time, Staff reviews and recommends changes to the Minimum Standards 
to address new commercial aeronautical services within the industry, update the 
minimum threshold entry requirements for new entrants wishing to provide services on 
the airport, and/or maintain compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. 
 
Attached are the following documents: 
 

• A summary matrix of the proposed substantive changes by Section #.  
• A redlined copy of each Section with substantive changes. 

• A clean copy of each Section with substantive changes. 
 
In addition, minor grammatical revisions have been made to various Sections, which are 
not included, as they do not represent a substantive change in the intent of the 
Minimum Standards. 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item C 
Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 
Minimum Standards 
Page 2 
 

ALTERNATIVES  
 
The alternative is to not the make the recommended Minimum Standards changes. This 
alternative is not recommended.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT  
 
There is no direct financial impact from the recommended changes.   
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION  
 
It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to adopt the Greenville-
Spartanburg Airport District Administrative Minimum Standards as presented.  
 
 
Attachments 



Minimum Standards Change Summary Matrix Page 1 
 

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District 

Minimum Standards 

Change Summary Matrix 

June 24, 2019 

 

Section Subject Comments 

1 
 

Preamble & Policy • Inserted verbiage to address specific entities exempt 
from the Minimum Standards. 

 

2 Definitions • Updated Paragraph 2.6 to reflect the District’s 
exclusive rights under FAA regulations to operate the 
FBO. 

 

3 
 

Minimum Standards 
for all SASO's 

• Changes made for contextual accuracy. 
 

6 Aircraft Sales • Updated hours of operation. 
 

7 Aircraft Airframe, 
Engine and 
Accessory, 
Maintenance and 
Repair 

• Updated hours of operation. 
 

8 Aircraft Lease and 
Rental 

• Updated hours of operation. 
 

9 Flight Training • Updated hours of operation. 
 

10 Avionics, Instruments 
or Propeller Repair 
Stations 

• Updated hours of operation. 
 

11 Aircraft Charter 
and/or Air Taxi 

• Updated hours of operation. 
 

13 Specialized 
Commercial Flying 
Services 

• Updated hours of operation. 
 

17 Commercial Air 
Carrier Line 
Maintenance Services 

• Former FBO section moved to Section 19. 
• Reduced the square footage requirements from 1,000 

square feet to 500 square feet. 
 

18 Commercial All Cargo 
Aircraft Ground 
Handling Services 
 

• New section to address new entrants wishing to 
provide these services at the Airport. 
 

19 Fixed Base Operation 
(FBO) 

• Updated to reflect the District’s exclusive rights under 
FAA regulations to operate the FBO. 
 



Minimum Standards Change Summary Matrix Page 2 
 

Appendix 
2 

Fixed Base Operator 
– Minimum Insurance 
Standards 

• Deleted to reflect the District utilizing its exclusive 
rights under FAA regulations to operate the FBO. 

 



 
 
 

 
 

6 

Section 1 - Preamble and Policy 
 
 
These Minimum Standards for Commercial Aeronautical Service Providers (“Minimum 
Standards”) have been formulated and adopted by the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport 
CommissionDistrict (the “CommissionDistrict”) for the Greenville-Spartanburg International 
Airport, hereinafter referred to as “Airport”.  This supersedes all previous documents of its 
kind, and was officially adopted on November 6, 2006June 24, 2019. 
 
These Minimum Standards are intended to be the minimum threshold entry 
requirements for those wishing to provide commercial aeronautical services to the 
public and to insureensure that those who have undertaken to provide commodities and 
services as approved are not exposed to unfair or irresponsible competition.   
 
These Minimum Standards were developed taking into consideration the aviation role of 
the Airport, facilities that currently exist at the Airport, services being offered at the 
Airport, and the future development planned for the Airport, and to promote fair 
competition.  The uniform application of these Minimum Standards, containing the 
minimum levels of service that must be offered by the prospective service provider, 
protects the established aeronautical activity and Airport patrons and enhances the public 
interest by both encouraging growth of business at the Airport and discouraging substandard 
operations. 
 
These standards were developed in accordance with the Federal Aviation Administration 
(“FAA”) Advisory Circular 150-/5190-5 change 17, dated June 2002. August 28, 2006. The 
Airport will annually review and regularly update this document as necessary as 
required by activities on the Airport or as regulations are changed.  Any existing 
commercial aeronautical service provider currently under a fully executed and approved lease 
will not be required to meet the standards until at such time that the service provider’s lease 
with the Airport is modified, renewed, or a change in the service provider’s ownership of 
51 percent or more occurs. 
 
These Minimum Standards shall apply to all Commercial Aeronautical Service Providers, 
with the exceptions noted below.   These Minimum Standards do not apply to: 
 

• The District itself; 
 

• Certificated air carriers providing scheduled passenger and/or cargo service 
operating under a separate lease and/or agreement with the Airport; 

 
 

• Non-aeronautical commercial service providers such as restaurants, rental cars, 
concessions, taxis, Airport shuttles, etc., located on or otherwise serving the 
Airport; 
 



 
 
 

 
 

7 

• Non-



 
 
 

 
 

8 

SECTION Bcommercial Airport tenants, including private aircraft owners and 
operators operating under 14 CFR Part 91, except as noted below; 

 
• Aircraft operators and service providers that are not based at the Airport but that 

use the Airport on a transient or itinerant basis and comply with all other 
applicable rules, regulations, and procedures of the District. 

 
  



 
 
 

 
 

13 

 
(4)  Permit  - - administrative approval issued by the CommissionDistrict to a 
person or company to conduct a commercial aeronautical activity, and provide 
such services, to based and transient aircraft, only from facilities and locations 
where such services are authorized. 
 
(5)  Person  - - an individual, corporation, firm, partnership, association, 
organization, and any other group acting as an entity, to conduct business on the 
Airport. Person includes a trustee, receiver, assignee or similar representative. 
 

(6) FBO Leased Premises  -  shall mean, collectively, the entire site located on Airport property 
leased by the Commission to an FBO. 
 
 
F. Services 
 
2.6 - Services 

 
(1)  Avionics Sales and Maintenance  - - the commercial operation of providing 
for the repair and service, or installation of aircraft radios, instruments and 
accessories.  Such operation may include the sale of new or used aircraft radios, 
instruments and accessories.  
 
(2)  Fixed Base Operator ((“FBO)  -  a full service commercial operator who is 
authorized to engage in-”) – the primary activity of providing Aircraft Fuel and must District 
has elected to utilize its Exclusive Right as permitted by FAA to provide this 
service(s) at the following secondary activities:  Airport. 
 
(a) Aircraft Line Services;  
(b) Aircraft Maintenance;  
(c) Aircraft storage hangars;  
(d) Passenger, Crew, and Aircraft ground services, including pilot supplies, support and 

amenities;  
(e) Flight briefing capabilities including weather;  
(f) UNICOM; 
(g) Courtesy Vehicle, access to limousine services and rental cars; and  
(h) Aircraft Charter or Air Taxi. 
 
(3)  Flight Training  - – the commercial operation of instructing pilots in dual 
and solo flight, in fixed or rotary wing aircraft, and related ground school instruction 
as necessary to complete a FAA written pilot’s examination and flight check ride for 
various categories of pilots licenses and ratings. Flight Training shall also include 
any portion of a flight between two or more airports or other destinations where the 
primary purpose is to increase or maintain pilot or crew member proficiency. 
 
(4)  Flying Club  – – a non-commercial and nonprofit entity organized for the 



 
 
 

 
 

16 

SECTION C3 - Minimum Standards for Specialized Aviation Service Operations 
(SASOs)  

 
The following shall apply to all prospective aeronautical service providers wishing to 
become a SASO at the Airport.  

 
(1)  Leases shall be for a term to be mutually agreed upon between the parties 
with due consideration for the financial investment and the need to amortize 
improvements to the leasehold. 
 
(2)  A person shall have such business background and shall have 
demonstrated his/her business capability to the satisfaction of, and in such manner as 
to meet with the approval of the CommissionDistrict. 
 
(3)  Any prospective entity seeking to conduct Commercial Aeronautical 
Activity at the Airport should demonstrate in writing and notarized financial detail 
that they have adequate resources to realize the business objectives agreed to by the 
CommissionDistrict and the applicant. 
 
(4)  The prospective SASO, as defined, shall have its premises open and 
services available from 98:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. at least five (5) days a week unless 
otherwise indicated or approved by the Commission. District. The schedule may be 
reduced during major holidays, as approved by the CommissionDistrict. 
 
(5)  All prospective SASOs shall demonstrate to the Commission’sDistrict’s 
satisfaction evidence of its ability to acquire insurance coverage as stipulated for 
each particular type of operation.  A SASO should make its own analysis to 
determine if more is needed.  However, such policies of insurance shall be 
maintained in full force and effect during all terms of existing Leases, Agreements or 
business license or renewals or extensions thereof with a 30--calendar day notice of 
cancellation to the Airport.  Such policies shall not be less than the amounts listed in 
APPENDIX 1; however, in all cases, must meet the statutory requirements of applicable 
governmental agencies and be approved in writing by the CommissionDistrict. 
 
(6)  Each SASO shall have in its employ, and on duty during required operating 
hours, trained personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum 
Standards in an efficient manner for each aeronautical service being performed.  
 
(7)  SASOs shall not engage in any Commercial Aeronautical Activity or service 
on the Airport premises without first obtaining a Lease, Permit, or Agreement from the 
CommissionDistrict in accordance with specifications established by the Commission. 
District. All persons conducting Commercial Aeronautical Activities at the Airport 
shall, as a condition of conducting such activities, required to comply with the provisions 
contained in the minimum standards adopted by the CommissionDistrict as modified 
from time to time, unless any such provisions are expressly waived or modified by 



 
 
 

 
 

17 

the CommissionDistrict in writing.  The mere omission of any particular minimum 
standard in a Lease, license, permit, or Agreement shall not constitute a waiver 
or modification of the Minimum Standards unless the document expressly states 
that the CommissionDistrict waives application of that standard. 
 
(8)  SASOs shall not engage in any Commercial Aeronautical Activity not 
specifically authorized by the CommissionDistrict. 
 
(9)  SASOs shall follow all security regulations and requirements established 
by the Federal government, State government, local government and the 
Commission. District. In addition, the CommissionDistrict reserves the right to 
require that principal officers of a SASO, regardless of level of involvement in the 
actual operation of the SASO, and any employee of the SASO with direct, unescorted 
access to any building, aircraft parking apron, taxiway, runway, or any other facility 
inside the secured perimeter fence or facility providing access to the airfield at the 
Airport submit to a criminal history records check ((“CHRC),”), including 
fingerprinting, at the expense of the SASO.  The CommissionDistrict may suspend 
the authority of a SASO to conduct business at the Airport if the results of the CHRC 
indicate that the individual poses a threat to the Airport, local community, State or 
nation. 
 
(10)  Commercial Aeronautical Activities not addressed in these Minimum 
Standards will be addressed by the CommissionDistrict on a case-by-case basis in 
the SASO’s written Lease, license, permit or Agreement. 
 
(11)  The CommissionDistrict may waive or modify any portion of these Minimum 
Standards for the benefit of a governmental agency performing non-profit public 
services, fire protection, or emergency response operations or when it is determined 
that such waiver is in the best interest of the public and will not result in unjust 
discrimination against other Commercial Operators at the Airport. 
 
(12)  The CommissionDistrict as a matter of policy does not allow any “through-
the-fence” operations.  The CommissionDistrict intends to maintain the position of 
no “through-the-fence” operations in the future. 
 
(13)  The Executive DirectorPresident/CEO, or his/her designee, with the approval 
of the CommissionDistrict, may make revisions and amendments to these 
Minimum Standards when business conditions at the Airport require and when 
necessary to comply with FAA, TSA, or other governmental regulations.  
 
(14)  The CommissionDistrict has established these Minimum Standards for the 
Airport with the intent of providing fair and reasonable rules to govern the 
conduct of Commercial Aeronautical Activity on the Airport.  It is the intent of the 
CommissionDistrict to provide consistent, uniform, and fair enforcement of these 
Minimum Standards to accomplish the Commission’sDistrict’s goals and promote 



 
 
 

 
 

18 

successful commercial business operations at the Airport.  The Executive 
DirectorPresident/CEO is responsible for and is hereby empowered to enforce these 
Minimum Standards.  
 



 
 
 

 
 

19 

SECTION D(15) In the event of a direct conflict between these Minimum Standards 
and any Agreement entered into prior to the Effective Date, the Agreement shall 
govern to the extent of such conflict. The Minimum Standards are not intended 
to alter or change rights of any party under any Agreement in effect prior to the 
Effective Date of these Minimum Standards. 
 

  



 
 
 

 
 

26 

Section 6 - Aircraft Sales 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
New Aircraft Sales: An aircraft sales SASO engages in the sale of new aircraft through 
franchises or licensed dealerships (if required by local, county or State authority) or 
distributorship (either on a retail or wholesale basis) of an aircraft manufacturer or used 
aircraft; and provides such repair, services, and parts as necessary to meet any 
guarantee or warranty on aircraft sold. 
 
Used Aircraft Sales: Many entities engage in the purchasing and selling of used aircraft. 
This is accomplished through various methods including matching potential purchasers 
with an aircraft (brokering), assisting a customer in the purchase or sale of an aircraft, 
or purchasing used aircraft and marketing them to potential purchasers. In many cases these 
SASOs also provide such repair, services, and parts as necessary to support the operation of 
aircraft sold. Some of the requirements may not be appropriate to the sale of used aircraft 
because of each aircraft's unique history. 
 
Minimum Standards 

Minimum Standards 

 
(1)  A SASO engaging in this activity shall provide necessary and satisfactory 
arrangements for repair and servicing of aircraft, but only for the duration of any sales 
guarantee or warranty period. The SASO shall provide an adequate inventory of spare parts 
for the type of new aircraft for which sales privileges are granted. The SASO who is in the 
business of selling new aircraft shall have available a representative example of the product. 
 
(2)  A SASO shall have in his employ, on duty during business hours, trained 
personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum Standards set forth in an 
efficient manner. The SASO shall also maintain, during all business hours, a responsible person 
in charge to supervise the operations in the leased area with the authorization to represent and 
act for and on behalf of the SASO, and to provide check ride pilots for aircraft sold. 
 

(a)  SASO shall operate the service in a minimum of five hundred (500) square 
feet of office space on the Airport and have immediate access to customer lounge, 
public telephones, and restrooms. Operator must lease or sublease a minimum tie down 
area to accommodate at least two (2) of the largest of the aircraft authorized for sale. If 
the operator leases hangar space for the storage of sale aircraft this provision is waived. 
 
(b)  Employ and have on duty at least one (1) qualified aircraft salesperson 
and access to a demonstration pilot that has a current commercial pilot certificate 
with appropriate aircraft type ratings.  

 



 
 
 

 
 

27 

(c)  Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8nine (9) 
hours daily, five (5) days a week.   



 

SECTION GSection 7 - Aircraft Airframe, Engine and Accessory Maintenance and 
Repair 

 
Statement of Concept 
 
An aircraft airframe, engine and accessory maintenance and repair SASO provides 
one or a combination of airframe, engine and accessory overhauls and repair 
services on aircraft up to annual inspections.  This SASO may include all types of 
piston and turbine aircraft, business Jet aircraft and helicopters.  This category shall 
also include the sale of aircraft parts and accessories. 
 
Minimum Standards 

Minimum Standards 

 
(1)  The SASO shall provide sufficient equipment, supplies, manuals and 
availability of parts equivalent to that required for certification by the FAA. 
 
(2)  The SASO shall have in its employ, and on duty during the appropriate 
business hours, trained personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum 
Standards set forth in this category of services in an efficient manner, but never less than 
one person currently certificated by the FAA with ratings appropriate to the work being 
performed and who holds an airframe and power plant rating and is an inspector 
authorized by the FAA. 
 

(a)  Operate the service from a minimum of twelve thousand (12,000) 
square feet of ventilated hangar and shop space on the Airport and have 
immediate access to customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 
 
(b)  Employ and have on-duty a minimum of two (2) FAA certified 
technicians who possess an airframe, power plant, or aircraft inspector rating, or 
the maintenance facility must be certified under 14 CFR Part 145.   

 
(c)  Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8nine 
(9) hours daily, five (5) days a week. A technician shall also be available on-call 
twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week for emergency purposes 
only. If more than one (1) maintenance facility is located on Airport the on-call 
responsibility may be rotated on a mutually agreeable schedule.  as approved by 
the District. 

 
(d)  Provide equipment, supplies and parts required for aircraft airframe, 
power plant, inspection, tire, battery, oxygen, and other routine aircraft 
maintenance functions.  

 
(e)  Provide a waste oil receptacle within the immediate vicinity of the 



 
 
 

 
 

3 

hangar(s).  This receptacle shall be capable of holding a minimum of fifty 
(50) gallons, have secondary containment protection and be emptied at 
regular intervals and be in compliance with all regulatory requirements as 
now or hereafter amended. 

 



 
 
 

 
 

5 

Section 8 - Aircraft Lease and Rental 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
An Aircraft lease and rental SASO engages in the rental or lease of Aircraft to the public. 
 
Minimum Standards 
Minimum Standards 
Aircraft: 
 

(1)  The SASO shall have available for rental, either owned or under written 
lease, two (2) certificated and currently airworthy aircraft, one (1) of which must be 
a four--place aircraft, and one (1) of which must be equipped for and capable of 
flight under instrument flight rulesInstrument Flight Rules (“IFR”). 

 
(a)  SASO shall operate the service in a minimum five hundred (500) 
square feet of office space on the Airport and have immediate access to 
customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. Arrange for or lease ramp 
or hangar space for Aircraft available for lease or rental. 
 
(b)  Employ and have on duty at least two (2) persons having a current 
commercial pilot certificate with appropriate ratings, including instructor 
rating. 
 
(c)  Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8nine 
(9) hours daily, six (6seven (7) days a week. 

 



 
 
 

 
 

7 

Section 9 - Flight Training 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
A flight training SASO engages in instructing pilots in dual and solo flight training, in fixed 
and/or rotary wing aircraft, and provides such related ground school instruction as is 
necessary and preparatory to taking a written examination and flight check ride for the 
category or categories of pilots' licenses and ratings involved. 
 
Minimum Standards 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1)  The SASO shall have available for use in flight training, either owned or under 
written lease to SASO, properly certificated aircraft, one (1) of which must be a four--place 
aircraft, and one (1) of which must be equipped for and capable of use in IFR conditions. 
 
(2)  The SASO shall have, on a full--time basis, at least two flight instructors who have 
been properly certificated by the FAA to provide the type of training offered. 
 

(a)  SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of five hundred (500) 
square feet of classroom and office space on the Airport and have immediate 
access to customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 

 
(b)  A minimum of one certified flight instructor shall be on duty during business 
hours and one shall be available on call. 

 
(c)  Flight training operations shall include mock-ups, pictures, slides, filmstrips, 
movies, videotapes, or other training aides necessary to provide proper and 
effective ground school instruction.  All materials shall meet FAA requirements for 
the training offered. 

 
(d)  Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8nine (9) 
hours daily, six (6seven (7) days a week. 

 

 



 
 
 

 
 

9 

Section 10 - Avionics, Instruments or Propeller Repair Station 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
An avionics, instrument, or propeller repair station SASO engages in the business of and 
provides a shop for the sales and repair of aircraft avionics, propellers, instruments, and 
accessories for General Aviation Aircraft. This category may include the sale of new or 
used aircraft avionics, propellers, instruments, and accessories. The SASO shall hold the 
appropriate repair station certificates issued by FAA for the types of equipment it plans to 
service and/or install. 
 
Minimum Standards 

Minimum Standards 
 
(1)  The SASO shall have in its employ and on duty during the appropriate business hours 
trained personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum Standards set forth in this 
category in an efficient manner but never less than one person who is a FAA rated radio, 
instrument or propeller repairman.  
 

(a)  SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of five thousand (5,000) 
square feet of ventilated hangar and shop space on the Airport and have immediate 
access to customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 

 
(b)  Employ and have on-duty during business hours a minimum of two (2) 
persons, at least one (1) of which shall be an FAA certified radio, instrument or 
propeller technician. 

 
(c)  Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8nine (9) hours 

daily,  
five (5) days a week.  

 
(d)  Provide equipment, supplies and parts required for avionics work.  



 
 
 

 
 

11 

Section 11 - Aircraft Charter and/or Air Taxi 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
An unscheduled or scheduled Air Charter or Air Taxi SASO engages in the business of 
providing air transportation (persons or property) to the general public for hire, on an 
unscheduled or scheduled basis under the Federal Aviation Regulations set forth in the 
Code of Federal Regulations CFR 14 Part 135. 
Minimum Standards 
 
Minimum Standards 
 

(1)  The SASO shall provide, either owned or under written lease to the SASO, 
not less than one (1) certified and airworthy single engine, four--place aircraft and 
one multi--engine aircraft, both of which must be certificated for IFR operations.  
Such SASO shall have and display a current FAR Part 135 Certificate. 

 
(2)  The SASO shall have in his employ and on duty during the appropriate 
business hours trained personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum 
Standards set forth in this category in an efficient manner but never less than two (2) 
persons who are FAA certified commercial pilots and otherwise appropriately rated to 
permit the flight activity offered by SASO.  This SASO shall operate from the following 
type facilities: 

 
(a)  SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of five hundred 
(500) square feet of office space on the Airport and have immediate access 
to customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 

 
(b)  Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8nine 
(9) hours daily, five (5) days a week.  

 



 
 
 

 
 

15 

SECTION M - Specialized Commercial Flying Services 
SECTION 13 - Specialized Commercial Flying Services 

 
Statement of Concept 
 
A specialized commercial flying services SASO engages in air transportation for hire for the 
purpose of providing the use of aircraft for the following activities: 
 

(a)  Non--stop sightseeing flights that begin and end at the same airport.  
 
(b)  Aerial photography or survey. 
 
(c)  Power line or pipe line patrol.  
 
(d)  Aircraft management. 
 
(e)  Any other operations specifically excluded from Part 135 of the Federal 
Aviation Regulations. 

Minimum Standards 
 
Minimum (l) Standards 
 
(1) The SASO shall lease from the Airport or athe FBO a building sufficient to 
accommodate all activities and operations proposed by the SASO but not less than the 
level stated below. The minimum, areas in each instance shall be subject to the approval of 
the CommissionDistrict. All SASOs shall demonstrate that they have the availability of 
aircraft suitably equipped for the particular type of operation they intend to perform. 
 
(2)  The SASO shall base at the Airport not less than one certified and airworthy 
Aircraft meeting all Federal and State requirements and regulations with respect to the 
type of operation to be performed. 
 
(3)  The CommissionDistrict shall set the minimum insurance requirements as they pertain 
to the particular type of operation to be performed on a case by case basis.  The minimum 
requirements shall be applicable to all operations of a similar nature.  All SASOs will, 
however, be required to maintain the Aircraft Liability Coverage as set forth for all SASOs 
included in Appendix 1 hereto. 
 
(4)  The SASO shall have in his employ, and on duty during appropriate business hours, 
trained personnel in such numbers as may be required to meet the Minimum Standards 
herein, set forth in an efficient manner including at least one FAA rated pilot for the Aircraft 
to be used and type of operation to be performed. 
 



 
 
 

 
 

16 

(5)  The SASO must provide, by means of an office or a telephone, a point of contact 
for the public  desiring to use the SASO's services. 
 

(a)  Operate the service from a minimum of five hundred (500) square feet of 
office space on the Airport and have immediate access to customer lounge, public 
telephones, and restrooms. 
 
(b)  Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8nine (9) 
hours daily, five (5) days a week. 



 
 
 

 
 

22 

Section 17 
Statement of Concept 

An FBO is a full service Commercial Operator who is authorized to engage in the 
sale of products, services, and facilities to Aircraft operators.  Only FBOs shall be 
permitted to provide commercial Aircraft Fueling services and operate retail 
Aircraft Fueling facilities at the Airport; and are required to provide the following 
services at a minimum: 

(a) Aircraft Fueling which shall include Jet Fuel, AvGas, and Aircraft lubricants 
(b) Aircraft Line Services 
(c) Aircraft Maintenance 
(d) Aircraft storage hangars  
(e) Passenger, Crew, and Aircraft ground services, including pilot supplies, support and 
amenities 
(f) UNICOM (as permitted by FCC 87.213) 
(g) Flight briefing capabilities including weather 
(h) Courtesy Vehicle, access to limousine services and rental cars 
(i) Air Charter or Air Taxi 
 

In addition, optional services as approved by the Commission, which may include, but are not limited to:  
Flight Training, Aircraft Rental, Aircraft Sales, Management Operations, and Avionics Sales and 
Maintenance. 
 
FBOs may subcontract or use third-party operators to provide any of the required FBO services, or optional 
services, with the exception of Aircraft Fueling and Aircraft Line Services, which services must be provided 
directly by FBO and its “Employees.” Subcontractors and third-party operators shall meet all Minimum 
Standards applicable to such services when performed by an FBO and operate from the primary FBO Leased 
Premises.   
 
Each FBO shall conduct its business and activities on and from the FBO Leased Premises in a safe and 
professional manner consistent with the degree of care and skill exercised by experienced FBOs providing 
comparable products, services, and activities from similar airports in like markets. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) Aircraft Design Group Serviceability 

 
Each FBO shall provide the personnel, equipment, and facilities required to service all types of General 
Aviation Aircraft normally frequenting the Airport.  The Airport Reference Code (ARC) to be supported is 
category ARC C-III, which includes aircraft up to an approach speed of 140 knots and wingspans of 78 feet. 



 
 
 

 
 

23 

(2) FBO Leased Premises Size  
 
Minimum FBO Leased Premises Requirements 
 

Buildings & Leasehold Minimum Size 
Total FBO Leased Premises 10 acres (Contiguous Land) 
FBO Terminal 4,000 square feet 
Maintenance Hangar 12,000 square feet 
Maintenance Hangar Offices 1,500 square feet 
Aircraft Storage Hangar 12,000 square feet 
Aircraft Storage Hangar Offices 1,500 square feet 
FBO Apron (adjacent to FBO Leased Premises) 20,000 square feet 
Fuel Storage Area 25,000 square feet 

 
Each FBO shall lease from the Commission a minimum of ten (10) acres of Contiguous Land.  Each FBO shall 
lease or construct, on the FBO Leased Premises, a public use terminal building with a minimum of four 
thousand (4,000) square feet of floor space for customer lobby, office, pilot’s lounge, flight planning and 
weather briefing area, and public rest rooms.  

 
Each FBO shall provide customer and employee parking as required by the Airport Commission as now or 
hereafter amended, or as required by other applicable laws or ordinances. 

 
Each FBO shall lease from the Commission sufficient Airport property for its Aircraft operating area (“FBO 
Apron”), independent of any building area, vehicle parking area, and an “Aircraft Fuel Storage Area”.  This 
paved FBO Apron area shall be a minimum of twenty thousand (20,000) square feet and adequate to 
support all the activities of the FBO and all approved subtenants and shall be constructed to engineering 
standards for the current Airport design Aircraft as defined in the existing Airport Master Plan. 
 
(3) FBO Hours of Operation 
 
Each FBO is required to be open for business and provide Aircraft Fueling and Aircraft Line Services a 
minimum of 24 hours per day, seven (7) days per week, except as otherwise approved in writing by the 
Commission.  
 
Airframe and Power Plant Maintenance must be open not less than five (5) days per week, eight (8) hours 
per day.  Service hours for optional FBO services are listed in their specific categories. 

 

 

 

(4) Staffing and Employee Qualifications  



 
 
 

 
 

24 

 
During the required hours of operation, each FBO shall employ and have on duty sufficient staff to meet the 
Minimum Standards for each Commercial Aeronautical Activity provided.  However, multiple 
responsibilities may be assigned to Employees where feasible. Each FBO shall have at least two (2) 
Employees on duty at all times during hours of operation.  The FBO will provide to the Airport a current 
written statement of the names, addresses, telephone numbers and other necessary contact information 
for all personnel responsible for the operation and management of the FBO.  In addition, the Commission 
shall be provided a point-of-contact with phone numbers for emergency situations. 

 
All FBO Aircraft Fuel handling personnel shall be trained in the safe and proper handling, dispensing, and 
storage of Aircraft Fuel.  Acceptable training shall be NATA Safety 1st or an equivalent training program. 
 
(5) Insurance Requirements   
Each FBO shall maintain the types and amounts of insurance required by the Commission.  Except 
as otherwise required by the Commission, each FBO shall at all times maintain, at a minimum, the 
types of insurance in the amounts set forth in Appendix 2. 

(6) FBOs shall not engage in any Commercial Aeronautical Activity or service on the Airport 
premises without first obtaining a Lease, Permit or Agreement from the Commission in accordance 
with specifications established by the Commission.  All persons conducting Commercial 
Aeronautical Activities at the Airport shall, as a condition of conducting such activities, required to 
comply with the provisions contained in the minimum standards adopted by the Commission as 
modified from time to time, unless any such provisions are expressly waived or modified by the 
Commission in writing.  The mere omission of any particular minimum standard in a Lease, license, 
permit or Agreement shall not constitute a waiver or modification of the Minimum Standards unless 
the document expressly states that the Commission waives application of that standard. 

(7) FBOs shall not engage in any Commercial Aeronautical Activity not specifically authorized 
by the Commission. 

(8) FBOs shall follow all security regulations and requirements established by the Federal 
government, State government, local government and the Commission.  In addition, the Commission 
reserves the right to require that principal officers of an FBO, regardless of level of involvement in 
the actual operation of the FBO, and any employee of the FBO with direct, unescorted access to any 
building, aircraft parking apron, taxiway, runway, or any other facility inside the secured perimeter 
fence or facility providing access to the airfield at the Airport submit to a criminal history records 
check (CHRC), including fingerprinting, at the expense of the FBO.  The Commission may suspend 
the authority of an FBO to conduct business at the Airport if the results of the CHRC indicate that the 
individual poses a threat to the Airport, local community, State or nation. 

(9) Commercial Aeronautical Activities not addressed in these Minimum Standards will be 
addressed by the Commission on a case-by-case basis in the FBO’s written Lease, license, permit or 
Agreement. 



 
 
 

 
 

25 

(10) The Commission may waive or modify any portion of these Minimum Standards for the 
benefit of a governmental agency performing non-profit public services, fire protection, or emergency 
response operations or when it is determined that such waiver is in the best interest of the public and 
will not result in unjust discrimination against other Commercial Operators at the Airport. 

(11) The Commission as a matter of policy does not allow any “through-the-fence”.  The 
Commission intends to maintain the position of no “through-the-fence” operations in the future. 

(12) The Executive Director, or his/her designee, with the approval of the Commission, may make 
revisions and amendments to these Minimum Standards when business conditions at the Airport 
require and when necessary to comply with FAA, TSA or other governmental regulations.  

(13) The Commission has established these Minimum Standards for the Airport with the intent of 
providing fair and reasonable rules to govern the conduct of Commercial Aeronautical Activity on 
the Airport.  It is the intent of the Commission to provide consistent, uniform, and fair enforcement 
of these Minimum Standards to accomplish the Commission’s goals and promote successful 
commercial business operations at the Airport.  The Executive Director is responsible for and is 
hereby empowered to enforce these Minimum Standards. 

(14) Required FBO Services   

Each FBO shall be required to provide, at a minimum, the following services at the Airport: 

(a) Aircraft Fuel 
(1)  Each FBO must provide the sale and into-plane delivery of common and 

recognized brands of Aircraft Fuels, lubricants and other aviation petroleum 
products. Each FBO shall provide, store, and dispense 100LL/Avgas and Jet-A 
Aircraft Fuel. All equipment used for the storage and/or dispensing of Aircraft Fuel 
must meet all applicable Federal, State, local laws, rules and regulations. The 
location of the Aircraft Fuel Storage Area shall be in conformance with the 
Airport’s Master Plan and approved by the Commission. 

 
(2)  Each FBO shall manage/and provide a stationary Aircraft Fuel Storage Area 

encompassing a minimum of twenty-five thousand (25,000) square feet, with 
safety features, and filtration systems to ensure Aircraft Fuel quality. Each FBO 
shall ensure that all Aircraft Fuel is delivered clean, bright, pure and free of 
microscopic organisms, water, or other contaminants.  Ensuring the quality of the 
Aircraft Fuel is the sole responsibility of the FBO.  Fuel storage are must have 
proper signage to identity hazards and no smoking. 

 
(3) One 100LL AvGas fuel storage area tank with a minimum of twenty thousand 

(20,000) gallon capacity, two Jet-A fuel storage area tanks with a minimum of 
twenty thousand (20,000) gallon capacity each, and the FBO shall also provide 
adequate mobile or stationary dispensing equipment and two (2) or more 
personnel on duty 24-hours per day, seven (7) days a week, to serve the Airport’s 
Aircraft Fuel demand.  Filter-equipped Aircraft Fuel dispensers with separate 



 
 
 

 
 

26 

dispensing pumps and meter systems for each grade of Aircraft Fuel shall be 
provided.  All metering devices must be inspected, checked and certified annually 
by appropriate local and State agencies.  Aircraft Fuel storage facility tanks shall 
meet all applicable Federal, State and local laws, and the Rules and Regulations. 

 
1. Each FBO shall, at its own expense, maintain the Aircraft Fuel Storage Area, all 

improvements thereon, and all appurtenances thereto, in a presentable condition 
consistent with good business practices and in accordance with the appropriate 
rules, regulations and requirements at the time of construction and any mandated 
upgrades. 

 
(5) Each FBO shall provide two operating and fully functional Aircraft fueling trucks 

containing a minimum capacity of five thousand (5,000) gallons for Jet-A and 
seven hundred fifty (750) gallons for 100LL fuel.  Each Aircraft fueling vehicle shall 
be equipped with metering devices that meet all applicable Federal, State, local 
laws, rules and regulations.  One Aircraft fueling vehicle dispensing Jet-A Aircraft 
Fuel shall have over the wing and single point servicing capability and one truck 
shall be capable of dispensing 100LL fuel. 

 
(6) Each FBO shall operate an Aircraft Fuel Storage Area designed in accordance with 

all Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the State of South Carolina 
regulations including proper Aircraft Fuel spill prevention features and 
containment capabilities.  In addition, each FBO shall provide a current copy of 
their Aircraft Fuel spill prevention, countermeasures, and control plan (SPCCC) to 
the Commission thirty (30) days prior to commencing operations.  Aircraft Fuel 
inventories will be monitored in accordance with current EPA standards and 
inventory details will be provided to the Airport when requested including total of 
gallons delivered by type and date. 

 
(7)  Each FBO shall conduct the lawful, sanitary, and timely handling and disposal of all 

solid waste, regulated waste, and other materials including, but not limited to, 
sump Aircraft Fuel, used oil, solvents, and other regulated waste.  The piling and 
storage of crates, boxes, barrels, containers, refuse, and surplus property is not 
permitted upon the FBO Leased Premises. 

 
  (8)  The FBO shall develop and maintain Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) for 

Aircraft Fuel and ground handling operations and shall ensure compliance with 
standards set forth in FAA Advisory Circular 00-34, Aircraft Ground Handling and 
Servicing, as now or hereafter amended.  The SOP shall address bonding and fire 
protection, public protection, control of access to the Aircraft Fuel storage facility, 
and marking and labeling of Aircraft Fuel storage tanks and Aircraft Fuel 
dispensing equipment, and shall be submitted to the Commission prior to the FBO 
commencing Fueling activities. 
 

(9) Additionally, each FBO shall comply with the FAA Advisory Circular 150/5230-4, 
Aircraft Fuel Storage, Handling, and Dispensing on Airports, Airport Rules and 



 
 
 

 
 

27 

Regulations, and all other applicable Federal, State and local laws related to 
Aircraft Fuel handling, dispensing, sale and storage.  Each FBO shall obtain all 
applicable Aircraft Fueling certifications and permits, and receive periodic 
refresher training as required. The Commission and/or the FAA may periodically 
conduct inspections of the FBO activities and facilities to ensure compliance with 
all applicable laws and regulations, and these Minimum Standards. 

  
(10) Each FBO shall provide an adequate supply of properly located, type, size and 

operable fire extinguishers and other safety equipment. All fire extinguisher 
certifications must be current. fire extinguishers shall be maintained within all 
hangars, on FBO Apron areas, at Aircraft Fuel Storage Area, and on all ground 
handling and Aircraft Fueling Vehicles as required by applicable State and local 
fire codes for the type of operations conducted. 

 
(11) Each FBO shall provide monthly Aircraft Fuel inventory reconciliation reports to 

the Commission listing the total amounts of Aircraft Fuel delivered to and 
dispensed from the Aircraft Fuel Storage Area.   



 
 
 

 
 

28 

(b) Aircraft Line Services 

Each FBO shall provide necessary equipment, supplies, and trained personnel for FBO Apron 
assistance, towing, parking, and tiedowns, within the FBO Leased Premises.  Equipment shall 
be sufficient to facilitate the handling of Aircraft up to and including corporate jets as defined 
by FAA Category ARC C-III.  Minimum equipment shall consist of two (2) tugs, one (1) 
ground power unit, one lavatory cart, one universal tow bar, and one tow bar with changeable 
heads for turbine aircraft. 

Recognizing that General Aviation Aircraft removal is the responsibility of the Aircraft 
Owner/operator, the FBO shall be prepared to lend assistance within thirty (30) minutes upon 
request in order to maintain the operational readiness of the Airport.  The FBO shall prepare 
an Aircraft removal plan and have the equipment available that is necessary to remove General 
Aviation Aircraft normally frequenting the Airport within thirty (30) minutes following the 
incident or accident. 

Each FBO shall provide passenger, crew, and Aircraft ground services, support and amenities; 
the following services and concessions shall be inside the FBO terminal building located 
within the FBO Leased Premises: 

(1) Customer service counter stocked with basic pilots supplies; 

(2) Public lounge and waiting area; 

(3) Flight planning work area with Flight Service Station and weather service communication links;  
(4) Public telephones; 

(5) Crew car; 

(6) Snack food and beverage machines; and 

(7) Local ground transportation contacts.  

 

(c) Airframe and Power Plant Maintenance  

Each FBO or sublessee of FBO engaging in Airframe and Power Plant Maintenance shall:  
 

(1) Operate the service from a minimum twelve thousand (12,000) square feet of 
ventilated hangar and shop space and have immediate access to customer lounge, public 
telephones, and restrooms.  
 
(2) Have an additional one–thousand five-hundred (1,500) square feet for 
management, record keeping and reception areas.  



 
 
 

 
 

29 

 
(3) Employ and have on-duty a minimum of two (2) FAA certified technicians who 
possess an airframe, power plant, or Aircraft inspector rating as specified in 14 CFR Part 65, 
as now or hereafter amended, or the maintenance facility shall be certified under and 
satisfy all the requirements as specified in 14 CFR Part 145, as now or hereafter amended. 
 
(4) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8) hours daily, five 
(5) days a week. A technician shall also be available twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) 
days a week on-call for emergencies, with a response time of not more than one (1) hours. 
If more than one (1) Airframe and Power Plant Maintenance facility is located on the 
Airport, this responsibility may be rotated on a mutually agreeable rotating on-call 
schedule.  
 
(5) Provide equipment, supplies and parts required for Aircraft airframe, power plant, 
inspection, tire, battery, oxygen, and other routine Aircraft maintenance functions 
appropriate for the type of Aircraft serviced.  

 
 (d) Aircraft Storage Hangars  

 
 Each FBO or sublessee of FBO engaging in Aircraft storage hangar activities shall: 
 

(1) Lease the necessary amount of land to accommodate the proper quantity and required 
size of hangars. The minimum land area shall be at the sole discretion of the 
Commission and shall be dependent upon the number and size of hangars proposed.  

 
(2) Each Aircraft hangar must be a minimum of (12,000) square feet with one thousand 

five hundred square feet (1,500) of office, and storage area. 
 

(3) Provide contact name and phone numbers, hangar availability, and rental rates known 
to prospective customers via posted informational sign inside each FBO terminal.  

 
(4) Provide a listing of all Aircraft stored within the FBO’s or sublessee’s hangar facilities to 

the Commission semi-annually.   
 
(5)  Ensure that hangar tenants only perform preventive Aircraft maintenance within the 

hangar on their own Aircraft to the extent permitted in 14 CFR Part 43, as now or 
hereafter amended. Painting, welding, and any type of Hazardous Material storage 
shall not be permitted within Aircraft hangars unless authorized specifically by the 
Commission in writing. The piling and storage of crates, boxes, barrels, containers, 
refuse, and surplus property shall not be permitted. 

 
(6) Provide a waste oil receptacle within the immediate vicinity of the hangar(s). This 

receptacle shall be capable of holding a minimum of fifty (50) gallons, have secondary 
containment protection and be emptied at regular intervals and be in compliance with 
all regulatory requirements as now or hereafter amended. 

 



 
 
 

 
 

30 

 (e) Optional FBO Services 

 Each FBO may provide Aeronautical Activities at the Airport in addition to the required FBO 
services with the consent of the Commission, which may include, but are not necessarily 
limited to, the services listed below. Any FBO providing optional FBO services, either 
directly or through a sublessee or subcontractor, shall comply with the standards set forth in 
this Section, in addition to all other applicable Minimum Standards.  

Type of Activity Minimum Office Space Minimum Hangar Space 
Flight Training 500 Not required 
Air Charter, Air Taxi or Aircraft 
Management Operations 

500 Not required 

Aircraft Rental 500 Not required 
Avionics Sales and Maintenance 500 5,000 

 

 (f) Flight Training  

Each FBO or sublessee of an FBO engaging in Flight Training Services shall:  

(1) Operate the service from a minimum of five hundred (500) square feet of classroom 
and office space within the FBO Leased Premises, and have immediate access to 
customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 

 
(2) Employ and make available at least one (1) or more FAA certified flight instructors as 

necessary to meet the Flight Training demand and schedule requirements. 
 

(3) Own or lease one (1) or more airworthy Aircraft necessary to meet the Flight Training 
demand and schedule requirements. Aircraft may be fixed or rotary wing. 

 
(4) Flight Training operations shall include adequate mock-ups, pictures, slides, filmstrips, 

movies, videotapes, or other training aides necessary to provide proper and effective 
ground school instruction.  

 
 
 (g) Air Charter, Air Taxi and Aircraft Management Operations 
 
 Each FBO or sublessee of FBO engaging in Air Charter, Air Taxi or Aircraft Management Operations 

shall: 
 

(1) Operate the service from not less than five hundred (500) square feet of office space 
within the FBO Leased Premises and have immediate access to customer lounge, public 
telephones, and restrooms. 

 



 
 
 

 
 

31 

(2) Employ and make available at least two (2) employees who hold current FAA 
commercial pilot certificates and current Class I or II medical certificates and ratings 
appropriate for each Aircraft listed on its operating certificate.  In addition, all flight 
personnel shall be properly rated for the Aircraft operated.  

 
(3)    Have dispatch capability within four (4) hours of a customer request.  

 
(4) Be open and services available five (5) days per week, eight (8) hours per day. 

 
(5) Own or lease or manage at least two (2) certified and continuously airworthy 

instrument qualified multi-engine Aircraft. 
 

(6) Have and display in the public office, a current 14 CFR Part 135 Air Taxi Certificate or 
provisional FAR Part 135 Certificate, in addition to, the Aircraft identification page from 
the operating specifications manual of each Aircraft listed on the certificate. 

 
(7) Have and display in the public office a current copy of 14 CFR Part 133 for rotorcraft 

operations detailing the external-loading requirements.   
 

(8) Aircraft Management activities must be operated in accordance with the provision as 
specified in 14 CFR Part 91 as now or hereafter amended. 

 

(h) Aircraft Rental   

 Each FBO or sublessee of FBO engaging in Aircraft Rental services shall: 
 

(1) Operate the service in a minimum of five hundred (500) square feet of office space 
within the FBO Leased Premises and have immediate access to customer lounge, public 
telephones, and restrooms. 

 
(2) Employ and have on duty at least one (1) employee having a current commercial pilot 

certificate with appropriate ratings, including instructor rating.  
(3) Keep the premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8) hours per day, 

six (6) days a week. 
 

(4)  Have available for rental or use in Flight Training, either owned or leased and under 
exclusive control of Commercial Operator, a minimum of two (2) certified and 
airworthy Aircraft.   

 
 (i) Avionics Sales and Maintenance   

 
 Each FBO or sublessee of FBO engaging in Avionics Sales and Maintenance shall: 

 
(1) Operate the service in a minimum of five thousand (5000) square feet of space for 

operations, bench testing and administration within the FBO Leased Premises have 
immediate access to customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms.  



 
 
 

 
 

32 

 
(2) Have an additional five hundred (500) square feet of ventilated hangar and shop space 

to work on Aircraft. 
 

(3) Employ and have on duty at least one (1) trained and FAA certified technician.  
 

(4) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of eight (8) hours a day, five (5) 
days a week.  

 
(5) Hold the appropriate FAA repair station certificates for the types of Equipment 

serviced and/or installed. 
 



 
 
 

 
 

33 

SECTION R - Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance Services 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
A Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance Services SASO engages in line maintenance on 
scheduled or unscheduled air carrier aircraft operating at the Airport. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1)  The SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of one thousand (1,000five 
hundred (500) square feet of space on the Airport. 
 
(2)  The SASO shall provide not less than one (1) qualified and certified employee on 
duty either at the Airport or on call in accordance with the hours of operation. 
 
(3)  The SASO shall have all of the necessary equipment and tools to work on commercial 
aircraft scheduled to the Airport. 
 
(4)  The SASO shall have on-airport personnel from the hours 4:30 a.m. -to midnight 
daily, and be able to respond within 30 minutes of a call to the airport between the hours of 
midnight and 4:30 a.m. daily. 



 
 
 

 
 

34 

APPENDIX 1 
Section 18 - Commercial All Cargo Aircraft Ground Handling Services 

 
Statement of Concept 
 
A Commercial All Cargo Aircraft Ground Handling Services SASO engages in commercial 
cargo ground handling services on scheduled or unscheduled cargo aircraft operating at 
the Airport. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) The SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of forty thousand (40,000) square 
feet of warehouse space and three thousand (3,000) square feet of office on the Airport. 
 
(2) The SASO shall provide sufficient trained staffing at the Airport during the hours of 
operation with following certifications: 
 

• DG Cat 6 
• ISAGO or airline training 
• ACMR 

 
(3) The SASO shall have all of the necessary equipment and tools to service commercial 
cargo aircraft scheduled to the Airport, excluding into-plane delivery of fuel that will be 
provided by the FBO.  However, at a minimum, the SASO shall have the following 
equipment on-airport: 
 

• (2) 75,000 lb. DBP pushback tractors 
• (5) 5,000 lb. DBP tow tractors 
• (50) PMC/PAG compatible cargo dollies 
• (10) PGA/PRA compatible cargo dollies 
• (2) baggage carts 
• (50) PMC/PAG static racks 
• Dolly height transfer deck system with landside roller bed loading/unloading 

capability 
• Widebody aircraft belt loaders 
• (2) loaders capable of servicing main and lower decks of a widebody freighter 

aircraft  
• (2) 2-ton forklifts 
• (1) 5-ton forklifts 
• (1) 10-ton forklifts 
• 7.5-ton 10’ cargo pancake scale 
• (1) 15-ton 20’ cargo pancake scale 
• Dual plug 120 KVA GPU 



 
 
 

 
 

35 

• 270 PPM ASU 
• A/C cart 
• (1) lavatory cart 
• Potable water cart 
• (2) de-icing trucks 
• Widebody aircraft crew stairs 
• Narrow body aircraft crew stairs 
• B-747 tailstand 
• B-747 towbars 
• B-737 towbars 
• B-777/767 towbars 
• B-727 towbar 
• MD-11/DC-10 towbar 
• A-330/340 towbar 

 
 
(4) The SASO shall have on-airport warehouse personnel from the hours 6:00 a.m. to 
10:00 p.m. daily and provide ramp service hours 24 hours per day. 
 
  



 
 
 

 
 

36 

 
Section 19 – Fixed Base Operator (FBO) 

 
District has elected to utilize its Exclusive Right as permitted by FAA to provide this 
service(s) at the Airport. 

 
  



 
 
 

 
 

39 

APPENDIX 
Appendix 2 

FIXED BASE OPERATOR MINIMUM INSURANCE STANDARDS 
GSP AIRPORT 

 
 
WORKERS’ COMPENSATION: 
 Coverage A:  Statutory coverage in the State of South Carolina 
 
 Coverage B:  Employers Liability:  

Bodily Injury by Accident $1,000,000 each accident 
   Bodily Injury by Disease $1,000,000 policy limit 

    Bodily Injury by Disease $1,000,000 each employee 
 
 Other States:  All States endorsement except State Fund states.  
 

Voluntary Compensation Endorsement: Coverage to apply in the State of Hire. 
 
Policy should include a Waiver of Subrogation in favor of Commission and Airport 

 
 
AIRPORT LIABILITY: 
 Combined Single Limit: 
 Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit  $25,000,000 
 Personal Injury & Advertising Injury Aggregate Limit $25,000,000 
 Incidental Malpractice Liability Aggregate Limit  $25,000,000 
 Each Occurrence Limit  `   $25,000,000 
 Fire Damage Liability Any One Fire    $     100,000 
 Medical Expense Limit Any One Person   $         5,000 

Hangarkeepers Limit Any One Aircraft   $25,000,000   
Hangarkeepers Limit Any One Occurrence   $25,000,000 
General and Contractual Liability for Lease Agreement  $25,000,000 
Host Liquor Liability      $25,000,000 
 
Maximum Deductibles to be negotiated 

 
The FBO shall provide the Commission with a certificate of insurance annually. All insurance policies 
shall contain indemnification and hold harmless language that covers the Commission, Airport and 
its employees, as additional insured with respect to liability arising from activities performed by or 
on behalf of the FBO. 

 
Note: Endorsement to define the Indemnity Agreement in the lease as an INSURED CONTRACT under the 
terms of the policy. 
 
AIRCRAFT LIABILITY: 

Combined Single Limit      



 
 
 

 
 

40 

Covering all aircraft used in the FBO’s business        $10,000,000 
 

Non-Owned Aircraft Liability-Ground   $10,000,000 
Non-owned Aircraft Liability-Flight (if applicable)  $10,000,000 
  
The Commission, its employees, agents, Board of Commissioners and the Airport 
shall be endorsed as additional insureds with regard to liability coverage. 

 
 
AIRCRAFT HULL: 
 Policy should include a Waiver of Subrogation in favor of GSP 
 
 
AUTOMOBILE: 
 Combined Single Limit     $5,000,000 
 
 Hired and Non-Owned Liability coverage   $5,000,000 
 
 Symbol 1 providing liability coverage for “Any Vehicle” 
 
 Policy should include a Wavier of Subrogation in  
 favor of GSP for Physical Damage coverage- 
 Comprehensive and Collision 

 
The Commission, its employees, agents, Board of Commissioners and the Airport 
shall be endorsed as additional insureds with regard to liability coverage. 

 
 
PROPERTY INSURANCE: 

Special Form Coverage in the amount of the Replacement Cost of the building. 
 
Coverage to be on a Replacement Cost basis. 
 
Agreed Amount Endorsement deleting co-insurance requirement. 
 
Business Interruption/Extra Expense Coverage as required to guarantee the uninterrupted payment 
of rental fees. 

  
 Airport as named Insured As Their Interests May Appear.  

 



 
 
 

 
 

41 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPAIRMENT LIABILITY: 
 Coverage and limits to be negotiated. 
 

Evidence of all required coverage to be furnished in the form of a Certificate of Insurance with 30 
notice of cancellation or material reduction in coverage in favor of  GSP. 
 
All underwriters to have a Best’s rating of A VIII or higher. 
 

 

 



 
 

 

 
 

42 

APPENDIX 3 

Minimum Requirements for a Business Plan: 
 
1.  List all services that are proposed to be offered. 
 
2. Details on the amount of land desired to lease. 
 
3. Building space that will be constructed or leased. 
 
4. Number of aircraft that will be provided. 
 
5. Equipment and special tooling to be provided. 
 
6. Number of persons to be employed. 
 
7. Short resume for each of the owners and financial backers. 
 
8. Short resume of the manager of the business (if different from "7" above) including 

this person's experience and background in managing a business of this nature. 
 
9. Periods (days and hours) of proposed operation. 
 
10. Amounts and types of insurance coverage to be maintained (see requirements in 

Minimum Standards). 
 
11. Evidence of the projections for the first year and the succeeding four (4) years. 
 
12. Methods to be used to attract new business (advertising and incentives). 
 
13. Amenities to be provided to attract business. 
 
14. Plans for physical expansion, if business should warrant such expansion. 

WCSR  2582536v6 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 4 
Minimum Standards 

 
Section 1 – Preamble and Policy 

 
 
These Minimum Standards for Commercial Aeronautical Service Providers (“Minimum 
Standards”) have been formulated and adopted by the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport 
District (the “District”) for the Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport, hereinafter 
referred to as “Airport”. This supersedes all previous documents of its kind and was 
officially adopted on June 24, 2019. 
 
These Minimum Standards are intended to be the minimum threshold entry requirements 
for those wishing to provide commercial aeronautical services to the public and to ensure 
that those who have undertaken to provide commodities and services as approved are not 
exposed to unfair or irresponsible competition.  
 
These Minimum Standards were developed taking into consideration the aviation role of 
the Airport, facilities that currently exist at the Airport, services being offered at the 
Airport, and the future development planned for the Airport, and to promote fair 
competition. The uniform application of these Minimum Standards, containing the 
minimum levels of service that must be offered by the prospective service provider, 
protects the established aeronautical activity and Airport patrons and enhances the public 
interest by both encouraging growth of business at the Airport and discouraging 
substandard operations. 
 
These standards were developed in accordance with the Federal Aviation Administration 
(“FAA”) Advisory Circular 150/5190-7, dated August 28, 2006. The Airport will annually 
review and regularly update this document as necessary as required by activities on the 
Airport or as regulations are changed. Any existing commercial aeronautical service 
provider currently under a fully executed and approved lease will not be required to meet 
the standards until at such time that the service provider’s lease with the Airport is 
modified, renewed, or a change in the service provider’s ownership of 51 percent or more 
occurs. 
 
These Minimum Standards shall apply to all Commercial Aeronautical Service Providers, 
with the exceptions noted below.   These Minimum Standards do not apply to: 
 

• The District itself; 
 

• Certificated air carriers providing scheduled passenger and/or cargo service 
operating under a separate lease and/or agreement with the Airport; 

 
 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 5 
Minimum Standards 

• Non-aeronautical commercial service providers such as restaurants, rental cars, 
concessions, taxis, Airport shuttles, etc., located on or otherwise serving the 
Airport; 
 

• Non-commercial Airport tenants, including private aircraft owners and operators 
operating under 14 CFR Part 91, except as noted below; 

 
• Aircraft operators and service providers that are not based at the Airport but that 

use the Airport on a transient or itinerant basis and comply with all other applicable 
rules, regulations, and procedures of the District. 

 
  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 9 
Minimum Standards 

In 1996, all references to the FARs were changed to “14 CFR” (Title 14 of the Code 
of Federal Regulations). 
 
(5) State - the State of South Carolina. 
 
(6) TSA - The Transportation Security Agency. 
 

2.4 – Fueling 
 
(1) Aircraft Fueling Vehicle - any vehicle used by the FBO for the transportation, 
delivery and dispensing of Aircraft Fuel. 
 
(2) Fueling or Fuel Handling - the transportation, sale, delivery, dispensing, storage, 
or draining of fuel or fuel waste products to or from aircraft, vehicles, or 
equipment. 
 
(3) Fuel Storage Area - any portion of the Airport designated temporarily or 
permanently by the District as an area in which aviation or motor vehicle gasoline 
or any other type of fuel or fuel additive may be stored or loaded. 
 
(4) Self-Service Fueling - the commercial operation of an unmanned stationary fuel 
tank and dispensing equipment for general use via a card reader. This includes the 
operations of anyone utilizing this type of equipment to provide fuel for sale or 
reuse. 
 

2.5 – Lease and Agreements 
 
(1) Lease - the written contract between the District and an Operator (“Lessee”) 
specifying the terms and conditions under which an Operator may occupy and 
operate from certain Airport facilities and/or property. 
 
(2) Sublease - A written agreement, approved by the District, stating the terms and 
conditions under which a third-party Operator leases space from a Lessee 
(“Sublessee”) for the purpose of providing aeronautical services at the Airport. 
 
(3) Agreement - the written agreement between the District and an Operator 
specifying the terms and conditions under which the Operator may conduct 
commercial aviation activities. Such Agreement will recite the terms and conditions 
under which the activity will be conducted at the Airport including, but not limited 
to, term of the Agreement; rents, fees, and charges to be paid; and the right and 
obligations of the respective parties. 
 
(4) Permit - administrative approval issued by the District to a person or company 
to conduct a commercial aeronautical activity, and provide such services, to based 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 10 
Minimum Standards 

and transient aircraft, only from facilities and locations where such services are 
authorized. 
 
(5) Person - an individual, corporation, firm, partnership, association, organization, 
and any other group acting as an entity, to conduct business on the Airport. Person 
includes a trustee, receiver, assignee or similar representative. 
 

2.6 – Services 
 
(1) Avionics Sales and Maintenance - the commercial operation of providing for the 
repair and service, or installation of aircraft radios, instruments and accessories. 
Such operation may include the sale of new or used aircraft radios, instruments and 
accessories. 
 
(2) Fixed Base Operator (“FBO) -”) – the District has elected to utilize its Exclusive 
Right as permitted by FAA to provide this service(s) at the Airport. 
 
(3) Flight Training – the commercial operation of instructing pilots in dual and solo 
flight, in fixed or rotary wing aircraft, and related ground school instruction as 
necessary to complete a FAA written pilot’s examination and flight check ride for 
various categories of pilots licenses and ratings. Flight Training shall also include 
any portion of a flight between two or more airports or other destinations where 
the primary purpose is to increase or maintain pilot or crew member proficiency. 
 
(4) Flying Club – a non-commercial and nonprofit entity organized for the purpose 
of providing its members with any number of aircraft for their personal use and 
enjoyment. Aircraft must be vested in the name of the flying club owners on a pro-
rata share, and the club may not derive greater revenue from the use of the aircraft 
than the cost to operate, maintain, and replace the aircraft. 
 
(5) Preventive Aircraft Maintenance – maintenance that is not considered a major 
aircraft alteration or repair and does not involve complex assembly operations as 
listed in 14 CFR Part 43, except for Item 22 in the Regulation. Item 22 involves the 
replacement of prefabricated fuel lines, and shall, for purposes of these regulations, 
be considered a major aircraft repair. 
 
(6) Self-Service – aircraft refueling, repair, preventive maintenance, towing, 
adjustment, cleaning, and general services performed by an aircraft owner or 
his/her employees on his/her aircraft with resources supplied by the aircraft owner. 
 
(7) Specialized Aviation Service Operations (“SASO”) - a commercial aeronautical 
business that is authorized to offer a single or limited service according to 
established Minimum Standards. Examples of a SASO include, but are not limited 
to, the following commercial aeronautical activities: Flight Training, Airframe and 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 12 
Minimum Standards 

SECTION 3 – Minimum Standards for Specialized Aviation Service Operations 
(SASOs) 

 
The following shall apply to all prospective aeronautical service providers wishing to 
become a SASO at the Airport. 

 
(1) Leases shall be for a term to be mutually agreed upon between the parties with 
due consideration for the financial investment and the need to amortize 
improvements to the leasehold. 
 
(2) A person shall have such business background and shall have demonstrated 
his/her business capability to the satisfaction of, and in such manner as to meet 
with the approval of the District. 
 
(3) Any prospective entity seeking to conduct Commercial Aeronautical Activity at 
the Airport should demonstrate in writing and notarized financial detail that they 
have adequate resources to realize the business objectives agreed to by the District 
and the applicant. 
 
(4) The prospective SASO, as defined, shall have its premises open and services 
available from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. at least five (5) days a week unless otherwise 
indicated or approved by the District. The schedule may be reduced during major 
holidays, as approved by the District. 
 
(5) All prospective SASOs shall demonstrate to the District’s satisfaction evidence of 
its ability to acquire insurance coverage as stipulated for each particular type of 
operation. A SASO should make its own analysis to determine if more is needed. 
However, such policies of insurance shall be maintained in full force and effect 
during all terms of existing Leases, Agreements or business license or renewals or 
extensions thereof with a 30-calendar day notice of cancellation to the Airport. Such 
policies shall not be less than the amounts listed in APPENDIX 1; however, in all 
cases, must meet the statutory requirements of applicable governmental agencies 
and be approved in writing by the District. 
 
(6) Each SASO shall have in its employ, and on duty during required operating 
hours, trained personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum 
Standards in an efficient manner for each aeronautical service being performed. 
 
(7) SASOs shall not engage in any Commercial Aeronautical Activity or service on 
the Airport premises without first obtaining a Lease, Permit, or Agreement from the 
District in accordance with specifications established by the District. All persons 
conducting Commercial Aeronautical Activities at the Airport shall, as a condition of 
conducting such activities, required to comply with the provisions contained in the 
minimum standards adopted by the District as modified from time to time, unless 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 13 
Minimum Standards 

any such provisions are expressly waived or modified by the District in writing. The 
mere omission of any particular minimum standard in a Lease, license, permit, or 
Agreement shall not constitute a waiver or modification of the Minimum Standards 
unless the document expressly states that the District waives application of that 
standard. 
 
(8) SASOs shall not engage in any Commercial Aeronautical Activity not specifically 
authorized by the District. 
 
(9) SASOs shall follow all security regulations and requirements established by the 
Federal government, State government, local government and the District. In 
addition, the District reserves the right to require that principal officers of a SASO, 
regardless of level of involvement in the actual operation of the SASO, and any 
employee of the SASO with direct, unescorted access to any building, aircraft 
parking apron, taxiway, runway, or any other facility inside the secured perimeter 
fence or facility providing access to the airfield at the Airport submit to a criminal 
history records check (“CHRC”), including fingerprinting, at the expense of the 
SASO. The District may suspend the authority of a SASO to conduct business at the 
Airport if the results of the CHRC indicate that the individual poses a threat to the 
Airport, local community, State or nation. 
 
(10) Commercial Aeronautical Activities not addressed in these Minimum Standards 
will be addressed by the District on a case-by-case basis in the SASO’s written 
Lease, license, permit or Agreement. 
 
(11) The District may waive or modify any portion of these Minimum Standards for 
the benefit of a governmental agency performing non-profit public services, fire 
protection, or emergency response operations or when it is determined that such 
waiver is in the best interest of the public and will not result in unjust discrimination 
against other Commercial Operators at the Airport. 
 
(12) The District as a matter of policy does not allow any “through-the-fence” 
operations. The District intends to maintain the position of no “through-the-fence” 
operations in the future. 
 
(13) The President/CEO, or his/her designee, with the approval of the District, may 
make revisions and amendments to these Minimum Standards when business 
conditions at the Airport require and when necessary to comply with FAA, TSA, or 
other governmental regulations. 
 
(14) The District has established these Minimum Standards for the Airport with the 
intent of providing fair and reasonable rules to govern the conduct of Commercial 
Aeronautical Activity on the Airport. It is the intent of the District to provide 
consistent, uniform, and fair enforcement of these Minimum Standards to 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 14 
Minimum Standards 

accomplish the District’s goals and promote successful commercial business 
operations at the Airport. The President/CEO is responsible for and is hereby 
empowered to enforce these Minimum Standards. 
 
(15) In the event of a direct conflict between these Minimum Standards and any 
Agreement entered into prior to the Effective Date, the Agreement shall govern to 
the extent of such conflict. The Minimum Standards are not intended to alter or 
change rights of any party under any Agreement in effect prior to the Effective Date 
of these Minimum Standards. 
 

  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 18 
Minimum Standards 

Section 6 – Aircraft Sales 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
New Aircraft Sales: An aircraft sales SASO engages in the sale of new aircraft through 
franchises or licensed dealerships (if required by local, county or State authority) or 
distributorship (either on a retail or wholesale basis) of an aircraft manufacturer or used 
aircraft; and provides such repair, services, and parts as necessary to meet any guarantee 
or warranty on aircraft sold. 
 
Used Aircraft Sales: Many entities engage in the purchasing and selling of used aircraft. 
This is accomplished through various methods including matching potential purchasers 
with an aircraft (brokering), assisting a customer in the purchase or sale of an aircraft, or 
purchasing used aircraft and marketing them to potential purchasers. In many cases these 
SASOs also provide such repair, services, and parts as necessary to support the operation 
of aircraft sold. Some of the requirements may not be appropriate to the sale of used 
aircraft because of each aircraft's unique history. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) A SASO engaging in this activity shall provide necessary and satisfactory arrangements 
for repair and servicing of aircraft, but only for the duration of any sales guarantee or 
warranty period. The SASO shall provide an adequate inventory of spare parts for the type 
of new aircraft for which sales privileges are granted. The SASO who is in the business of 
selling new aircraft shall have available a representative example of the product. 
 
(2) A SASO shall have in his employ, on duty during business hours, trained personnel in 
such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum Standards set forth in an efficient 
manner. The SASO shall also maintain, during all business hours, a responsible person in 
charge to supervise the operations in the leased area with the authorization to represent 
and act for and on behalf of the SASO, and to provide check ride pilots for aircraft sold. 
 

(a) SASO shall operate the service in a minimum of five hundred (500) square feet 
of office space on the Airport and have immediate access to customer lounge, 
public telephones, and restrooms. Operator must lease or sublease a minimum tie 
down area to accommodate at least two (2) of the largest of the aircraft authorized 
for sale. If the operator leases hangar space for the storage of sale aircraft this 
provision is waived. 
 
(b) Employ and have on duty at least one (1) qualified aircraft salesperson and 
access to a demonstration pilot that has a current commercial pilot certificate with 
appropriate aircraft type ratings. 

 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 19 
Minimum Standards 

(c) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of nine (9) hours daily, 
five (5) days a week.  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 20 
Minimum Standards 

Section 7 – Aircraft Airframe, Engine and Accessory Maintenance and Repair 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
An aircraft airframe, engine and accessory maintenance and repair SASO provides 
one or a combination of airframe, engine and accessory overhauls and repair 
services on aircraft up to annual inspections. This SASO may include all types of 
piston and turbine aircraft, business Jet aircraft and helicopters. This category shall 
also include the sale of aircraft parts and accessories. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) The SASO shall provide sufficient equipment, supplies, manuals and availability 
of parts equivalent to that required for certification by the FAA. 
 
(2) The SASO shall have in its employ, and on duty during the appropriate business 
hours, trained personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum 
Standards set forth in this category of services in an efficient manner, but never 
less than one person currently certificated by the FAA with ratings appropriate to 
the work being performed and who holds an airframe and power plant rating and is 
an inspector authorized by the FAA. 
 

(a) Operate the service from a minimum of twelve thousand (12,000) square 
feet of ventilated hangar and shop space on the Airport and have immediate 
access to customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 
 
(b) Employ and have on-duty a minimum of two (2) FAA certified technicians 
who possess an airframe, power plant, or aircraft inspector rating, or the 
maintenance facility must be certified under 14 CFR Part 145. 

 
(c) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of nine (9) hours 
daily, five (5) days a week. A technician shall also be available on-call 
twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week for emergency 
purposes only. If more than one (1) maintenance facility is located on Airport 
the on-call responsibility may be rotated on a mutually agreeable schedule as 
approved by the District. 

 
(d) Provide equipment, supplies and parts required for aircraft airframe, 
power plant, inspection, tire, battery, oxygen, and other routine aircraft 
maintenance functions. 

 
(e) Provide a waste oil receptacle within the immediate vicinity of the 
hangar(s). This receptacle shall be capable of holding a minimum of fifty 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 21 
Minimum Standards 

(50) gallons, have secondary containment protection and be emptied at 
regular intervals and be in compliance with all regulatory requirements as 
now or hereafter amended. 

  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 22 
Minimum Standards 

Section 8 – Aircraft Lease and Rental 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
An Aircraft lease and rental SASO engages in the rental or lease of Aircraft to the public. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
Aircraft: 
 

(1) The SASO shall have available for rental, either owned or under written lease, 
two (2) certificated and currently airworthy aircraft, one (1) of which must be a 
four-place aircraft, and one (1) of which must be equipped for and capable of flight 
under Instrument Flight Rules (“IFR”). 

 
(a) SASO shall operate the service in a minimum five hundred (500) square 
feet of office space on the Airport and have immediate access to customer 
lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. Arrange for or lease ramp or 
hangar space for Aircraft available for lease or rental. 
 
(b) Employ and have on duty at least two (2) persons having a current 
commercial pilot certificate with appropriate ratings, including instructor 
rating. 
 
(c) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of nine (9) hours 
daily, seven (7) days a week. 

  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 23 
Minimum Standards 

Section 9 – Flight Training 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
A flight training SASO engages in instructing pilots in dual and solo flight training, in fixed 
and/or rotary wing aircraft, and provides such related ground school instruction as is 
necessary and preparatory to taking a written examination and flight check ride for the 
category or categories of pilots' licenses and ratings involved. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) The SASO shall have available for use in flight training, either owned or under written 
lease to SASO, properly certificated aircraft, one (1) of which must be a four-place aircraft, 
and one (1) of which must be equipped for and capable of use in IFR conditions. 
 
(2) The SASO shall have, on a full-time basis, at least two flight instructors who have been 
properly certificated by the FAA to provide the type of training offered. 
 

(a) SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of five hundred (500) square 
feet of classroom and office space on the Airport and have immediate access to 
customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 

 
(b) A minimum of one certified flight instructor shall be on duty during business 
hours and one shall be available on call. 

 
(c) Flight training operations shall include mock-ups, pictures, slides, filmstrips, 
movies, videotapes, or other training aides necessary to provide proper and 
effective ground school instruction. All materials shall meet FAA requirements for 
the training offered. 

 
(d) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of nine (9) hours daily, 
seven (7) days a week. 

  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 24 
Minimum Standards 

Section 10 – Avionics, Instruments or Propeller Repair Station 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
An avionics, instrument, or propeller repair station SASO engages in the business of and 
provides a shop for the sales and repair of aircraft avionics, propellers, instruments, and 
accessories for General Aviation Aircraft. This category may include the sale of new or 
used aircraft avionics, propellers, instruments, and accessories. The SASO shall hold the 
appropriate repair station certificates issued by FAA for the types of equipment it plans to 
service and/or install. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) The SASO shall have in its employ and on duty during the appropriate business hours 
trained personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum Standards set 
forth in this category in an efficient manner but never less than one person who is a FAA 
rated radio, instrument or propeller repairman. 
 

(a) SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of five thousand (5,000) square 
feet of ventilated hangar and shop space on the Airport and have immediate access 
to customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 

 
(b) Employ and have on-duty during business hours a minimum of two (2) persons, 
at least one (1) of which shall be an FAA certified radio, instrument or propeller 
technician. 

 
(c) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of nine (9) hours daily,  
five (5) days a week. 

 
(d) Provide equipment, supplies and parts required for avionics work. 

  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 25 
Minimum Standards 

Section 11 – Aircraft Charter and/or Air Taxi 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
An unscheduled or scheduled Air Charter or Air Taxi SASO engages in the business of 
providing air transportation (persons or property) to the general public for hire, on an 
unscheduled or scheduled basis under the Federal Aviation Regulations set forth in the 
Code of Federal Regulations CFR 14 Part 135. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 

(1) The SASO shall provide, either owned or under written lease to the SASO, not 
less than one (1) certified and airworthy single engine, four-place aircraft and one 
multi-engine aircraft, both of which must be certificated for IFR operations. Such 
SASO shall have and display a current FAR Part 135 Certificate. 

 
(2) The SASO shall have in his employ and on duty during the appropriate business 
hours trained personnel in such numbers as are required to meet the Minimum 
Standards set forth in this category in an efficient manner but never less than two 
(2) persons who are FAA certified commercial pilots and otherwise appropriately 
rated to permit the flight activity offered by SASO. This SASO shall operate from the 
following type facilities: 

 
(a) SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of five hundred (500) 
square feet of office space on the Airport and have immediate access to 
customer lounge, public telephones, and restrooms. 

 
(b) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of nine (9) hours 
daily, five (5) days a week. 

  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 27 
Minimum Standards 

SECTION 13 – Specialized Commercial Flying Services 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
A specialized commercial flying services SASO engages in air transportation for hire for the 
purpose of providing the use of aircraft for the following activities: 
 

(a) Non-stop sightseeing flights that begin and end at the same airport. 
 
(b) Aerial photography or survey. 
 
(c) Power line or pipe line patrol. 
 
(d) Aircraft management. 
 
(e) Any other operations specifically excluded from Part 135 of the Federal Aviation 
Regulations. 

 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) The SASO shall lease from the Airport or the FBO a building sufficient to accommodate 
all activities and operations proposed by the SASO but not less than the level stated 
below. The minimum areas in each instance shall be subject to the approval of the 
District. All SASOs shall demonstrate that they have the availability of aircraft suitably 
equipped for the particular type of operation they intend to perform. 
 
(2) The SASO shall base at the Airport not less than one certified and airworthy Aircraft 
meeting all Federal and State requirements and regulations with respect to the type of 
operation to be performed. 
 
(3) The District shall set the minimum insurance requirements as they pertain to the 
particular type of operation to be performed on a case by case basis. The minimum 
requirements shall be applicable to all operations of a similar nature. All SASOs will, 
however, be required to maintain the Aircraft Liability Coverage as set forth for all SASOs 
included in Appendix 1 hereto. 
 
(4) The SASO shall have in his employ, and on duty during appropriate business hours, 
trained personnel in such numbers as may be required to meet the Minimum Standards 
herein, set forth in an efficient manner including at least one FAA rated pilot for the 
Aircraft to be used and type of operation to be performed. 
 
(5) The SASO must provide, by means of an office or a telephone, a point of contact for 
the public desiring to use the SASO's services. 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 28 
Minimum Standards 

 
(a) Operate the service from a minimum of five hundred (500) square feet of office 
space on the Airport and have immediate access to customer lounge, public 
telephones, and restrooms. 
 
(b) Keep premises open and services available a minimum of nine (9) hours daily, 
five (5) days a week. 

  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 32 
Minimum Standards 

Section 17 – Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance Services 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
A Commercial Air Carrier Line Maintenance Services SASO engages in line maintenance on 
scheduled or unscheduled air carrier aircraft operating at the Airport. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) The SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of five hundred (500) square feet 
of space on the Airport. 
 
(2) The SASO shall provide not less than one (1) qualified and certified employee on duty 
either at the Airport or on call in accordance with the hours of operation. 
 
(3) The SASO shall have all of the necessary equipment and tools to work on commercial 
aircraft scheduled to the Airport. 
 
(4) The SASO shall have on-airport personnel from the hours 4:30 a.m. to midnight daily, 
and be able to respond within 30 minutes of a call to the airport between the hours of 
midnight and 4:30 a.m. daily. 
  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 33 
Minimum Standards 

Section 18 – Commercial All Cargo Aircraft Ground Handling Services 
 
Statement of Concept 
 
A Commercial All Cargo Aircraft Ground Handling Services SASO engages in commercial 
cargo ground handling services on scheduled or unscheduled cargo aircraft operating at 
the Airport. 
 
Minimum Standards 
 
(1) The SASO shall operate the service from a minimum of forty thousand (40,000) square 
feet of warehouse space and three thousand (3,000) square feet of office on the Airport. 
 
(2) The SASO shall provide sufficient trained staffing at the Airport during the hours of 
operation with following certifications: 
 

• DG Cat 6 
• ISAGO or airline training 
• ACMR 

 
(3) The SASO shall have all of the necessary equipment and tools to service commercial 
cargo aircraft scheduled to the Airport, excluding into-plane delivery of fuel that will be 
provided by the FBO.  However, at a minimum, the SASO shall have the following 
equipment on-airport: 
 

• (2) 75,000 lb. DBP pushback tractors 
• (5) 5,000 lb. DBP tow tractors 
• (50) PMC/PAG compatible cargo dollies 
• (10) PGA/PRA compatible cargo dollies 
• (2) baggage carts 
• (50) PMC/PAG static racks 
• Dolly height transfer deck system with landside roller bed loading/unloading 

capability 
• Widebody aircraft belt loaders 
• (2) loaders capable of servicing main and lower decks of a widebody all cargo 

aircraft  
• (2) 2-ton forklifts 
• (1) 5-ton forklifts 
• (1) 10-ton forklifts 
• 7.5-ton 10’ cargo pancake scale 
• (1) 15-ton 20’ cargo pancake scale 
• Dual plug 120 KVA GPU 
• 270 PPM ASU 



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 34 
Minimum Standards 

• A/C cart 
• (1) lavatory cart 
• Potable water cart 
• (2) de-icing trucks 
• Widebody aircraft crew stairs 
• Narrow body aircraft crew stairs 
• B-747 tailstand 
• B-747 towbars 
• B-737 towbars 
• B-777/767 towbars 
• B-727 towbar 
• MD-11/DC-10 towbar 
• A-330/340 towbar 

 
 
(4) The SASO shall have on-airport warehouse personnel from the hours 6:00 a.m. to 
10:00 p.m. daily and provide ramp service hours 24 hours per day. 
 
  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 35 
Minimum Standards 

 
Section 19 – Fixed Base Operator (FBO) 

 
District has elected to utilize its Exclusive Right as permitted by FAA to provide this 
service(s) at the Airport. 

 
  



 
 

GSP Airport District  Page 38 
Minimum Standards 

Appendix 2 
 
 
Minimum Requirements for a Business Plan: 
 
1. List all services that are proposed to be offered. 
 
2. Details on the amount of land desired to lease. 
 
3. Building space that will be constructed or leased. 
 
4. Number of aircraft that will be provided. 
 
5. Equipment and special tooling to be provided. 
 
6. Number of persons to be employed. 
 
7. Short resume for each of the owners and financial backers. 
 
8. Short resume of the manager of the business (if different from "7" above) including 

this person's experience and background in managing a business of this nature. 
 
9. Periods (days and hours) of proposed operation. 
 
10. Amounts and types of insurance coverage to be maintained (see requirements in 

Minimum Standards). 
 
11. Evidence of the projections for the first year and the succeeding four (4) years. 
 
12. Methods to be used to attract new business (advertising and incentives). 
 
13. Amenities to be provided to attract business. 
 
14. Plans for physical expansion, if business should warrant such expansion. 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin E. Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION - New Business Item D 
 
Approval of Roadway and Utilities Project 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Parking capacity has become a critical issue for the airport. The District is already 
underway on a comprehensive surface parking expansion program to address public 
economy parking and employee parking. The District is also in the design phase on the 
third parking deck with combined public parking and a consolidated rental car facility 
(CONRAC) with ready/return parking and a quick turn-around (QTA) facility. 
 
ISSUES 
 
While the Commission has only approved a budget for the design phase of the third 
parking deck/CONRAC facility, it will be imperative the District make further expansion 
for close-in/premium parking. Additional close-in/premium parking could be provided 
through the third parking deck currently under design or by expanding the existing 
Daily Surface Lot to the north. 
 
Prior to beginning the third parking deck or an expansion of the Daily Surface Lot to the 
north, there are several existing utilities and a roadway that will require relocation. Staff 
has worked with the parking deck design team to expedite the required engineering 
and prepare a separate construction documents package for this work. By advancing 
this work ahead it will allow either the third parking deck or an expansion of the Daily 
Surface Parking Lot to start sooner and ultimately provide an earlier completion date in 
either case. 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
New Business Item D 
Approval of Roadway and Utilities Project 
Page 2 

  

The proposed Roadway and Utilities Project is consistent with the Master Plan and the 
ultimate Terminal-2 expansion and prepares the site north of the existing Parking Deck 
B for the third parking deck or a surface lot expansion to the north.  
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The Commission may elect to not approve proceeding with the Roadway and Utilities 
Project at this time.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The Commission previously approved a $5,000,000 budget for the design phase of the 
third parking deck/CONRAC facility. To date, approximately $3,300,000 of that budget 
has been allocated to current contracts for design and engineering of the third 
deck/CONRAC facility, structural precast concrete and related components. 
 
Staff proposes reallocating the remaining approximate $1,700,000 from the design 
budget and authorizing an additional $1,000,000 in new budgeted funds to advance the 
proposed Roadway and Utilities Project. Staff also proposes adding the roadway and 
utilities scope of work to the design assist (DA) contract with Rodgers Builders, 
currently under contract for the Surface Parking Program. In addition to the efficiency 
of similar scope with civil/site work, grading, roadway, utilities, paving, etc., Rodgers 
has agreed to accept the additional work within the same timeline without any 
additional general conditions. Rodgers would bid the scope of work similar to the 
Surface Parking Program and the only additional expenses would be their DA contractor 
fee of 3% and minimal site requirements. Staff estimates this delivery method will save 
the District $400,000-$500,000 and provide the opportunity for an earlier completion 
date to expand the airport’s premium parking offerings. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
It is respectfully requested that the Airport Commission resolve to (1) approve the 
Roadways and Utilities Project; (2) authorize the reallocation of the remaining third 
parking deck/CONRAC facility design phase budget to the Roadways and Utilities 
Project; (3) authorize an additional $1,000,000 in new budget funds for the Roadways 
and Utilities Project; (4) authorize Staff to add the Roadway and Utilities scope of work 
to the Surface Parking Program DA contract and (5) authorize the President/CEO to 
execute all necessary documents. 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: David Edwards, President/CEO 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item A 
 
April 2019 - Traffic Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
For April 2019, passenger traffic was strong with a 13.4% increase over the same 
month in 2018. Cargo numbers for April 2019 were down slightly at 3.4% for the same 
period.  Passenger load factors were down at an average of 80%. 
 
A comparison of the North America National Passenger Traffic Growth Averages for 
2019 to GSP’s Passenger Traffic Growth is depicted below: 
 

 

Month GSP

National 

Average Difference

Jan 16.80% 4.20% 12.60%

Feb 15.80% 2.40% 13.40%

Mar 15.50% 4.60% 10.90%

April 13.40% Not Available to Date

May

June

July

August

September

October

November

December

Average 15.38% 3.73% 11.64%

2019



Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item A 
April 2019 - Traffic Report 
Page 2 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Attached are copies of the detailed traffic report for April 2019. 
 
Providing a look forward into the service levels for July 2019 is a schedule comparison 
for the month vs the same month last year, including flights and seats by airline and 
non-stop markets served. GSP flights are up at 15.5%, and seats are up at 19.7%. 
 

 
 
 
 
Attachment 

Schedule Weekly Summary Report for nonstop Passenger (Air - All) flights from GSP to  for travel July 2019 vs. July 2018

 All flights, seats, and ASMs given are per week.

Mkt Al Orig Dest Miles Ops/Week Seats Ops/Week Seats Ops/Week Seats Ops/Week Seats

AA GSP CLT 76 62 4,481 53 3,521 9 960 17.0% 27.3%

AA GSP DCA 396 19 1,040 18 978 1 62 5.6% 6.3%

AA GSP DFW 862 20 2,696 14 2,240 6 456 42.9% 20.4%

AA GSP MIA 638 14 700 0 0 14 700

AA GSP ORD 577 19 1,220 20 1,120 (1) 100 (5.0%) 8.9%

AA GSP PHL 514 21 1,427 20 1,260 1 167 5.0% 13.3%

DL GSP ATL 153 59 7,787 54 7,076 5 711 9.3% 10.0%

DL GSP DTW 508 20 1,758 20 1,574 0 184 0.0% 11.7%

DL GSP LGA 610 18 1,368 19 1,444 (1) (76) (5.3%) (5.3%)

F9 GSP DEN 1,278 4 744 0 0 4 744

F9 GSP LAS 1,851 2 372 0 0 2 372

F9 GSP MCO 449 2 372 0 0 2 372

G4 GSP FLL 620 3 531 2 354 1 177 50.0% 50.0%

G4 GSP PIE 482 3 468 3 510 0 (42) 0.0% (8.2%)

G4 GSP SFB 426 3 468 3 531 0 (63) 0.0% (11.9%)

UA GSP DEN 1,278 7 532 0 0 7 532

UA GSP EWR 594 21 1,102 20 1,000 1 102 5.0% 10.2%

UA GSP IAD 383 21 1,050 21 1,050 0 0 0.0% 0.0%

UA GSP IAH 838 14 1,022 14 980 0 42 0.0% 4.3%

UA GSP ORD 577 21 1,050 22 1,100 (1) (50) (4.5%) (4.5%)

WN GSP ATL 153 20 2,860 20 2,860 0 0 0.0% 0.0%

TOTAL 373 33,048 323 27,598 50 5,450 15.5% 19.7%

Travel Period Jul 2019 Jul 2018 Diff Percent Diff



Apr 2019 Apr 2018

Percentage

Change *CYTD-2019 *CYTD-2018

Percentage

ChangeCategory *MOV12-2019 *MOV12-2018

Percentage

Change

Monthly Traffic Report
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
April 2019

Passenger Traffic

Enplaned

Deplaned

104,473

103,066

91,712

91,300

383,207 332,480

380,809 330,207

13.9%

12.9%

Total 207,539 183,012 13.4% 764,016 662,687

15.3%

15.3%

15.3%

1,217,183

1,202,130

1,098,833

1,080,180

2,419,313 2,179,013 11.0%

10.8%

11.3%

Cargo Traffic (Pounds)

Express and Mail

Freight

Total

1,092,309

953,812

2,643,959

4,554,720

841,108

842,273

2,982,932

4,900,913

Enplaned

Deplaned

Enplaned

Deplaned

Subtotal

Subtotal

29.9%

13.2%

-11.4%

-7.1%

7,198,679 7,883,845 -8.7%

2,046,121 1,683,381 21.5%

9,244,800 9,567,226 -3.4%

3,631,965

3,401,674

11,303,973

19,592,858

3,501,915

3,635,471

10,726,973

19,754,801

11,358,572

11,303,154

38,026,943

58,599,239

12,106,990

12,131,250

33,224,630

50,419,195

-6.2%

-6.8%

14.5%

16.2%

15.5%

-6.5%

10.6%

3.7%

-6.4%

5.4%

-0.8%

1.4%

-1.5%

0.8%

30,896,831 30,481,774

7,033,639 7,137,386

37,930,470 37,619,160

96,626,182 83,643,825

22,661,726 24,238,240

119,287,908 107,882,065

Tuesday, May 21, 2019

*CYTD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.

Page 1 of 2



Apr 2019 Apr 2018

Percentage

Change *CYTD-2019 *CYTD-2018

Percentage

ChangeCategory *MOV12-2019 *MOV12-2018

Percentage

Change

Monthly Traffic Report
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
April 2019

Aircraft Operations

Airlines

Commuter
/Air Taxi

Subtotal

General
Aviation

Military

Subtotal

2,170 1,858

810

1,199 1,136

917

114 263

3,369

Total

2,994

924 1,180

4,293 4,174

16.8%

5.5%

12.5%

-11.7%

-56.7%

-21.7%

2.9%

8,519

4,160

696

6,927

4,399

788

21,604

14,516

2,056

25,741

12,837

2,472

23.0%

-5.4%

11.9%

1.7%

-11.7%

-1.1%

8.7%

19.1%

-11.6%

6.8%

18.4%

20.2%

18.7%

9.5%

12,679 11,326 38,578 36,120

2,996 2,945 10,328 8,726

3,692 3,733

16,371 15,059

12,800 10,782

51,378 46,902

Fuel Gallons

100LL

Jet A (GA)

Subtotal

Jet A (A/L)

Total

112,772

3,104

1,507,829

125,221

6,017

1,402,408

460,678

8,627

5,792,782

379,273

12,915

5,102,211

1,517,973

31,095

18,295,576

1,082,465

39,801

14,389,391

115,876 131,238 -11.7% 19.7% 38.0%469,305 392,188 1,549,068 1,122,266

1,623,705 1,533,646 5.9% 14.0% 27.9%6,262,087 5,494,399 19,844,644 15,511,657

-48.4%

-9.9%

-33.2%

21.5%

-21.9%

40.2%

7.5% 13.5% 27.1%

Tuesday, May 21, 2019

*CYTD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.

Page 2 of 2



Scheduled Airline Enplanements, Seats, and 
Load Factors
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
April 2019

Apr 2019 Apr 2018

Percentage

Change *CYTD-2019 *CYTD-2018

Percentage

Change

6,309

4,285

5,298

Allegiant Air

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

10.0%

19.1%

74.7% 80.9% -7.6%

15,644

21,381

16,554

21,036

73.2% 78.7%

-5.5%

1.6%

-7.0%

4,714

43,052

30,689

39,055

American Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

8.2%

10.2%

77.1% 78.6% -1.9%

125,430

173,005

110,432

145,602

72.5% 75.8%

13.6%

18.8%

-4.4%

33,203

45,517

32,255

36,353

Delta Air Lines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

21.4%

25.2%

86.0% 88.7% -3.0%

139,578

175,770

122,042

144,378

79.4% 84.5%

14.4%

21.7%

-6.1%

39,167

3,348

0

0

Frontier Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

#Div/0!

#Div/0!

76.0% #Num! #Type!

9,664

13,446

0

0

71.9% #Num!

#Div/0!

#Div/0!

#Type!

2,545

Tuesday, May 21, 2019 *CTYD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.



Apr 2019 Apr 2018

Percentage

Change *CYTD-2019 *CYTD-2018

Percentage

Change

12,744

9,933

12,219

Southwest Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

-12.8%

4.3%

68.0% 81.3% -16.3%

32,428

49,068

34,181

48,541

66.1% 70.4%

-5.1%

1.1%

-6.1%

8,666

19,392

14,137

16,696

United Airlines

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

12.8%

16.1%

82.2% 84.7% -2.9%

58,647

75,354

47,731

57,998

77.8% 82.3%

22.9%

29.9%

-5.4%

15,943

104,238

130,362

91,299

109,621

Enplanements

Seats

Load Factor

14.2%

18.9%

80.0% 83.3% -4.0%

Totals

381,391

508,024

330,940

417,555

15.2%

21.7%

75.1% 79.3% -5.3%

Tuesday, May 21, 2019 *CTYD = Calendar Year to Date and *Mov12 = Moving Twelve Months.



Monthly Enplanements By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

E
n

p
la

n
e

m
e

n
ts

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

2017 - 72326 - 67033 - 83202 - 85594 - 95901 - 96696 - 94588 - 93306 - 88535 - 107748 - 97966 - 91613

2018 - 77387 - 73271 - 90110 - 91712 - 99196 - 102997 - 102982 - 104336 - 98107 - 115810 - 110261 - 100287

2019 - 90635 - 84496 - 103603 - 104473 - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank)

Tuesday, May 21, 2019



Monthly Seats By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

S
e

a
ts

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

160000

2017 - 93249 - 87060 - 100765 - 102066 - 111460 - 107381 - 110909 - 112823 - 112509 - 126149 - 118101 - 110594

2018 - 105778 - 95882 - 106274 - 109621 - 116666 - 110425 - 117646 - 125498 - 132169 - 141432 - 135416 - 123712

2019 - 128228 - 116647 - 134261 - 130362 - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank)

Tuesday, May 21, 2019



Monthly Load Factors By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

L
o
a

d
 F

a
c
to

r

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2017 - 77.56% - 77.00% - 82.57% - 83.86% - 86.04% - 90.05% - 85.28% - 82.70% - 78.69% - 85.41% - 82.95% - 82.84%

2018 - 73.16% - 76.42% - 84.79% - 83.66% - 85.03% - 93.27% - 87.54% - 83.14% - 74.23% - 81.88% - 81.42% - 81.06%

2019 - 70.68% - 72.44% - 77.17% - 80.14% - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank)

Tuesday, May 21, 2019



Total Monthly Passengers By Year
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport

T
o

ta
l 
P

a
s
s
e

n
g

e
rs

Jan Feb  Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

0

25000

50000

75000

100000

125000

150000

175000

200000

225000

250000

2017 - 144635 - 134508 - 166453 - 168963 - 189991 - 189949 - 187661 - 185431 - 175286 - 215335 - 194779 - 177894

2018 - 154489 - 145289 - 179897 - 183012 - 196894 - 204343 - 204013 - 208316 - 194298 - 230889 - 219858 - 196302

2019 - 180437 - 168242 - 207798 - 207539 - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank) - (Blank)

Tuesday, May 21, 2019



Scheduled Airline Market Shares (Enplanements)
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
Report Period From April 2019 Through April 2019

5%

32%

38%

2%

8%

15%

Allegiant Air

American Airlines

Delta Air Lines

Frontier Airlines

Southwest Airlines

United Airlines

Tuesday, May 21, 2019



Airline Flight Completions
Greenville-Spartanburg International Airport
April 2019

Airline

Scheduled

Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other

Percentage of

Completed Flights

Total

Cancellations

21 Air Cargo LLC (21GA) 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Aeronaves TSM 10 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Air Atlanta Icelandic 20 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Allegiant Air 36 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Alliance Air Charter 3 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

American Airlines 610 0 3 11 2 98.2%16

Amerijet Int'l 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Wednesday, May 22, 2019



Airline

Scheduled

Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other

Percentage of

Completed Flights

Total

Cancellations

Ameristar Jet Charter 4 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Berry Aviation 9 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Delta Air Lines 378 0 0 0 0 100.5%0

Federal Express 38 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Frontier Airlines 19 0 1 0 0 94.7%1

IFL Group 8 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Kalitta Charters II 6 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Kolo Canyons Air Service 3 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

McNeely Charter Service 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Wednesday, May 22, 2019



Airline

Scheduled

Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other

Percentage of

Completed Flights

Total

Cancellations

Miami Air 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Mountain Air Car 18 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

PAK West Airlines/Sierra We 1 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Priority Air Cargo 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Royal Air Freight 4 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Southwest Airlines 88 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Sun Country Airlines 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Swift Air, LLC 2 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

United Airlines 352 0 5 3 0 98.3%8

Wednesday, May 22, 2019



Airline

Scheduled

Flights

Cancellations Due To

Field Mechanical Weather Other

Percentage of

Completed Flights

Total

Cancellations

UPS 35 0 0 0 0 100.0%0

Total 0 9 14 21,653 25 98.5%

Wednesday, May 22, 2019



 
_      ____________________________________________________________ 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Basil Dosunmu, Senior VP of Administration & Finance/CFO 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
_      ____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item B 
 
April 2019 - Financial Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Attached is a copy of the detailed financial report for April 2019. 
 
Operating Income was up by 15.11% when compared to the budget for Year-to-Date 
April 2019. Operating Expenses were down by 5.43% when compared to the budgeted 
amount for the period.  Net operating income was up by 57.29% when compared to the 
budget through April 2019.  For the period ending April 2019, which represents ten (10) 
months of the fiscal year, a total of about $17.50 million has been returned to the 
bottom line in operating income. 
 
Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents ten 
months of activity resulting in variances from budget which can be quite volatile. 
 
 
Attachment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



April 30, 2019 FINANCIAL STATEMENT PACKAGE



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Current Month Current Month

Current FY Prior FY

4/30/2019 4/30/2018

Assets
Cash Accounts 21,280,569.91                  17,307,453.74                  

Investments-Airport 15,157,519.80                  4,993,661.10                    
Bond Trustee Assets 353,566.54                       396,164.88                       

Accounts Receivable 1,483,984.52                    198,914.10                       
Less: Reserve for Doubtful Accts -                                  

Net Accounts Receivable 1,483,984.52                 198,914.10                     

Inventory 605,777.57                       379,533.66                       
Prepaid Insurance 271,954.70                       321,011.09                       

Notes Receivable-RAC District Funds 1,132,227.05                    1,385,485.88                    

Property, Plant & Equipment (PP&E) 419,057,013.79                392,135,864.36                 
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (158,401,261.91)               (146,766,425.70)               

Net PP&E 260,655,751.88             245,369,438.66             
TOTAL ASSETS 300,941,351.97             270,351,663.11             

PLUS: Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Pension 4,794,092.39                    2,329,681.54                    

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 4,794,092.39                 2,329,681.54                  

LESS: Liabilities
Accounts Payable 3,148,791.65                    1,674,380.34                    
TD Bank LOC -                                  7,194,369.00                    
Revenue Bonds Payable 1,283,524.46                    1,712,067.08                    

TD Bank LT Debt 15,361,010.00                  -                                  

SCRS Pension Liability 15,243,794.00                  12,214,294.00                  
Benefit Liability 1,334,855.35                    881,124.04                       

TOTAL LIABILITIES 36,371,975.46               23,676,234.46               

LESS: Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred Revenues 1,147,403.05                    1,408,778.88                    

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 1,147,403.05                 1,408,778.88                  

NET POSITION
Invested in Capital Assets, net of Related Debt 242,907,514.83                235,169,583.78                 

Restricted:
A/P - Capital Projects - Restricted 325,042.08                       304,097.80                       
Contract Facility Charge 2,131,384.96                    2,134,388.96                    

Total Restricted: 2,456,427.04                    2,438,486.76                    

Unrestricted 22,852,123.98                  9,988,260.77                    
TOTAL NET POSITION 268,216,065.85             247,596,331.31             

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

REVENUES AND EXPENSES TREND GRAPHS

$1.8

$2.3

$2.8

$3.3

$3.8

$4.3

$4.8

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
ill

io
n

s

CY Historical Operating Revenues
(by Month by Year)

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

$3.5

$4.0

$4.5

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
ill

io
n

s

CY Historical Operating Expenses
(by Month by Year)

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

PROFIT and LOSS STATEMENT

April 30, 2019 April 30, 2019

Actual Budget Actual - Budget % Change

INCOME

Landing Area:
Landing Fees 2,461,575.33                      2,337,730.80                      123,844.53                         5.30% (a)
Aircraft Parking Fees 358,658.60                         244,811.90                         113,846.70                         46.50% (b)

Subtotal Landing Area 2,820,233.93                      2,582,542.70                      237,691.23                         9.20%

Space & Ground Rentals 9,684,741.94                      9,106,554.60                      578,187.34                         6.35% (c)
Auto Parking 12,137,986.83                    10,613,263.70                    1,524,723.13                      14.37% (d)
Commercial Ground Transportation 331,882.95                         258,333.30                         73,549.65                           28.47% (e)

Concessions:
Advertising 270,095.00                         291,666.70                         (21,571.70)                         -7.40%

Food & Beverage 652,935.14                         540,601.20                         112,333.94                         20.78% (f)

Rental Car 3,212,215.52                      2,617,210.60                      595,004.92                         22.73% (g)

Retail 585,561.78                         438,456.70                         147,105.08                         33.55% (h)

Subtotal Concessions 4,720,807.44                      3,887,935.20                      832,872.24                         21.42%

Expense Reimbursements 1,708,754.51                      1,380,399.00                      328,355.51                         23.79% (i)
Other Income 3,230,040.25                      2,604,436.00                      625,604.25                         24.02% (j)
Gross Profit on Fuel Sales 4,465,102.60                      3,534,282.80                      930,819.80                         26.34% (k)

Total Operating Income 39,099,550.45                  33,967,747.30                  5,131,803.15                    15.11%

EXPENSES
Salary & Benefits 11,272,134.16                    11,733,920.20                    (461,786.04)                        -3.94% (l)
Professional Services 608,994.13                         438,420.80                         170,573.33                         38.91% (m)
Promotional Activities 878,566.03                         1,272,204.20                      (393,638.17)                        -30.94% (n)
Administrative 1,063,845.79                      1,249,356.80                      (185,511.01)                        -14.85% (o)
Insurance 565,875.50                         565,875.50                         -                                    0.00%
Contractual Services 3,609,671.47                      3,596,279.85                      13,391.62                           0.37%
Rentals & Leases 196,688.96                         432,908.30                         (236,219.34)                        -54.57% (p)
Repairs & Maintenance 771,738.49                         687,398.00                         84,340.49                           12.27% (q)
Supplies & Equipment 1,066,302.17                      1,277,676.60                      (211,374.43)                        -16.54% (r)
Utilities 1,570,049.38                      1,590,457.90                      (20,408.52)                         -1.28%

Total Operating Expenses 21,603,866.08                  22,844,498.15                  (1,240,632.07)                   -5.43%

NET OPERATING INCOME 17,495,684.37       11,123,249.15       6,372,435.22         57.29%
-                                    -                                    

<--------------------------  FISCAL YEAR TO DATE  ------------------------------->

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



April 30, 2019

(a) Landing Fees OVER BUDGET $123,844.53  - Actual passenger weights 1,181M (1,136M budgeted);  
 - Actual Cargo weights 350M (301M budgeted) 

(b) Aircraft Parking Fees OVER BUDGET $113,846.70  - Airline parking 19.6K over budget
 - Cargo parking 49K over budget
 - FBO parking 13.5K over budget
 - Commercial Aviation parking 31.5K over budget

(c) Space & Ground Rentals OVER BUDGET $578,187.34  Blended effects of the following:

 - Per-turn fees over budget 374K 
 - Senator rent not included in the budget 90K
 - Bradford Logistic : Budgeted 60K per month but only billing 24K per month total 

to Hudson and OHM (36K per month under budget). 
 - American S. Cargo under budget 77K due to using higher sf in budget
 - New cargo building rentals under budget 100K, construction not complete.
 - PSA office and hangar rent not included in the budget 326K
 - FBO hanger rent over budget 45K (new rentals)
 - BMW Phase III and Cam Fees 113K not budgeted, new lease started May 2018
 - OHM/Hudson are using more of the unconditioned space and less of the 

conditioned space (higher rate) than budgeted 67K
 - TSA Holding Over on contract 80K over budget 
 - Jetstar Aviation 64K not budgeted, new lease started March 2018
 - FBO facility fees over budget 80K 
 - Greer CPW over budget 14K 

(d) Auto Parking OVER BUDGET $1,524,723.13  - Budgeted a 2% increase over our FY18 trend; traffic is trending higher.  In addition, 
a parking rate increase went into effect 10/1/2018.

(e) Commercial Ground Transportation OVER BUDGET $73,549.65  - Continued trend of increasing usage of TNCs (Uber/Lyft)

(f) Food & Beverage OVER BUDGET $112,333.94  - OHM concessions higher than budgeted: traffic is trending higher than anticipated

(g) Rental Car OVER BUDGET $595,004.92  - Concessions for all RACs are over budget, especially National & Enterprise - traffic 
trending higher than anticipated

(h) Retail OVER BUDGET $147,105.08  - Traffic trending higher than anticipated 

(i) Expense Reimbursements OVER BUDGET $328,355.51  - Security reimbursements 105K due to budgeting very little from TSA (in anticipation 
of the LEO reimbursement program ending but it has not)

 - Unbudgeted STS revenues received 101K
 - Water utilities for RACs are more expensive than budgeted 99K, resulting in an increase 

in utility expense reimbursements

YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES - SUMMARY

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



April 30, 2019 YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES - SUMMARY

(j) Other Income OVER BUDGET $625,604.25  - Ground handling fees-AvServ over budget 365K  
 - A/C Ground handling 15K over budget

 - A/C Deicing & Sales (22K) under budget
 - Non Tenant Revenue 16K over budget
 - Warehouse Fees 123K over budget
 - Lease Income 23K over budget
 - GSE Lease/Usage 21K over budget
 - Cargo Ops 55K over budget
 - "Gov deals" sales not budgeted 13K

(k) Gross Profit on Fuel Sales OVER BUDGET $930,819.80  - Throughput Fees over budget 76K
 - Jet A Into-Plane Fees over budget 558K
 - Jet A Retail over budget 298K
 - Retail AvGas sales over budget 20K
 - Jet A COGS over budget (22K)

(l) Salary & Benefits UNDER BUDGET $461,786.04  - 220 employees are budgeted vs 202 employed as of April 30th.

(m) Professional Services OVER BUDGET $170,573.33  - Consulting 95K over budget (AFCO settlement)
 - Legal 94K over budget 
 - Engineering/Design 19K under budget

(n) Promotional Activities UNDER BUDGET $393,638.17  - Advertising expense 248K under budget
 - General marketing expenses 33K under budget
 - Sponsorships expenses 107K under budget

(o) Administrative UNDER BUDGET $185,511.01  - Travel/Training 185K under budget

(p) Rentals & Leases UNDER BUDGET $236,219.34  - Equipment 20K under budget (AvServ)
 - Buildings 208K budgeted but will not be used due to dissolution of the AFCO partnerhip

(q) Repairs & Maintenance OVER BUDGET $84,340.49  - Heating & Air 42K under budget 
 - Building 29K under budget
 - Equipment 27K over budget
 - Security System 16K under budget 
 - Project Unanticipated 150K over budget (GSP Vault Replacement 147K)

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



April 30, 2019 YTD ACTUAL VS YTD BUDGET FOOTNOTES - SUMMARY

(r) Supplies & Equipment UNDER BUDGET $211,374.43  - Auto 47K under budget
 - Nursery & Landscaping 52K under budget
 - Tires 35K under budget
 - Painting 15K under budget 
 - Computer-Equip/Supplies 29K under budget
 - Computer Software 17K under budget
 - Equipment 14K under budget
 - Heat & Air 15K under budget
 - Lamps 38K over budget
 - Paper 24K under budget

Note: Please recognize that this is a preliminary report, unaudited, and only represents
ten months of activity, resulting in variances which can be quite volatile.

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



GREENVILLE SPARTANBURG AIRPORT DISTRICT

Other Operating and Maintenance Reserve Funds

FY $ Amount Estimated $ Amount
Authorized Cost Date Used YTD

Emergency Repair/Replacement/Operations Fund 750,000$            

2018 Waterfall Feature Repair 200,000$              1/31/2019 146,835$           Gregory Fountains 
4/22/2019 20,765$             Gregory Electric

2018 LPI Equipment 25,000$                2/25/2019 26,000$             Barton Utilities Inc.

225,000$            193,600$         

Uncommitted Balance 525,000$            

Business Development Obligations/Incentives 600,000$            

2019 Escape Lounge 210,000$              9/29/2018 101,474$           Infinity Marketing

2019 AFCO Reimbursement of Expenses 90,000$                9/13/2018 90,000$             AFCO

300,000$            191,474$         

Uncommitted Balance 300,000$            

due to termination of agreement

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



Initial Maturity Interest Cost Basis or EOM FMV

Purchase Date Rate BOY FMV Par FMV Adj

US Treasury

Note 9/10/2018* 6/30/2019 1.625% 1,392,744.00              1,400,000.00              1,398,068.00                   5,324.00            

Note 9/10/2018* 9/30/2019 1.375% 1,385,974.00              1,400,000.00              1,393,602.00                   7,628.00            

Note 9/10/2018* 10/31/2019 1.250% 1,332,625.50              1,350,000.00              1,342,035.00                   9,409.50            

Note 9/10/2018* 12/31/2019 1.625% 1,335,894.72              1,350,000.00              1,342,413.00                   6,518.28            

Note 9/24/2018* 2/15/2020 3.625% 1,367,278.56              1,350,000.00              1,362,285.00                   (4,993.56)           

Note 9/24/2018* 3/31/2020 2.250% 1,344,178.16              1,350,000.00              1,348,204.50                   4,026.34            

Note 9/24/2018* 6/30/2020 2.500% 1,346,072.21              1,350,000.00              1,351,849.50                   5,777.29            

Note 9/24/2018* 8/31/2020 1.375% 1,318,195.00              1,350,000.00              1,332,652.50                   14,457.50           

Note 9/24/2018* 9/30/2020 1.375% 1,318,658.56              1,350,000.00              1,332,072.00                   13,413.44           

Note 1/28/2019 12/31/2020 2.375% 1,346,287.50              1,350,000.00              1,351,377.00                   5,089.50            

Subtotal-UST 13,487,908.21         13,600,000.00         13,554,558.50$            66,650.29        

Money Market Fund Balance (matured UST) 1,602,961.30$              

15,157,519.80$            

* These notes were initially purchased in 9/2018 with a par of $1M.  In 1/2019, additional notes were purchased from the same issuances.

Weighted blended 

yield = 

1.9343%

Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District
April 30, 2019

Total Investment Balance

US Treasury Investment Types T-Bill T-Note T-Bond Fed Ag

  Negotiable Debt Obligation Yes Yes Yes Yes

  Backed by Gov Full Faith/Credit Yes Yes Yes No

  Maturity < 1 yr 1-7 yrs 7+ yrs 1-5 yrs

  Coupon-Bearing No Yes Yes Yes

  Interest is paid at Maturity Semi-Ann Semi-Ann Semi-Ann

  State & Local Tax Exemption Yes Yes Yes Only FHLB (*)

   (*) Note: Since GSP is a political subdivision of SC, w e are tax-exempt from all taxes, including state and local.

Interim Report: Prepared on a "Non-GAAP" Basis for Internal Use only UNAUDITED



Procurement / Capital Acquisitions

Project/Item Description Date

Monthly $ 

Amount

Capital Improvements:
WK Dickson / Cargo Apron 4/22/2019 35,609                 
McCarthy Improvement Co. / Cargo Apron 4/22/2019 264,532               
McCarthy Improvement Co. / Cargo Apron 4/30/2019 908,655               
LS3P Associates / Parking Garage 4/22/2019 132,518               
The Haskell Co / Air Cargo Facility 4/23/2019 1,008,230            
WK Dickson / Curbside Drop Off 4/22/2019 11,228                 
Roebuck Wholesale Nursery / Curbside Drop Off 4/22/2019 40,648                 
McFarland Johnson / Surface Parking Planning 4/30/2019 125,676               

Equipment and Small Capital Outlays:
Aero Specialties / GSE Equipment 4/30/2019 11,161                 
TLD America/ Transporter 4/15/2019 70,356                 

Renewals and Replacements:
Vic Bailey Ford / Truck for Machin 4/22/2019 74,075                 
C&C Boiler Sales / Replace Burners 4/10/2019 30,904                 

Professional Service Projects:
Think.IT / ERP 4/10/2019 19,630                 
McFarland Johnson / Master Plan 4/22/2019 80,943                 

Total Procurements/Capital Additions for the month 2,814,164$        

4/30/2019



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Kevin Howell, Senior Vice President/COO 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
____________________________________________________________ 
 

ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item C 
 
May 2019 – Development/Project Status Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Parking Garage C & CONRAC Facility: 
 
Status – Design Phase 
Project Budget – $40,000,000 
Estimated Completion Date – 2022 
 
This project includes the design and construction of a new combined public parking and 
rental car ready/return garage. The design team is led by LS3P. The design team is 
currently working on site design including roadway modifications and underground 
utilities.  Staff is finalizing the agreement with Metromont Corporation for precast 
design/build services as approved at the March Commission meeting. Construction of 
the parking garage is expected to start late summer 2020. As previously discussed, the 
overall parking garage design schedule and construction timeline will be determined by 
the Public Surface and Employee Parking Lots Program.    
 
New Cargo Apron: 
 
Status – Construction Phase 
Project Budget – $19,496,850 
Estimated Completion Date – September 2019 
 
This project includes the design and construction of a new dedicated cargo apron with 
taxiway connector just south of the existing FedEx facility. The engineer of record for 
the cargo apron project is WK Dickson (WKD). The general contractor is McCarthy 



 

 
 
 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
May 2019 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 2 

 

Improvement Company. The contractor is currently working on underground storm 
drainage, utilities, and concrete paving. The taxilane connector to Taxiway L is 
substantially complete. The contractor remains behind schedule on the balance of work 
due to inclement weather over the past couple of months. 
 
Air Cargo Facility Phase 1: 
 
Status – Construction Phase  
Project Budget – $14,000,000 
Estimated Completion Date – July 2019 
 
This project includes the new 110,000 SF air cargo facility. Fifty percent (50%) of the 
new building will be leased by Senator International, and the balance of the building will 
be used by Cerulean Aviation. The design/build contractor is Haskell. Haskell is currently 
working on the interior office build out.  
 
2102 GSP Drive Hangar Renovation Project: 
 
Status – Design Phase 
Project Budget – $3,675,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Spring 2020 
 
This project includes the renovation of the hangar located at 2102 GSP Drive, adjacent 
to the FBO Terminal. The hangar was in a serious state of disrepair after being 
transitioned from Stevens Aviation to GSP/Cerulean Aviation. The interior hangar ceiling 
was repainted and the fire alarm system was replaced.  
 
Additional renovation items include demo and renovation of the tenant office suites, 
restroom upgrades, upgrade/replacement of the electrical system and HVAC equipment, 
new tool room/shop space for corporate flight departments, circulation space, stairs and 
egress accommodations, exterior paint, doors and hardware replacement, and 
integration to the GSP campus access control and CCTV systems. Project design is led 
by DP3, architecture teaming member under the WKD on-call agreement.  Stakeholder 
meetings have been held with the current hangar tenants and field verification is 
underway. The project is scheduled for bidding this summer.  
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
May 2019 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 3 

 

Surface Parking Lot Expansion Program: 
 
Status – Design Phase 
Project Budget – $16,700,000 
Estimated Completion Date – Summer 2020 
 
The Parking Garage C and CONRAC Facility Project will impact the existing Daily Surface 
Parking Lot and the Employee Parking Lot. Due to continued passenger growth, public 
parking capacity is already strained on a near daily basis. Based upon the planning and 
programming presented in January 2019, the Surface Parking Expansion Program was 
approved with a budget of $16,700,000. 
 
This program includes a new 1,500 stall parking lot for public economy parking with 
associated access road and a roundabout on Aviation Parkway. The program also 
includes a new approximately 600 stall Employee Parking Lot and TNC Staging Area on 
GSP Drive. 
 
Project planning was completed by McFarland Johnson. Kimley-Horn is leading the 
design and engineering work. Rodgers Builders, Inc. is under contract as the Design-
Assist contractor for the project. Civil design is underway, and the team is working 
towards submitting the project for permitting in June. 
 
Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting (ARFF) Station: 
 
Status – Bidding Phase 
Project Budget – $11,750,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
This project includes construction of a new ARFF station to be located adjacent to the 
PSA Hangar at 2100 GSP Drive. Design and engineering were delivered under the WK 
Dickson on-call contract. Architectural design was led by Leo-Daly supported by DP3 
and other sub consultants. Four contractors were pre-qualified for bidding. Proposals 
are to be received on June 14. Award will be pending a final AIP grant offer from the 
FAA. 
 
FBO Expansion: 
 
Status – Planning and Programming Phase 
Project Budget – $50,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 



 

 
 
 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item C 
May 2019 – Development/Project Status Report 
Page 4 

 

This project includes planning and programming for the expansion and renovation of 
the FBO facility. Planning is led by McFarland Johnson. After the planning phase is 
complete, a design contract will be executed with a current on-call consulting/design 
firm.  
 
Facilities Department Building Expansion: 
 
Status – Planning and Programming Phase 
Project Budget – $50,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
This project includes planning and programming for the expansion and renovation of 
the Facilities Department, including administrative, shop and storage buildings. Planning 
is led by McFarland Johnson. After the planning phase is complete, a design contract 
will be executed with a current on-call consulting/design firm.  
 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Dudley Brown, Public Relations Manager 
 Kimberly Davis, Customer Service and Community Relations Manager 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item D 
 
May 2019 – Communications Status Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
News Stories ~ Broadcast, Print and Online 5/01/19-5/31/19: 
 
REAL ID 
WYFF: GSP offers Real ID sign-up 
WHNS: GSP’s helps people switch their licenses to REAL IDs 
 
Wings for All 
WYFF: “Wings for All” airport rehearsal helps children with special needs ease travel 
stress 
WHNS: Story is not online 
Greenville 360: “Wings for All” at GSP Airport 
 
Southwest’s Baltimore service 
WSPA: Southwest announces new nonstop flights to BWI from GSP 
Greenville News: GSP adds 20th nonstop destination as passenger growth continues 
Herald-Journal: Southwest Airlines adding nonstop service to Baltimore from GSP 
GSA Business: GSP adding nonstop Southwest flights to Baltimore 
Greer Today: Southwest returns to GSP with non-stop service to Baltimore 
Greenville Business Magazine: Southwest at GSP announces new nonstop service to 
Baltimore 
Greenville CEO: GSP adding nonstop flights to Baltimore by Southwest 
WHNS: Nonstop flights from GSP to Baltimore coming this November 
106.3 FM WORD: GSP to add flights 

https://www.wyff4.com/article/gsp-offers-real-id-sign-up/27480532
https://mms.tveyes.com/Transcript.asp?StationID=2730&DateTime=5%2F15%2F2019+4%3A19%3A07+PM&Term=GSP+Airport&PlayClip=TRUE
https://www.wyff4.com/article/wings-for-all-airport-rehearsal-helps-children-with-special-needs-ease-travel-stress/27515808
https://www.wyff4.com/article/wings-for-all-airport-rehearsal-helps-children-with-special-needs-ease-travel-stress/27515808
https://greenville360.com/events/wingsforall/
https://www.wspa.com/news/southwest-announces-new-nonstop-flights-to-bwi-from-gsp/2039344604
https://www.greenvilleonline.com/story/news/local/south-carolina/2019/05/30/gsp-adds-baltimore-20th-nonstop-destination-southwest-flight-air-travel-upstate-sc/1287525001/
https://www.goupstate.com/news/20190530/southwest-airlines-adding-nonstop-service-to-baltimore-from-gsp
https://gsabusiness.com/news/transportation/76527/
http://greertoday.com/greer-sc/southwest-returns-to-gsp-with-non-stop-service-to-baltimore/2019/05/30/
http://www.greenvillebusinessmag.com/2019/05/31/200875/southwest-at-gsp-announces-new-nonstop-service-to-baltimore
http://www.greenvillebusinessmag.com/2019/05/31/200875/southwest-at-gsp-announces-new-nonstop-service-to-baltimore
http://greenvilleceo.com/news/2019/05/gsp-adding-nonstop-flights-baltimore-southwest/
https://www.foxcarolina.com/news/nonstop-flights-from-gsp-to-baltimore-coming-this-november/article_dbeabc28-82fa-11e9-9d8f-8392bca6b6af.html
https://1063word.radio.com/articles/gsp-add-flights


 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
May 2019 - Communications Status Report 
Page 2 

  

Baltimore Business Journal: Southwest reboots BWI to Greenville-Spartanburg route 
AviaitionPros.com: Southwest announces new nonstop service to Baltimore 
Greenville Today:   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.bizjournals.com/baltimore/news/2019/05/30/southwest-reboots-bwi-to-greenville-spartanburg.html
https://news.google.com/articles/CBMicWh0dHBzOi8vd3d3LmF2aWF0aW9ucHJvcy5jb20vYWlycG9ydHMvcHJlc3MtcmVsZWFzZS8yMTA4Mjc3My9zb3V0aHdlc3QtYW5ub3VuY2VzLW5ldy1ub25zdG9wLXNlcnZpY2UtdG8tYmFsdGltb3Jl0gEA?hl=en-US&gl=US&ceid=US%3Aen


 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
May 2019 - Communications Status Report 
Page 3 

  

Upstate Alliance: 

 
 
Anderson Chamber of Commerce:  

 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
May 2019 - Communications Status Report 
Page 4 

  

Greer Chamber of Commerce: 

 
 
Greer Development Corporation:  

 
 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
May 2019 - Communications Status Report 
Page 5 

  

May 30 Runway Closure 
WSPA: GSP International Airport main runway reopens 
WYFF: GSP back to normal operations after mechanical problems leaves plane stuck on 
taxiway 
WHNS: Spokesman: GSP’s main runway reopened after Delta jet’s brakes lock up 
The State: Plane stuck on runway at SC airport stops all flights, official says 
106.3 WORD FM: Stuck plane at GSP 
 
Social Media 5/01/19-5/31/19:  
 
GSPAirport.com  

• Sessions – 106,058 
• New Users – 72,681 
• Page/Session – 1.74 
• Average Session Duration – 1:37 

 
Facebook 
The month’s most popular Facebook post promoted Southwest’s new service to 
Baltimore. It reached more than 4,400 people.  
 
Twitter 
Tweets promoting the May REAL ID event had the most impressions during the month.  
 
Instagram 
A photo of Alfred, GSP’s K-9 officer, received the most engagement on Instagram 
during the month.  
 
My GSP newsletter 
The My GSP newsletter continues to have an above average open rate after May’s 
newsletter was distributed to more than 9,000 people.  
 
Community Relations/Special Events: 
 

• GSP hosted its third REAL ID event in May. The S.C. Department of Motor 
Vehicles’ Shark Deployment Team processed 156 REAL ID licenses. 

 
• The Wings for All event that took place here at GSP in May was a huge success. 

Many families shared they were grateful for the airport rehearsal and now feel 
they are better prepared for travel because of this experience.  

 

https://www.google.com/url?rct=j&sa=t&url=https://www.wspa.com/news/stuck-plane-closes-gsp-international-airport-main-runway/2040174938&ct=ga&cd=CAEYACoUMTQyODUyNDIzODcxMjk0MjY4MTAyHGI5N2VkY2FhZjY1NDg1MjY6Y29tOmVuOlVTOlI&usg=AFQjCNE33LOvIRMk8l8BBKbu61E4weiAWQ
https://www.google.com/url?rct=j&sa=t&url=https://www.wyff4.com/article/mechanical-problem-leaves-delta-plane-stuck-on-greenville-spartanburg-airport-taxiway-halting-landings-departures/27667822&ct=ga&cd=CAEYACoUMTQyODUyNDIzODcxMjk0MjY4MTAyHGI5N2VkY2FhZjY1NDg1MjY6Y29tOmVuOlVTOlI&usg=AFQjCNHui6up9-PS98x5iyLj5OnKZNNQWg
https://www.google.com/url?rct=j&sa=t&url=https://www.wyff4.com/article/mechanical-problem-leaves-delta-plane-stuck-on-greenville-spartanburg-airport-taxiway-halting-landings-departures/27667822&ct=ga&cd=CAEYACoUMTQyODUyNDIzODcxMjk0MjY4MTAyHGI5N2VkY2FhZjY1NDg1MjY6Y29tOmVuOlVTOlI&usg=AFQjCNHui6up9-PS98x5iyLj5OnKZNNQWg
https://www.google.com/url?rct=j&sa=t&url=https://www.foxcarolina.com/news/spokesman-gsp-s-main-runway-reopened-after-delta-jet-s/article_1f37d6f6-8322-11e9-918f-6fe685cd6116.html&ct=ga&cd=CAEYACoUMTQyODUyNDIzODcxMjk0MjY4MTAyHGI5N2VkY2FhZjY1NDg1MjY6Y29tOmVuOlVTOlI&usg=AFQjCNGKxPeLTK8FOnciXHc_7Limky1qog
https://www.google.com/url?rct=j&sa=t&url=https://www.thestate.com/living/travel/article231010418.html&ct=ga&cd=CAEYACoUMTQyODUyNDIzODcxMjk0MjY4MTAyHGI5N2VkY2FhZjY1NDg1MjY6Y29tOmVuOlVTOlI&usg=AFQjCNEqOGGOHAm_sS0BvfqkNPCOU1cckQ
https://www.google.com/url?rct=j&sa=t&url=https://1063word.radio.com/articles/stuck-plane-gsp&ct=ga&cd=CAEYCSoUMTQyODUyNDIzODcxMjk0MjY4MTAyHGI5N2VkY2FhZjY1NDg1MjY6Y29tOmVuOlVTOlI&usg=AFQjCNFlUHj1qOV8-Qhd8DSA_UwUDhGYcQ


 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item D 
May 2019 - Communications Status Report 
Page 6 

  

• GSP was the feature sponsor for the Community Stage at the Greer Family Fun 
Fest in May.  A lucky attendee won a $500 Frontier travel voucher and free 
parking for a week.  

 
• Summer Camp Season 2019 is here. Our first group of campers arrived June 1.  

 
• GSP will sponsor Fall for Greenville Oct. 11-13.  

 
 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Scott C. Carr, A.A.E., Vice President – Commercial Business & Communications 
 
DATE: June 24, 2019  
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item E 
 
May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
 
SUMMARY 
  
Bon Secours Wellness Arena Rebranding: 
 
Status – A new agreement is still being negotiated. 
Project Budget – $15,000 
Estimated Completion Date – July 31, 2019 
 
The Airport District has an advertising/marketing agreement with the Bon Secours 
Wellness Arena.  As a part of that agreement, we have the branding rights to the ticket 
office.  The current branding is now over four years old and in need of a refresh. 
 
GSP360 – Land Development Program Video: 
 
Status – Currently searching for a new company to complete this project. 
Project Budget – $5,000 
Estimated Completion Date – TBD 
 
The Airport District is developing a video to highlight the GSP360 land development 
program.  The video will be used for business development purposes with prospective 
tenants. 
 
Frontier Denver (DEN) Advertising/Marketing Campaign: 
 
Status – Campaign is presently running on billboards, radio, television, and social media 
Project Budget – $75,000 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 2 

  

Estimated Completion Date – July 31, 2019 
 
Frontier announced two additional weekly flights to DEN for a total of four that began on 
May 3, 2019.  The Airport District put together a marketing plan to support the additional 
flights to help ensure that they are successful. 
 
United Denver (DEN) Advertising/Marketing Campaign: 
 
Status – Campaign is presently running on billboards, radio, television, and social media 
Project Budget – $85,000 
Estimated Completion Date – July 31, 2019 
 
United announced new service to DEN in February 2019.  The daily flight begins on June 
7, 2019 and is being operated on E-175 aircraft with 76 seats including a first-class cabin 
with 12 seats.  The Airport District has put together a marketing plan to support this new 
service to help ensure that it is successful from the first flight. 
 
Southwest Baltimore (BWI) Advertising/Marketing Campaign: 
 
Status – Currently developing a marketing and media plan for roll out in September 2019. 
Project Budget – TBD 
Estimated Completion Date – December 31, 2019 
 
Southwest announced new service to BWI in May 2019.  The daily flight begins on 
November 3, 2019 and is being operated on Boeing 737-700 aircraft with 143 seats.  The 
Airport District is putting together a marketing plan to support this new service to help 
ensure that it is successful from the first flight. 
 
ACI – Jumpstart Conference: 
 
Status – Met with eight airlines and had several very productive discussions. 
Air Service Development Budget – $5,000 
Completion Date – June 5, 2019  
 
ACI’s Jumpstart Conference is an air service development conference where airports have 
an opportunity to meet directly with various airlines to discuss current and proposed air 
service from GSP.  This year’s conference was held in Nashville, TN from June 2-5, 2019. 
 
To the Sky - Art at the Airport Book: 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 3 

  

Status – A contract has been executed with Crawford Strategies and the layout of the 
additional pages is currently underway. 
Project Budget – $4,400 (Does not including printing costs.  Printing will be quoted once 
the revised book is completed.) 
Estimated Completion Date – June 30, 2019 
 
The Airport District developed a book entitled “To the Sky” that highlighted all the 
commissioned artwork, at the time, located inside the terminal building.  Since it was first 
printed, several new pieces of artwork have been installed.  This update will incorporate 
all of the recent additions into the book. 
 
Art Program – Baggage Claim Mural: 
 
Status – Contract signed and fabrication underway 
Project Budget – $82,500  
Estimated Completion Date – August 31, 2019 
 
The Airport District is working with the artist on the completion of the remaining section 
of the mural.  It is located in baggage claim above the three baggage carousels and is 
entitled “Weaving the World.” 
 
CNN Airport Network – GSP Award Winning Concessions Program Segment: 
 
Status – Draft television segments received on June 5, 2019 and currently under review 
for comments 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Warner Media. 
Estimated Completion Date – June 30, 2019 
 
CNN Airport Network airs feature stories on different airports in addition to news, weather, 
travel destination information, and live sporting events. They filmed a segment at the 
airport on the award-winning concessions program.  This segment will highlight the airside 
garden, The Kitchen by Wolfgang Puck, Palmetto Distillery with their local moonshine, and 
other aspects of the concessions program.  This segment will air in all airports nationwide 
that have CNN Airport Network which currently totals 57. 
 
CNN Airport Network & Cartoon Network Streaming: 
 
Status – Project Completed. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Warner Media. 
Completion Date – May 31, 2019 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 4 

  

 
The Airport District partnered with Warner Media who currently provides the six CNN 
Airport Network live television locations at the gates on both Concourse A and B to 
provide the same content on personal devices via streaming over the airport’s Wi-Fi 
network.  In addition, Cartoon Network was added as a streaming option for our younger 
travelers.  GSP is the first airport in the country to offer these two live television 
streaming options to the traveling public. 
 
Mystery Shopping Program: 
 
Status – Contract signed and mystery shopping being scheduled 
Project Budget – $20,000 
Estimated Completion Date – June 30, 2019 
 
The Airport District is in the process of launching a mystery shopping program with a 
national company to “shop” various passenger experience services at the terminal 
building.  These include all food, beverage, and retail concessions, the customer service 
counter, as well as parking facilities and ground transportation services.  In addition, they 
will provide feedback on the TSA security screening process, restrooms, police 
department assistance, etc.  This will provide staff with baseline information as well as 
subsequent monthly third-party feedback to gauge improvement of identified areas.  This 
will assist the Airport District with ensuring that we’re the airport of choice for Upstate 
travelers. 
 
Passenger Intercept Survey Program: 
 
Status – Awaiting an agreement for review 
Project Budget – $15,000 
Estimated Completion Date – To be determined 
 
The Airport District is in the process of relaunching passenger intercept surveys at the 
terminal building.  This will provide staff with quarterly third-party feedback and assist 
the Airport District with identifying areas of improvement to the passenger experience to 
ensure that we’re the airport of choice for Upstate travelers. 
 
Passenger Comment Card: 
 
Status – Project Completed 
Project Budget – $2,500 
Completion Date – May 31, 2019 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 5 

  

 
The Airport District developed a comment card to receive and track feedback from our 
passengers.  The comment card can either be dropped in one of several collection boxes 
strategically located around the terminal building or mailed back to us at no charge to the 
passenger. 
 
Children’s Play Area Alcove Project: 
 
Status – The Airport District has partnered with Plus-Plus USA out of Greenville for the 
development of a children’s play area in the alcove in the Grand Hall.  Drafting of a five-
year agreement is complete and is under internal review prior to being sent to Plus-Plus 
USA. 
Project Budget – All costs should be covered by Plus-Plus USA 
Estimated Completion Date – December 31, 2019  
 
Through the terminal building renovation project, two alcoves were developed in the 
Grand Hall.  Based on past direction from the Airport Commission, one will be for a 
children’s play area and another will be for an airport history alcove.  The children’s play 
area alcove will be located on the Concourse A side of the Grand Hall. 
 
History Alcove Project – Phase #1: 
 
Status – A kick-off meeting was held on May 23, 2019.  Various schematic design concepts 
are due back from the consultant for review on June 14, 2019. 
Project Budget – Schematic design phase is $18,000 
Estimated Completion Date – August 31, 2019  
 
Through the terminal building renovation project, two alcoves were developed in the 
Grand Hall.  Based on past direction from the Airport Commission, one will be for a 
children’s play area and another will be for an airport history alcove.  The history alcove 
will be located on the Concourse B side of the Grand Hall. 
 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) – AT&T Network Fiber Extension 
Project: 
 
Status – Revised construction drawings were submitted for review by AT&T on June 4, 
2019. A utility access permit is being drafted by the Airport District for AT&T to review and 
sign to facilitate the project based on the revised drawings. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by AT&T. 
Estimated Completion Date – To be determined 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 6 

  

 
FAA needs additional bandwidth at the Air Traffic Control Tower (ATCT). This project will 
extend AT&T’s fiber network from the National Weather Service along GSP Drive, and 
then adjacent to the current employee parking lot up to the FAA ATCT leasehold. 
 
FedEx – AT&T Network Fiber Extension Project: 
 
Status – Awaiting revised construction drawings for review from AT&T based on Airport 
District comments.  
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by AT&T. 
Estimated Completion Date – To be determined 
 
FedEx was requesting to install a backup cellular system for their local data network to 
provide redundancy if their wired data connection is interrupted.  This project was 
cancelled and has been replaced by a fiber installation project that will extend fiber from 
SR 101 down Gateway Drive to the FedEx leasehold. 
 
T-Mobile Signal Strength & Data Transfer Speed Enhancement Project: 
 
Status – T-Mobile is rescheduling an onsite visit to take signal strength and data transfer 
speed measurements throughout the terminal building and both parking garages.   
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by T-Mobile. 
Estimated Completion Date – To be determined 
 
T-Mobile has received customer service complaints regarding their signal strength for 
their wireless customers while at the airport.  They are presently evaluating the current 
signal strength.  Subsequently they will evaluate options to determine the best corrective 
action to boost that signal strength and data transfer speeds around the airport campus. 
 
National Business Aviation Association (NBAA) Conference: 
 
Status – Staff has selected our booth location through the annual lottery and is now 
preparing to exhibit at the conference. 
Business Development Budget – $25,000 
Completion Date – October 25, 2019  
 
NBAA is a business development and exhibiting opportunity for the Airport District to 
showcase our GSP360 land development program as well as Cerulean Aviation.  This 
year’s conference is in Las Vegas, NV and runs from October 22-24, 2019. 
 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 7 

  

Vino Volo – Market Bar: 
 
Status – Construction documents have been completed and are under concurrent review 
by the Airport District and Spartanburg County. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Vino Volo. 
Estimated Completion Date – Summer 2019  
 
Vino Volo selected the airport as it’s first location for a new market bar concept.  The 
concept includes its traditional Vino Volo bar as well as the addition of a market with local 
items for sale.  There will also be a selection of grab and go food and beverage items 
available in the market too.  
 
The Kitchen by Wolfgang Puck – Concessions Revenue Enhancement Project: 
 
Status – Results of the program have been positive and continue to be evaluated on a 
monthly basis. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by OHM. 
Completion Date – June 30, 2019  
 
The Airport District partnered with OHM Concessions Group (OHM) and Wolfgang Puck to 
offer a special menu offering that includes a choice of salad as well as one of two entrees 
for $14.  This lower price point offers price conscious customers an opportunity to enjoy 
the restaurant while still receiving a magnificent meal. 
 
R.J. Rockers Brewery - GSP Branded Beer – Concessions Revenue 
Enhancement Project: 
 
Status – R.J. Rockers is working on printing bottle labels and finalizing marketing 
materials.  
Project Budget – All beer and marketing development costs are being covered by R.J. 
Rockers Brewery.  The Airport District will cover terminal building advertising and 
announcement of the new beer through our public relations channels.   
Estimated Completion Date – July 31, 2019  
 
Google Street & Terminal Mapping Project: 
 
Status – Google has already been onsite to map the interior public spaces of the terminal 
building as well as the local streets surrounding the airport.  Staff is awaiting Google to 
upload all the images to their server and make them available for public use.  Some images 



 

 
 

 

 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

 
 
Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission 
Information Section Item E 
May 2019 – Commercial Business and Marketing Report 
Page 8 

  

were uploaded that include the terminal building’s airside garden and several roadways 
around the airport campus in early March 2019. 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Google. 
Estimated Completion Date – To be determined 
 
Google has an interior mapping program for public facilities as well as a street view 
mapping program.  To assist users of the airport by providing a 360-degree view of public 
areas of the airport, Google has selected GSP for inclusion into both programs.  Once 
complete, you will be able to see views of the inside of the terminal building and the 
streets leading up to it when you utilize Google Maps. 
 
Tract B – Panattoni Development Company Project: 
 
Status – Currently under construction and approximately 80% complete 
Project Budget – All costs are being covered by Panattoni Development Company. 
Estimated Completion Date – July 1, 2019 
 
Presently, Panattoni Development Company is constructing a ±567,630 square foot office 
and warehouse facility on Tract B.  The leasehold site consists of ±-40.32 acres.  This 
facility will initially be subleased to BMW for the first 10 years of the initial 30-year lease 
term. 
 
Victor Avenue Extension – Roadway Abandonment Project: 
 
Status –The Airport District has completed a traffic study and it is presently under 
review by the City of Greer. 
Project Budget – $15,000 for a required roadway boundary survey and traffic study 
Estimated Completion Date – To be determined 
 
The Airport District is requesting the City of Greer abandon a section of Victor Avenue 
Extension between McElrath Road and J. Verne Smith Parkway.  This will facilitate a 
future economic development project on Tract B that will create new jobs in the 
community as well as provide an additional user of the South Carolina Inland Port. 



 
2000 GSP Drive, Suite 1 ● Greer, SC  29651 ● Phone: 864.877.7426 ● Fax: 864.848.6225 

www.gspairport.com 

_____________________________________________________________ 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Members of the Airport Commission 
 
FROM: Ashley Bruton, Director of Human Resources  
 
DATE: June 24, 2019 
_____________________________________________________________ 
 
ITEM DESCRIPTION – Information Section Item F 
 
May 2019 – OSHA Reportable Injury Report 
 
SUMMARY 
 
Monthly Activity as of May 31, 2019  
 

• 0 OSHA Reportable Injury 
 

2019 Calendar Year-to-Date  
 

• 5 OSHA Reportable Injuries 
 
2 Year Historical Annual OSHA Report Submissions: 

 
 
 

Calendar 
Year 

 
 

Annual 
Average # 
Employees 

 
Total Hours 
Worked by 

all 
Employees 

# OSHA 
Reportable 

Work-
Related 
Injuries 

# OSHA 
Reportable 

Work-
Related 

Illnesses 

 
 

# Days 
away 
from 
Work 

2018 195 379,203 12 0 112 

2017 188 241,716 4 0 12 

 


































































	Agenda 20190624
	Greenville-Spartanburg Airport Commission May 28 2019 Regular Meeting Minutes 20190624
	Presentation Item A - Annual Strategic Business Plan Update 20190624
	Presentation Item B - Proposed History Alcove in the Grand Hall 20190624
	NB Item A - Appointment of a Member to the Airport Environs Planning Commission 20190624
	NB Item B - Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District Rules and Regulations 20190624
	NB Item C - Approval of Revisions to and Readoption of the Greenville-Spartanburg Airport District Minimum Standards 20190624 
	NB Item D - Approval of Roadway and Utilities Project 20190624
	Info Section A - April 2019 - Traffic Report 20190624
	Info Section A - April 2019 - Traffic Report Stats 20190624
	GSP Monthly Traffic Report
	Airline Enp-Seat-LF - Report
	Enp by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Seats by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	LF by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Total Pax by Year by Month - Bar Chart
	Airline Market Share - Pie Chart
	Airline Completion - Report


	Info Section B - April 2019 - Financial Report 20190624
	Info Section B - April 2019 - Financial Report Statement Package

	Info Section C - May 2019 - Development/Project Status Report 20190624
	Info Section D - May 2019 - Communications Status Report 20190624
	Info Section E - May 2019 - Commercial Business and Marketing Report 20190624
	Info Section F - May 2019 - OSHA Reportable Injury Report 20190624
	Info Section G - Industry Presentation(s)/Article(s) of Interest 20190624
	USA Today readers name a GSP restaurant one of the best
	Spartanburg Downtown Memorial Enhances Facilities
	CNS takes aim at US airport cargo congestion
	Parking, Profitability, and Inatas
	America's Airports are Terminally Challenged
	Airline Coffers Grow
	Al Intersects with biometrics for smarter processing
	Charter Brokers Warn of Uncertainties
	Move Over Mardis Gras, New Orleans Int'l is Opening a New Terminal
	Street Plus What




